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GENERAL INFORMATION

— B #
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLHEE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 Change
FHExT FHT &
Revenue & 19,287,434 22,543,455 -14.4%
Gross profit =5 1,484,972 2,612,976 —43.2%
Profit for the year attributable to ~ ZRA T HEA A
owners of the Company FE(EREEEH 318,233 1,377,998 -76.9%
EBITDA BT & R S BT R B 2,354,462 3,340,140 -29.5%
EPS (HK cents) BB GBI
— Basic — EK 9.77 41.89 -76.7%
DPS (HK cents) FARAE (GBI
— Interim — R Hf 5 5 -
— Final — KHA 5 5 _
10 10 -

The final dividend of 5 HK cents per share (2021: 5 HK cents) has
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EEEREARBRESEREBIM(ZE_—%F:5
Al - BFERRREERRBFE RS LA -
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MR

Basic earnings per share, dividends per share and dividend payout ratio
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

Turnover by geographical segments

ZEME D B D 2 EERE
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Turnover by operating segments

BEEDEE D 2 EEE

2022

81%

Note 1: LCD products —
M1 REEREREER —

Note 2: Electronic consumer products —

19% Electronic consumer products (Note 2)
BT HRERME2)

LCD products (Note 1)
BEEERRSRERE 1)

249 Electronic consumer products (Note 2)
C m HEES (i 2)

'

2021

76%
LCD products (Note 1)
RRERRBERME 1)

manufacture and distribution of LCD products and touch panel products

HERDHERRRBRGER MBERER

manufacture and distribution of electronic consumer products such as compact camera module

("CCM"), fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products and electrical devices

M2 : EFHEER — BENDHE

BFRMH)

B M (PN AY AR AR ([TEL AR AR AR ) ~ FRBGRAIIRAE - AARERER K&
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEBRHEER

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=T-BHLEFE

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E-N\E ZE-hng E-F —E-—& C—EB-C-E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THBT THET TEx FHET TER
Revenue Wi 19,762,442 22,532,499 22,171,710 22,543,455 19,287,434
Gross profit EF 1,885,553 1,825,411 2,048,801 2,612,976 1,484,972
Finance costs BIISE R (353,679) (419,129) (380,025) (341,225) (354,558)
Profit before tax RERTEF 253,319 736,857 738,692 1,695,850 376,565
Income tax expense Fr{SBiM% (105,106) (128,693) (139,919) (165,196) (57,364)
Profit for the year REZHEF 148,213 608,164 598,773 1,430,654 319,201
Attributable to: AN AL ELS
Owners of the Company ERAIEEA 74,190 562,456 502,287 1,377,998 318,233
Non-controlling interests FEERR R 74,023 45,708 96,486 52,656 968
148,213 608,164 598,773 1,430,654 319,201
Earnings per share BREF
Basic AR
(HK cents per share) (R 2.36 17.10 15.27 41.89 9.77
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR

At 31 December

R+t=BA=+—-H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—E-N\& ZE-nF —ET-TF —T-—-F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000

FET T FEx F5x THET

Non-current assets FERBEE 14,154,947 13,978,778 15,390,078 18,653,459 17,226,793

Current assets MEEE 10,899,554 11,007,458 11,147,378 11,079,885 9,264,330

Total assets BEBE 25,054,501 24,986,236 26,537,456 29,733,344 26,491,123

Bank and other borrowings #7417 REffE 5 7,193,297 5,822,616 5,512,049 6,116,506 7,265,527

Bonds payable [EREH 850,265 373,731 400,596 371,996 =

Other liabilities HibBE 8,764,912 9,782,190 10,149,425 11,585,333 8,888,693

Total liabilities BERH 16,808,474 15,978,537 16,062,070 18,073,835 16,154,220

Net assets BESME 8,246,027 9,007,699 10,475,386 11,659,509 10,336,903
Equity attributable to owners XA )G AFE(EHER

of the Company 7,636,576 8,056,021 9,371,885 11,282,383 9,985,685

Non-controlling interests I = 609,451 951,678 1,103,501 377,126 351,218

Total equity FEar kel 8,246,027 9,007,699 1047538 11,659,509 10,336,903

T FFR o FERNEBERAE
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THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERREE

Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”) have been impacted by the global
economic and supply chain disruption caused by the COVID-19
pandemic in 2022, coupled with the maturing of the smartphone
market resulting in a lack of motivation among consumers to
upgrade their phones, the weak demand for panels, camera
modules, and fingerprint identification modules related to the
smartphone business, negatively affecting sales price and sales
volume. The Group's revenue of HK$19.29 billion in 2022 was
approximately 14.4% lower than that in 2021. The Group’s gross
profit margin decreased to 7.7%, representing a decrease of
approximately 3.9% when compared to 2021 as a result of the
negative impact of the smartphone business on the gross profit
margin. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
decreased by approximately 76.9% to HK$318 million in 2022
when compared to 2021.

Truly (Renshou) High-end Display Technology Limited* ({2 %l (=)
S B RE AR A A]) (“Truly RS”), an associate of the Group
located in Sichuan, is a fifth generation TFT-LCD production plant,
which has entered into mass production period in 2021 and
operated smoothly during the year, further enhancing the Group’s
competitiveness in the TFT-LCD panel market. Therefore, the
Group entered into an agreement to increase its equity interests in
Truly RS from 7.14% to 17.14% at the end of 2022.

The 4.5 Generation AMOLED Production Line Project of Truly
(Huizhou) Smart Display Limited* ({5 %] (M) SR T BR A F)
(“Truly Huizhou"), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
in which it indirectly holds a 76.5% equity interest, operated
smoothly, and continued to improve its financial condition during
the year, maintaining sound synergy for the Group's panel
production capacity and technology.

8 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022
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THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERHREE

In the future, both domestic and global economic policies are
promoting economic and supply chain recovery, which in turn will
have a positive impact on the supply and demand of the Group's
products. We will continue to invest in human resources and
technology research and development for vehicle-mounted and
various businesses, and maintain in-depth interaction with
customers and cooperative brands, which will be conducive to the
sustainable growth of our relevant product and business. The
management will continue to control costs and expenses to
enhance the competitiveness of our products. The management
remains confident of achieving performance improvement in 2023.

The management would like to express its appreciation to the
Group’'s bankers and staff for their continuing support and
outstanding contribution. Additionally, the management wishes to
extend its gratitude for customers, suppliers and other business
partners.

Lam Wai Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023

R - BIRAE 2 RSB BUR A HE BB It
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBE WS

The Group is one of the largest manufacturers of smartphone
component parts in the PRC and worldwide top-level automotive
display suppliers. The Group is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of liquid crystal display products including
touch panel products and electronic consumer products including
compact camera module, fingerprint identification modules,
personal health care products and electrical devices.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Revenue of 2022 recorded a decrease by 14.4% amounting to
approximately HK$19.29 billion (2021: HK$22.54 billion), which was
mainly attributable to (i) the decrease of smartphone related
products’ revenues caused by reduction of sales orders by our
major PRC smartphone customers and (ii) the global economic and
supply chain disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
decreased to approximately HK$318 million (2021: approximately
HK$1,378 million) by approximately 76.9%. Basic earnings per
share for the year decreased to 9.77 HK cents from 41.89 HK cents
in 2021. It was mainly due to (i) the decrease of gross profit margin
from 11.6% in 2021 to 7.7% in 2022; (ii) the decrease of revenue
for the year by approximately HK$3,256 million; and (iii) the
reduction of one-off net gain of approximately HK$241 million that
was recorded in 2021 from the acquisition of the major associate,
Truly Huizhou.

The gross profit margin for the year decreased to approximately
7.7% (2021: 11.6%) and net profit margin for the year attributable
to owners of the Company decreased to 1.6% (2021: 6.1%).
Decrease in gross profit margin was mainly due to the decrease of
both shipping volume and selling price of smartphone related
products.

The Group’s LCD business including touch products was about
81% of the Group revenue in 2022 (2021: 76%). Other businesses
of the Group including the sales of compact camera modules,
fingerprint identification products and printed circuit board were
19% of the Group's revenue in 2022 (2021: 24%). LCD business
would continue to be the core business of the Group in coming
few years.

The Group continues to put resources in the Group's research and

development by spending around HK$796 million in 2022 (2021:
HK$811 million).

10 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ETHE RIS

Recognitions

During the year, the Group received numerous recognitions from
customers and industrial associates, major recognitions were
shown as follows: Truly Opto-Electronics Limited* ({Z &3¢ S M {n
B PR 2 7l), a PRC subsidiary, was named to the list of “Top
Guangdong 500 Manufacturing Companies” by Guangdong
Manufacturers Association, ranking 40th in 2022. Truly
Semiconductors Limited* ({57 &8 H R A7), a PRC subsidiary,
was named to the list of “Top Guangdong 500 Manufacturing
Companies” by Guangdong Manufacturers Association, ranking
104th in 2022. Truly Huizhou was named to the list of “Top
Guangdong 500 Manufacturing Companies” by Guangdong
Manufacturers Association, ranking 237th in 2022.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes
of resource allocation and assessment of performance
focuses on the sales of different types of products. Inter-
segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates. Thus
the Group is currently organised into two operating
segments which are sales of LCD products and electronic
consumer products. The information for each operating
segment is as follows:

LCD — manufacture and distribution of LCD
products products and touch panel products

Electronic — manufacture and distribution of electronic
consumer consumer products such as compact
products camera module, fingerprint identification

modules, personal health care products
and electrical devices

”

RERN AEEESTRARFPRITERENS
THEEE - TELBEALMT - AEWER RS
REBRMBRARLEERETEERSI A=
T FEREFIEFEDZES005E | 400 o F
BB AREN LERBBERATLERRAHE
¥Wmeial —E - —FERAFIEEMRFEL0054 ]
F1040 - EREMNEREREFEERBEI A
TR CFEREGEFEPFEL003 5 2374

i

SEEH

AARRBRTES (AT BEERKE) MENUD
RERLFERBENEREPRTFERERD
HE - DHEMEEDNRBITHESH - At - &
SERAMSAMERLESE  AHEERFRBET
REMMETHEER SEESENERDT

REEETE — HERDHREREBERSRE
P ih an M BB AR 7 2 A
ETHEEMm — REAMKDHETHEEM

(DB AR B - HE A
BB - EARRERR
BFRMH)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THBEFWE S

Segment revenues and results TRERERESE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and ZAN&EEIREE R BREDBEI DU R EEDHT
results by operating and reportable segments: R

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_F-__#+-A=+—HLEE

Electronic
consumer
LCD products products  Segment total Eliminations  Consolidated
RRE E7
BrEER HEER PEHEE #8 ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TERT TEx TEx TEx
REVENUE Wi
External sales HhMH 15,693,468 3,593,966 19,287,434 - 19,287,434
Inter-segment sales PEREE - 437,453 437,453 (437,453) -
15,693,468 4,031,419 19,724,887 (437,453) 19,287,434
RESULT ES |
Segment result DERE 831,891 (78,788) 753,103 (12,828) 740,275
Finance costs B &R (354,558)
Impairment loss on goodwil HERESRE -
Share of results of associates MEBEDAEE 18,256
Unallocated expenses FOERY (28,985)
Unallocated other gains and losses RABHEMMERREE 1517
Profit before tax BATRF 376,565

12 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFWE S

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE—_Z2-—S+-A=+—RHIEE

Electronic
consumer
LCD products products  Segment total Eliminations Consolidated
R e
BTREM HEEM NEEE 8 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET FAT TEL TAT
REVENUE K&
External sales A 17,181,673 5,361,882 22,543,455 - 22,543,455
Inter-segment sales AEREE - 348,079 348,079 (348,079) -
17,181,573 5,709,961 22,891,534 (348,079) 22,543,455
RESULT £ |
Segment result PREE 1,478,947 153,497 1,632,444 (10,221) 1,622,223
Finance costs HEBER (341,255)
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREEE (82,135)
Remeasurement gain on previously held Jtaj#E —HE#Z 1 a)
interest in an associate Bz EMERS 323,248
Share of results of associates MEBEDREE 102,061
Unallocated expenses ANEEX (24,588)
Unallocated other gains and losses AoREMBERERE (3,704)
Profit before tax HATRH 1,595,850

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each
segment without allocation of central administration costs
including directors’ salaries, finance costs, share of results
of associates, loss on fair value changes of derivative
financial instruments, impairment loss under expected credit
loss model on other receivable and gain (loss) on fair value
changes of derivative financial instruments, change in fair
value of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss and
certain impairment loss under ECL model. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

DEEMERDETRITREERAS  BEES
e MBER DEBREQARERE  TTEER
TARFEEZYEE  HUERREHRER
BREATHEERITESRTARFEERSE
Pz (B8R  RNEENARAFEEINRZEZR
BEATEEEPLRBEHERBEIEATHNET
WMEBENS D BMRIUEN - lkARMEELE
RREBREADEERMFERENAETE -

T FFR o FERNEBERAE 13



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEBIRE S

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group's
revenue from external customers by location of customers
and (i) the Group's non-current assets by location of assets.

AEGER -

Revenue from
external customers

TREI () AREREFAELERD BRI
P et R (i) AR BIRE B E D B IERE

Non-current assets

SRR E WaR FERBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CF T —E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FaET FET
The PRC ey 13,528,016 16,382,896 17,056,286 18,466,961
South Korea [ 1,421,249 2,227,212 - -
Hong Kong (place of domicile) — Z&# (A£54h,) 1,272,129 768,987 24,049 44,711
Japan SN 421,023 416,560 - -
Europe B 1,024,276 996,602 6 -
Vietnam R 105,538 372,993 - -
North America =M 272,579 359,419 665 -
South America =M 278,880 240,904 - -
Taiwan = 217,099 215,083 - -
Others Hith 746,645 562,799 - -
19,287,434 22,543,455 17,081,006 18,511,672

Notes: I5E -

(i) Regarding revenue arising from sales to external customers in Europe and (i) MAREBMREMEIMNTIFEERHEEKETE -
others, no individual countries are material and hence separate disclosure EMNBRREEERNDE WU EZIBUKEE
is not required. # o

FMBDEETEREEREARATEBEINRZEME
ERERREE MERSE -

(ii) Non-current assets exclude financial assets at fair value through profit or (ii)
loss, deferred tax assets, rental deposits.

FEEFEH

No individual customer contributed over 10% of the total R-E-Z—FER-_Z - "FHEREFIZFFEHARE
revenue of the Group in both years of 2021 and 2022. EEKABRER10% °

Information about major customers

14 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ETHE RIS

Outlook

Looking ahead to 2023, economic and supply chain recovery is
expected to be driven by domestic and global economic policies.
With the gradual resumption of industrial activities and the
improvement in global supply chain conditions, the management
will keep abreast of the development of market demand and supply
chain changes of our different types of products. While
continuously expanding its presence in the field of vehicle-mounted
displays, the Company will keep an eye on emerging markets such
as new energy vehicles and technological upgrades in the industry.
We will maintain close communication with our customers and
provide them with high-quality products and solutions to achieve
business growth. Meanwhile, we will also continue to tighten our
control over costs and expenses. The management is confident
that the Group’s revenue and profit attributable to the owners of
the Company will grow in 2023.

Proposed Spin-off Update

The Company is considering a possible spin-off and separate listing
(the “Proposed Spinoff”) of Truly Industrial Limited* (/5% T2
B )% ABR AR, previously known as EFI ¥ ClIE)BR A F),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, on a stock
exchange in the PRC.

On 18 January 2023, Truly Industrial Limited submitted an
application to the Guangdong Regulatory Bureau of the China
Securities Regulatory Commission for the filing of an application for
pre-listing tutoring. For details, please refer to the Company's
related announcement dated 18 January 2023.

Further announcement will be made by the Company as and when
appropriate in compliance with the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Year") was approximately HK$19,287 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 14.4% or approximately HK$3,256
million year-on-year. The decline in revenue in the Year was mainly
attributable to (i) the decrease of smartphone related products’
revenues caused by reduction of sales orders by our major PRC
smartphone customers and (ii) the global economic and supply
chain disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic.
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Other Income

The Group's other income for the Year was approximately HK$234
million, representing an increase of approximately 24.8% or
approximately HK$47 million when compared with 2021. The
increase in other income was mainly because the government
subsidies of approximately HK$169 million received in the Year but
only approximately HK$113 million in 2021.

Other Gains and Losses

The Group's other gains and losses for the Year was approximately
HK$78,000 net other gains (2021: approximately HK$234 million
net other losses). The increase in net other gains in the Year was
mainly due to the reduction of net loss on disposal of obsolete
machineries to approximately HK$27 million during the Year from
approximately HK$256 million in 2021.

Reversal of Impairment Losses under Expected Credit
Loss Model, Net

The Group's reversal of impairment losses under expected credit
loss model, net was approximately HK$36 million (2021: net
impairment loss of approximately HK$49 million). The decrease in
impairment losses was mainly due to the recovery of certain credit-
impaired financial assets and the decrease of trade and other
receivables.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The Group's distribution and selling expenses for the Year has
been slightly increased by approximately 4.8% or approximately
HK$21 million to approximately HK$458 million when compared to
2021. The increase in distribution and selling expenses in the Year
was mainly due to the increase of freight rates during the Year.

Administrative Expenses

The Group's administrative expenses for the Year have been
increased by approximately 20.1% or approximately HK$98 million
to approximately HK$584 million when compared to 2021. The
increase in administrative expenses was mainly attributable to the
significant increase of redundancy payments in 2022.

16 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022

HlA

REERKAFEE 2 HEMBRAL B234 BB &
T —FEANH24.8% K047 BHE T o HAh
WA MEZHRANFERZEAHENA1.691E
B T —FANELN113EETT -

H a5 & 518

REEBRAFE 2 B REEAEMF WS
#178,0008 L (Z T —F : H FHEN2.34
BEL) AFEEMFRZEMFEEZHREE
REKENFBERA S —F4256EETH
VEREELH0.27EHETT -

BOoEAERARARXTNRERR  F8

AEBEEOFEHEABEARA T RERBBFED
036 EBT(ZT—F : RERBEFFEL0.49
BHEIL) - BEBERSETZRRKEETEER
BES FE E A KB IARTE I E A MR IB R > -

PHEREEEH
REBRAFEZDHEMHEERAR T - —F
AR ANAI4.8% 5K 47 0.21 BB T E #14.6818 78

T AFENHAHEEEMEMEERRAFE
HEEEEMATE -

THEH
AEERAFEZITRERAR T - —FIEMNY

20.1% 3 #4)0.98 (BB T E ) 5.84 BB T » 1T E
BENEEHN T FEMBRELN -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ETHE RIS

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs for the Year has been increased by
approximately 3.9% or approximately HK$13 million to
approximately HK$355 million when compared to 2021. The
increase in finance costs was mainly attributable to the increase in
bank and other borrowings in 2022.

Share of results of associates

Share of results of associates by the Group has been significantly
decreased by approximately HK$84 million when compared to
2021. The decrease in share of results of associates was mainly
because the major associate of the Group, Truly Huizhou, became
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group in early December 2021
and no share of profit was recorded from it during the Year.

Income Tax Expenses

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, three of
the Company’'s PRC subsidiaries were approved as Hi-Tech
Enterprise and entitled to 15% PRC enterprise income tax for three
years starting from 2020 or 2021. One of the Company’'s PRC
subsidiaries was eligible to enjoy the Western Region Preferential
Income Tax Policies and entitled to 15% PRC enterprise income
tax till 31 December 2030. Accordingly, PRC Enterprise Income Tax
is provided at 15% for the year ended 31 December 2022 for these
four major PRC subsidiaries.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Company

Profit for the Year attributable to owners of the Company
significantly decreased to approximately HK$318 million by
approximately 76.9% or approximately HK$1,060 million when
compared to 2021. It was mainly because (i) the decrease of gross
profit margin from 11.6% in 2021 to 7.7% in 2022; (ii) the decrease
of revenue for the Year by approximately HK$3,256 million; and (iii)
the reduction of one-off net gain of approximately HK$241 million
that was recorded in 2021 from the acquisition of the major
associate, Truly Huizhou.
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Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals,
Assets and Liabilities

Investment and acquisition of further equity interest in an associate, Truly
(Renshou) High-end Display Technology Limited* ({5 I (1= ) 5 in 8 &
BB A ) (“Truly Renshou”)

Truly Renshou has completed the building construction of the fifth
generation of TFTLCD factory in Renshou in 2018. The full
installation of the machineries was completed in 2020 and full-scale
trial operation commenced in late 2020 and entered mass
production in 2021.

Truly Renshou is accounted for as an associate of the Group during
the Year because the Group has significant influence over Truly
Renshou by virtue of the substantial voting right of 67.1% granted
to the Group in the first ten years since the incorporation of Truly
Renshou in 2017. Thus, the results, assets and liabilities of Truly
Renshou is incorporated in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements using equity method of accounting.

In December 2022, the Group acquired additional 10% equity
interest from another shareholder in Truly Renshou at a cash
consideration of RMB845,440,000, of which RMB300,000,000
(equivalent to HK$348,000,000) was settled in December 2022 and
the remaining consideration of RMB545,440,000 (equivalent to
HK$632,710,000) will be settled not later than 15 December 2023
and carry interest at 3.3% per annum. The effective interest of the
Group in Truly Renshou increased from 7.14% to 17.14%. There is
no change of the terms of the Articles of Association of Truly
Renshou including the voting rights of the shareholders and Truly
Renshou remains as an associate of the Group.

Update on Major Transaction Formation of the AMOLED JV Company

On 14 July 2017, Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited ({Z%%E
FAHBRAT]), a company incorporated in the PRC and an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
AMOLED JV agreement in relation to the formation of the
AMOLED JV Company in Renshou County, Meishan City, Sichuan
Province, the PRC as the project company for the AMOLED
Project. The total investment of the AMOLED JV Company will be
RMB27,900 million and production facilities for the sixth generation
of AMOLED will be established. The Group will contribute
RMB2,000 million for 13.3% equity interest. For detail of it, please
refer to the announcement of the Company, Major Transaction
Formation of the AMOLED JV Company, dated 14 July 2017.
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The Company is in discussion with other parties to the AMOLED
JV agreement regarding the shareholders agreement. There is no
long stop date stipulated in the AMOLED JV Agreement, and the
AMOLED JV Agreement remains valid as at the date hereof. For
detail of it, please refer to the announcement of the Company,
Update in Relation to A Major Transaction for the Formation of the
AMOLED JV Company, dated 20 December 2022.

Further announcements will be made by the Company as and
when appropriate in compliance with the Listing Rules.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's assets have been decreased by approximately
HK$3,242 million and liabilities have been decreased by
approximately HK$1,920 million during the Year.

As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding lease liabilities, bonds
payable and bank and other borrowings, net of restricted bank
deposits, cash and bank balances, were approximately HK$5,709
million (2021: approximately HK$5,136 million). It was increased by
approximately 11.2% or HK$573 million when compared to these
net borrowings as at 31 December 2021. These borrowing bear
interest at prevailing market rate and their maturity profiles are
shown in the financial statements. For non-current portion of these
borrowings were matured within 5 years.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$4,753 million (as at 31 December 2021, net
current liabilities of approximately HK$5,938 million) and its current
ratio increased to 0.66 times as at 31 December 2022 from 0.65
times as at 31 December 2021. The major reason for the decrease
in net current liabilities position as at 31 December 2022 was
because the Group has reduced current liabilities during the Year.
The management would continue to improve the Group's net
current liabilities position.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has restricted bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents approximately HK$1,704 million together
with adequate unutilized banking facilities. The Group's working
capital is mainly financed by internal cash flow generated from its
operation and banking facilities granted by financial institutions. The
gearing ratio based on total interest bearing debts, net of restricted
bank deposits, cash and bank balances was approximately 57 %,
which has increased from 46% at 31 December 2021.
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Pledge of Assets

As 31 December 2022, the Group's borrowings amounting to
HK$278,899,000 were secured by Truly Huizhou buildings with
carrying amount HK$536,959,000.

Employee and Remuneration

Around 14,000 workers and staff are currently employed in
factories of the Company in the PRC and around 60 personnel in
the Group’s Hong Kong office. Total staff costs for 2022 were
approximately HK$1,884 million. The employees are remunerated
with basic salary, bonus and other benefits in kind with reference
to industry practice and their individual performance.

Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure commitment of around HK$199 million in
respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment was
contracted for but not provided as at 31 December 2022.

Contingent Liabilities

We had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2022.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates will be considered to
hedge, if any.

OTHER INFORMATION
Dividends

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 5 HK
cents (2021: 5 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31
December 2022, to shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Members on 19 May 2023, Friday. It is expected that
the final dividend payments will be made to shareholders on 1 June
2023, Thursday, subject to the Company’s shareholders’ approval
at the Annual General Meeting of the Company on 12 May 2023.

The interim dividends in aggregate of 5 HK cents per share (2021:
5 HK cents) were paid in 2022 to shareholders on the register of
member of the Company at the close of business on 20 September

2022 based on 3,272,241,398 ordinary shares in issue.

The total dividend payout ratio for the year was about 102%.

20 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022

BEEIKWT

RZBE-_—F+_A=+—H A&EBZER
278,899,000/ st Ty A 12 A E M BR E E A
536,959,000 %8 jT Z EFEH I -

=&

REFHHE 14,0008 TAREESZERARRIMLA
BAZIH  ABRKO0ZEIRENKNERE
BER B THFETHKARLE18.84 88
T E2ETEBIREENEARE  RES
BWEARTE A REMEYET -

BERRE

R-ZT-_—F+=-A=+—H EBEWEDE-
BEREEZEFTOERBEERATHAENS
1.991887T ©

HREE

BN _E-_—F+-_F=+—HIEEAHA
BfE -
[ =&

CRENRER - RSB EAEITE P o

Hth&w#
RS

EEFZON _ZE_=FRAATABR(EHPR)A
JIRREMORFRBEBRE_T_—_F+ -4
=t HLEFENREBRESRBIN( =T~

F 581 - BHARHIBESR T -_=FA
—R(EHM) ABRN - EAFARBBRRY

“EC=FAAT-BBERAZARARREBER
G LHbE
RHREERKERLEIN(ZT_—F 581N E

Mo T = —F183,272,241,398 % B 21T E3m AR 2
NFR B —FAA-TBLERBLERES
PIANRIRERE A L2 RE -

FRAZBRELLELNE102% °



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ETHE RIS

Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2023
Annual General Meeting (“AGM"), the Register of Members will
be closed from 8 May 2023, Monday to 12 May 2023, Friday,
during the period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
accompanied by relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company's Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited,
at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 5 May 2023, Friday.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the
register of members of the Company will be closed on 19 May
2023, Friday during which day no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at the above address for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 18 May 2023.

Customers and suppliers

In the year under review, sales to the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 28% of the total sales of the Group
and purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 17% of the total purchases of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, our largest customer
accounted for approximately 9% of the total sales of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, our largest supplier
accounted for approximately 4% of the total purchases of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2022, none of the directors, their close
associates, or any shareholders which to the knowledge of the
directors owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest
customers and/or five largest suppliers mentioned in the preceding
paragraph.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group are set out as follows:

Mr. Lam Wai Wah, aged 70, is the Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company. He is the founder of the Group and has
over 40 years of experience in the electronics industry. He is
primarily responsible for the formulation of the Group's overall
strategic planning and business development.

Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, aged 64, is an Executive Director of
the Company and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group. He is
responsible for the Group's operations in respect of internal
controls and risk management, investors' relationship and external
affairs. He joined the Group in 1987. Mr. Wong has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of Vital Innovations Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 06133) listed in Hong Kong since 30
December 2020.

Mr. Dai Cheng Yun, age 49, is an Executive Director of the
Company, a vice president of the Group. He is responsible for the
Group's panel factory operating affairs. Mr. Dai is also a supervisor
of a subsidiary and a vice chairman of an associate of the Company.
He graduated from the Hunan University of Technology (formerly
known as Hunan University of Commerce) with a Bachelor of
Marketing Degree. Mr. Dai joined the Group in 2000 as a team
head of technicians and was promoted to a senior management
position during the period from 2006 to 2018.

Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung, age 52, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He holds a Master of Philosophy Degree and a Bachelor
of Engineering Degree from The University of Hong Kong, and a
Bachelor of Laws Degree from the University of London. He is
responsible for overseas sales and marketing affairs (excluding
handheld phone products) of the Group. Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung
has been serving the Group since year 2000 and in the senior
management position for more than 10 years. Before joining the
Group, he worked for the technical position from a multi-national
technology company.
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Mr. Song Bei Bei, age 46, is a non-executive director of the
Company, a senior vice president. Mr. Song has been
re-designated from an executive director to a non-executive
director with effect from 26 August 2022. He is responsible for
government relations and investment project. Mr. Song is also a
director of an associate of the Company. Mr. Song joined the
Group in 2001 as a design engineer in research and development
department and was promoted to project manager and senior
project manager during 2005 to 2013. During the period from 2014
to 2018, Mr. Song was further promoted to a senior management
position of the Group. He graduated from the North China Institute
of Technology with a Bachelor's Degree in Mechatronic
Engineering.

Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, aged 65, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Group’s Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. He is a practising
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, fellow
member of Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants
and a member of the Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants. Mr. Chung has extensive experience in accounting
and financial management and has been the independent Non-
executive Director, management consultant and Company
Secretary of a number of listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer, aged 64, is an Independent Non-
executive Director and members of the Group’s Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. He is the holder of a
Bachelor of Science degree from the University of Wisconsin,
Green Bay, U.S.A. Mr. Ip is an Accredited Mediator of the Hong
Kong International Arbitration Centre.

Mr. Heung Kai Sing, aged 74, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and members of the Group’s Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees. He has experience in textile industry.
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Mr. Lau Fan Yu , aged 55, is the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the company, Mr. Lau is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lau
received his bachelor’'s degree of commerce (major in finance)
from Concordia University, Canada in May 1991. He further
completed the master of business administration from City
University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Lau has over 26
years of experience in the field of accounting and corporate
financial management, including experience as the Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary in Hong Kong listed companies.

By order of the Board
Lam Wai Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023

* For identification purpose only
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The directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
liquid crystal display products including touch panel products and
electronic consumer products including compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products
and electrical devices.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 54.

Interim dividend in aggregate of HK5 cents per share, amounting to
approximately HK$163,612,000, was paid to the shareholders
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The directors recommend a payment of a final dividend of HK5
cents per share based on the number of ordinary shares in issue to
the shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the
Register of Members on 19 May 2023 (Friday), amounting to
approximately HK$158,055,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired plant and machinery amounting
to HK$442,449,000 and furniture, fixtures and equipment
amounting to HK$20,308,000 for the purpose of expanding its
manufacturing capacity in Shan Wei City, Guangdong Province and
Meishan City, Sichuan Province in the People’s Republic of China.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the issued share capital of
the Company are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY EAF)Z ] 7k E R
The Company's reserves available for distribution to shareholders RZZE-_—_F+_-_A=+—H KQXA@AHKT
as at 31 December 2022 were as follows: IR 2 BT
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Share premium f& % E 1,210,563 1,395,441
Special reserve BRI A 17,410 17,410
Retained profits REB =T 369,779 644,389
1,597,752 2,057,240

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is available for distributions or paying
dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its
Memorandum or Articles of Association and provided that
immediate following the distribution or paying dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

The special reserve of the Company represents the difference
between the net book values of the underlying assets of the
Company's subsidiaries acquired at the date on which the shares
of these companies were acquired by the Company, and the
nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisitions.
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Lam Wai Wah

Wong Pong Chun, James
Dai Cheng Yun

Cheung Wing Cheung

Non-executive director:

Song Bei Bei (re-designated from an executive director
to a non-executive director with effect from 26 August 2022)

Independent non-executive directors:

Chung Kam Kwong
Ip Cho Ting, Spencer
Heung Kai Sing

In accordance with Article 120 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Lam Wai Wah, Cheung Wing Cheung and Heung Kai
Sing retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The independent non-executive directors are subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the above articles.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Company or its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND EFEZRHREREGDER
UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2022, the interests of the directors and their WZ-ZZ__F+_A=+—H BELAQFBR
associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and &% N A& 1605 352 (& FTiR1E 2 B sC M Frac %
its associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained SiEIE FM AT EEETEEX HNIEESTEE
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and M@ KRB REBHAELSHER AT ZEER -
Futures Ordinance, or as otherwise notified to the Company and EZRHEBE ABE 2 AATREEEEE 2K
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model {5 iR EZRLOT ¢

Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies,

were as follows:

Long positions R
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company (a) ALATERMEEO2EBTZ2EER

Percentage of

Number of issued the issued share
ordinary shares capital of
Name of director Capacity held the Company
FrisE 817 EARARZEET
EEnE &1 ZRERHAE BAEBFDL
%
Lam Wai Wah Beneficial owner 1,441,852,000 45.61
MEE EmBAA
Held by spouse (note 1) 74,844,000 2.37
B EFEEE (1)
1,616,696,000 47.98
Wong Pong Chun, James Held by spouse (note 2) 1,650,000 0.05
|mHE micERFA (FiE2)
Song Bei Bei Beneficial owner 2,600,000 0.08
REE EmEa A
Dai Cheng Yun Beneficial owner 202,000 0.01
BKE BEmEAA
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(b) Registered capital of the associated corporation of (b) ZAATEEERZEMER

the Company

Truly Opto-Electronics Limited (“Truly Opto”) (Note 3) BRRXEBRBERAA(EFIXRED (FHEE3)

Percentage of

paid up registered

Registered capital capital of Truly

Name of director Capacity contributed (RMB) Opto

RHEMER HEFMXEZHE

EEHE 514 (ARH) EMERT DL

%

Lam Wai Wah Beneficial owner 1,043,460 0.2829

MEE EmEAA

Wong Pong Chun, James Beneficial owner 2,590,120 0.7024

mHE EmEa A

Cheung Wing Cheung Beneficial owner 324,020 0.0879

REREE BEmEAA

Notes: P3E

1. Lam Wai Wah is deemed to be interested in 74,844,000 ordinary 1. MEFERRFIES 74,844,000 Ik i K BB 42
shares of the Company, being the interests held beneficially by his RREE@SA AR SRk -
spouse, Chung King Yee, Cecilia.

2. Wong Pong Chun, James is deemed to be interested in 1,650,000 2. HBEWAR AHEAR 1,650,000 1 A EFRBERE
ordinary shares of the Company, being the interests held BESFEZARR L BARER -
beneficially by his spouse, Lai Ching Mui, Stella.

3. Truly Opto-Electronics Limited, a company registered in the 3. ERAERDBRAF (RPEARLMET
People's Republic of China, is an indirect non-wholly owned Mz RAR) ARARZEEIEEZENBAR -

subsidiary of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors nor their BR EXETEEN R_FE-_—_F+-_A=+—8"
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares and & & Bk BB A& G A Q 55k E AL 155
underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated JABEZ T H RIEERG 2 EAERSAR -
corporations as at 31 December 2022.

SHARE SCHEME B i &t &

During the year, the Company has not adopted any share option R » ARG BHERNTAIERETEISH EHR
scheme or other share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Bl 17 R TR EH MM 2] -
Rules.
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ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above under the heading “Directors’
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares”, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every
Director or other officer and the auditor or auditors of the Company
shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit
of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout
the financial year. The Company has taken out and maintained
appropriate insurance coverage in respect of potential legal actions
against its Directors.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance shows that other than the
interests disclosed above in respect of Lam Wai Wah, the
Company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or
short positions in the issued share capital of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2022.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has not yet adopted any share option scheme or

other share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules during
the year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASES, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Board considered that it is in the best interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole for the Company to implement
the Repurchase, and believed that the current financial resources
of the Company would enable it to conduct the Repurchase while
maintaining a solid financial position for the continuation of the
Company’s business in the current financial year.

The Company repurchased a total of 128,124,000 ordinary shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange for the year ended 31
December 2022 for an aggregate consideration of HK$187,441,000.
All the repurchased shares were subsequently cancelled during the
year by the Company.

Particulars of Share repurchases are as follows:

ZEmEE

ARABz HBERARNRAE RS A0 ERN
BEBEEZGX  REARRARLOIFRE
PR BRI -

ME  HEXRMELHES

EEeRR ARAEEBRTEARARBE
MEERREND  YR/ARE B AMNTHER
A5 L BE 51 IR 455 R 2 B 255 R 0 A R B I 4 [
BARRRIEBHNRBETER -

REZE= ?——$+ ﬂ T—BLFE AR
A B 22 BT B 81 AN A @] A R 128,124,000 A% 3 i
g - REBEE R 187,441 ooo%ﬁ o FTEIEE KRG,
HERNFANEHRARA LN -

BOBRFEIT -

Number of Price per share

ordinary BRER Aggregate

shares Highest Lowest price paid

repurchased B B 2f4aE

[=Y:- 1 HK$ HK$ HK$°000

Month of repurchase BE A &% ZEREE BT BT FHET

May 2022 —E--FHA 5,944,000 2.24 1.95 12,859

June 2022 —E-—FXA 5,276,000 2.54 2.20 12,873

July 2022 TE-F+A 5,768,000 1.90 1.84 10,771

August 2022 —E-—F)\HA 5,894,000 1.75 1.74 10,263

September 2022 :‘-j::ijlﬁ] 46,124,000 1.70 1.19 64,079

October 2022 —E-__F+A 9,122,000 1.30 1.26 11,638

November 2022 —E__F+—A8 49,996,000 1.40 1.1 64,958

Total &5t 128,124,000 187,441
Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its B EXFRIREE I - KA G REEMFE QR

subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company's listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2022.

BE-_E-_F+-_A=+—HIFEHEES .
g Ol g H & AR BE(] E T
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MODEL CODE

None of the Directors of the Company is aware of information that
would reasonably indicate that the Company was not in the year
under review in compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules"”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
accordance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code (the “"Code”) for the purposes of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group's financial reporting matters, risk
management and internal controls. The annual results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022 has been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, Mr. Ip
Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing, with Mr. Chung Kam
Kwong as chairman of the Audit Committee. They meet at least
four times a year.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Group has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

REMUNERATION AND NOMINATION
COMMITTEES

The Company has a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination
Committee respectively which were established in accordance
with the relevant requirements of the Code. The two Committees
are chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, an independent non-
executive director and comprise three other members, namely Mr.
Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing, being independent
non-executive directors and Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, an
executive director of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board considers that good corporate governance of the
Company is essential to safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders and enhancing the performance of the Group. The
Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of
corporate governance. We have complied with all the applicable
code provisions set out in the “Corporate Governance Code”
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2022, except for a major deviation as below:

o Code Provision C.2.1 The roles of the chairman and the chief
executive are not separated and are performed by the same
individual, Mr. Lam Wai Wah. The Board believes that this
structure will enable the Company to achieve higher
efficiency and effectiveness when formulating business
strategies and executing business plans. The Board will meet
regularly to consider major matters affecting the operations
of the Company. The Board considers that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the
Board and the Company’s management.

o Code Provision F.2.2 The Chairman did not attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 26 May 2022 in
Hong Kong because he has been stationed at the Shanwei
factory of the Group since February 2020.

. Code Provision C.1.6 Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr.
Heung Kai Sing, being the independent non-executive
directors of the Company, were unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 26 May 2022 due to
prior business commitment.

° Code Provision B.2.4(a) Code provision B.2.4(a) of the
Corporate Governance Code stipulates that where all the
independent non-executive directors have served more than
nine years on the board, the length of tenure of each existing
independent non-executive director should be disclosed on a
named basis in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the annual general
meeting. The independent non-executive directors of the
Company (“INEDs") have all been serving as INEDs for more
than nine years. The Company has disclosed the year of
appointment of Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer in the circular of the
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Company dated 22 April 2022, but the length of the tenure of
all the long serving INEDs on a named basis was omitted due
to the misinterpretation that code provision B.2.4(a) would
only start to be applicable to the circulars of the Company in
relation to annual general meetings held for receiving and
adopting the financial statements for the financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2022. Accordingly, the
Company issued a supplemental announcement to disclose
the length of tenure of all the INEDs on 26 April 2022.

The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision-making processes are regulated in
a proper and prudent manner. More details are contained in the
separate Corporate Governance Report on pages 35 to 45.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the Directors’
knowledge as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this report.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$1,200,000.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Wai Wah
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board

The Board was responsible for the Company’'s corporate
governance, and was ultimately accountable for the Company’s
activities, strategies and financial performance.

The Board was mainly responsible for formulating and approving
the business strategies, objectives, policies and plans of the
Company, and monitoring the execution of the Company's
strategies. It was also responsible for overseeing the operating and
financial performance of the Company and establishing appropriate
risk control policies and procedures in order to ensure that the
strategic objectives of the Company are materialized. In addition,
the Board was also responsible for improving the corporate
governance structure and enhancing communications with
shareholders.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities for the execution of
strategies and decision-making for day-to-day operation of the
Company to the management team headed by the Managing
Director, Mr. Lam Wai Wah.

The management reported regularly to the Board on the operating
and financial performance of the Company. Development,
expansion and other major capital expenditure and commitment, as
well as major financing decisions were all reviewed and approved
by the Board.

Connections between members of the Board

None of the members of the Board have any connections (including
financial, business, family relationship and other material/related
relationships) with each other during the period under review.

Director’s dealing in securities

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors had complied with their obligations
regarding dealings in securities under the Model Code set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules during the period under review.
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Non-executive directors

The non-executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term
but were subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association.

Independent non-executive Directors

The Company has received confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as regards his independence
to the Company and considered that each of the independent non-
executive Directors was independent to the Company during the
period under review.

Directors’ Training

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. All directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses. The Company has been
encouraging the directors to participate continuous professional
development courses and seminars organized by professional
institutions or professional firms and reading materials on relevant
topics so that they can continuously update and further improve
their relevant knowledge and skills.

In addition, the Company Secretary reports from time to time the
latest changes and development of the Listing Rules, corporate
governance practices and other regulatory regime to the Directors
with written materials.
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Board committees

The Board was supported by three Board Committees. Each Board
Committee has its own responsibilities, power and functions. The
chairman of the respective Board Committees reported to the
Board from time to time and made recommendations on matters
discussed when appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules.
The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference, which have been revised by the Board on 26 March
2012 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Remuneration
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Chung Kam
Kwong, an independent non-executive director and comprise three
other members, namely Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung
Kai Sing, being independent non-executive directors and Mr. Wong
Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’'s policy and
structure of the remuneration of the directors and senior
management and the specific remuneration packages of all
executive directors and senior management. Details of the
remuneration of each of the directors for the year are set out in
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Four meetings were held during the year by the Remuneration
Committee to review the remuneration packages and assess the
performance of executive directors and non-executive director and
the director’'s fees of the independent non-executive directors. All
members of the Remuneration Committee attended the said
meetings.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the nomination committee (the
Nomination Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference,
which have been revised by the Board on 26 March 2012 and 20
August 2014 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Nomination
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong,
an independent non-executive director and comprise three other
members, namely Mr. Ip Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai
Sing, being independent non-executive directors and Mr. Wong
Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and
to make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to any
proposed changes.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
its approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Four meetings were held during the year by the Nomination
Committee to review the nomination procedures and the current
composition of the Board. All members of the Nomination
Committee attended the said meetings.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have been
revised by the Board on 26 March 2012 and 18 November 2015
pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Audit Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
provide supervision over the Group’s financial reporting matters,
internal controls and the system of risk management.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, Mr. Ip
Cho Ting, Spencer and Mr. Heung Kai Sing, with Mr. Chung Kam

Kwong as chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year. All
members of the Audit Committee attended the said meetings.

38 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022

REEEg
ARREEBETRAKIREZES ([REE
Bg) RELZESGXEBBRBERE - ZhE
HECREEERN _E——_F=-A=+Ak=
T-HFENAZ+HREBECEEATANEE] &
FREREEZES RN BEERBEZEBE
g 12 865 () AT A AN R B R B R FT AR U A )

REZECMBUIFNTERERLEELET
B YRR =REMKERNRARBIIIFNTES
REFARERBRBELEARRTEETTER RS
/_:EO

REZBEZIZBE/THRNESTS 2B
ABRARK - Y ERENZRES cFERAE
FeRNES -

ARBCHMEETEREZTIEBE - EEED
HEF S RERLREK B ZITE MR -
NRREFEZENIE -

FR REZESETOREE  UBRHEFS
ZIRERFIBAAKE - 2RIERZEENEY
BlE bl -

EREEG
ARBEERETRAKIEXZES ([E%E
Bg|) BERZESXEBROERE  2B®
BECEEEERN T —F=-A=-+HEZ=
TE-AFt+— A+ N NERECEERTANEET -
ERHEERZZEG RN BHELABEZLE
SIBESE R NAR R MR ATR AR

ERZEEZIZRERTHNERAEENS
FHREE  AEEERRAREERL

ERZESR@HALE  BEFAENERH
AR - MERLEERERREZEELE -

i

FR BRZEERTOAEE - 2RBEFERZ
EXREHELF Lg% -

\



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELSWRSE

The Board Meetings, Board Committees Meetings and EEggl EESZESSERRELRE
General Meetings

The Directors’ attendances at the Board Meetings, the Board WEE T - ~F+-_A=+—HIFEE &E=E
Committees Meetings and General Meetings for the yearended 31 REF e €% EFeZEgezkRErer
December 2022 were as follows: HEERNT

Number of meetings attended

HESFXRE
General

Board Board Committees Meetings

g ExgZEg BRERE
Director Audit Remuneration Nomination
5= B Eq0) RrE
Executive directors:
HITES:
Lam Wai Wah 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 01
B ANiE A NiE A iE A
Wong Pong Chun, James 4/4 n/a 4/4 4/4 11
=& TEA
Dai Cheng Yun 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 01
BHKE NEA NiE A A
Cheung Wing Cheung 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 1/
SRR T EA TEA T EA
Non-executive director:
FHITES :
Song Bei Bei 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 0/1
RER NEA NiE A iE A
Independent non-executive directors:
BYFHTES:
Chung Kam Kwong 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 1/
R
Heung Kai Sing 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 0N
Ip Cho Ting, Spencer 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 0/1
EH=
Total number of meeting(s) held 4 4 4 4 1
BITEREH

Note: Mr. Song Bei Bei was re-designated from an executive director to a Mz : REBSEAB-_E-_—_F N A+ BEHEHTES

Non-executive director with effect from 26 August 2022. Among 4 board FEIEHTEE c AURESESSHP - REAUH
meetings, Mr. Song attended 3 board meetings and 1 board meeting in ﬁﬁ%&gkﬁﬁ-‘;ﬁ%%{‘“%l HE=ZXREECeEN
his capacity as an executive director and a non-executive director, —REEE

respectively.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees for audit and non-
audit services paid to the Company’s external auditors amounted
to HK$4,800,000 and HK$374,000 respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board oversees the overall risk management of the Group and
endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified risks and
facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Company are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
Throughout the year from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022,
the Board conducted reviews of the effectiveness of the internal
control system in all material respects including but not limited to
operational, financial, risk management and compliance controls.
The Group’s system of internal control comprised a well-defined
organizational and management structure with levels and limits of
authority which was established to help achieve business
objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized access or
disposal, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records to
produce reliable management and financial information for internal
use and for publication purpose, help management mitigate
potential risk factors and ensure compliance with relevant rules and
regulations. The system was designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and
to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational
systems so as to achieve the Group's objectives and long-term
goals.
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The process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
. Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group's
business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact and consequence on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations; ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used within the business or for publication; and to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.
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The process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board has engaged an external compliance consultancy and
Internal control services limited as its risk management and internal
control review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual review
of the risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Such review is conducted annually and
cycles reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser has
reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management. The Board and Audit Committee are
of the view that there are no material internal control defeats
noted. All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

The procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

The Board assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and
significant event that may impact the price of the Shares or their
trading volume and decides whether the relevant information is
considered inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon
as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the
Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA
of the SFO. Executive Directors and the legal advisor also may
have responsibility for approving certain announcements and/or
circulars to be issued by the Company under powers delegated by
the Board from time to time.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements for the year 2022. The Management also provides all
directors with monthly updates giving them a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08
and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of Company Secretary is held by Mr. Lau Fan Yu, the
CFO of the Group. The Company Secretary reported to the Board
chairman from time to time. All directors have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary to ensure that board
procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

Since Mr. Lau was appointed in 2020, he has to take no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training for the financing year
commencing on or after 1 January 2021 and he has fulfilled the
requirement during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder
meetings, including the election of individual directors. All
resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each shareholder meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

(1) Communication with Shareholders and Procedures
for putting forward proposals at general meetings

All published information, including financial statements,
results announcements, circulars and notices of general
meetings and associated explanatory documents
are promptly posted on the Group's website at
www.truly.com.hk. Viewers can also send enquiries and
proposals putting forward for shareholders’ consideration at
shareholder meetings to the Board or senior management by
email at enquiry@truly.com.hk or directly by raising questions
at the general meeting of the Company.
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(2) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM") of the
Company. Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less than
one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at the general meeting of the
Company may send a written request to the Board of the
Company to request for a EGM. The written requisition, duly
signed by the shareholders concerned, must state the
purposes of the meeting and must be deposited at the
Company’s principle place of business in Hong Kong.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution at general
meetings may follow the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.

(3) Constitutional Documents

At the 2022 AGM, a special resolution was passed to adopt
the amendment to the existing Memorandum and Articles
and to adopt the amended and restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association. The Amended Memorandum and
Articles is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect
from 28 March 2019, the Board may consider declaring and paying
dividends to the Shareholders out of the Company’s distributable
reserves. Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain
to be determined at the sole discretion of the Board, subject to the
requirements of all applicable laws and the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.

Under the dividend policy, in deciding whether to propose or
declare a dividend and in determining the dividend amount and
means of payment, the Board shall take into account, among
others:

(i) the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;
(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(i) the capital and debt level of the Group;

(iv) retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company
and major subsidiaries of the Group; and

(v) the working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future development plans of the Group.
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The Board shall endeavor to strike a balance between providing
immediate return to the shareholders through the payment of
dividends whilst retaining adequate reserves as the Group's
working capital and for the Group’s future growth. There can be no
assurance that dividends will be proposed, declared or paid by the
Company in any particular amount at any time or from time to time.

The Board will from time to time review the dividend policy and
may exercise at its absolute and sole discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board deems
fit and necessary. Details of the Company’s dividend policy are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2019.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises the importance of diversity to corporate
governance and the board effectiveness.

The purpose of this policy is to set out the basic principles to be
followed to ensure that the board of directors (the “Board”) has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board
and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

Board nomination and appointments will continue to be made on
merit basis based on its business needs from time to time while
taking into account diversity.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, race, language,
cultural background, educational background, industry experience
and professional experience.

As at 31 December 2022, 57% and 43% (2021: 58% and 42%) of
the Group's employees were male and female respectively. The
Group recognises the value of gender diversity to promote a
diverse and inclusive working environment and welcomes
increased female representation at all levels. However, the Group
currently does not consider it appropriate to set any specific gender
target for its workforce.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Truly
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 54 to
192, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAZBENREE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

BARETEE

REEEHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RIT2 BT NARERARETSE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

AR Z Bl EEF 1

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising from acquisition of Truly (Hui Zhou) Smart Display
Limited (“Truly HZ") in 2021 as a key audit matter due to
the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with the
significant degree of estimations made by the
management of the Group associated with the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated.

AT - —FWBENEMN DB RBERAR (15
MBEMNDEE 2 BB RENEABRETEE - BN
EHRESEEVBREACEBEWNEE Nt E5EER
B B ReEFEMATRESRRIELEEARE
(e

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill arising from Truly HZ included:

AT B ENEMNEENFEMERENEETZETFES
7=

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent valuer;

o  FHMEBUMERZER - BEHREEIL

o Discussing with the management and the
independent valuer to understand the key
estimations made by the management in the
impairment assessment of goodwill including the
estimate of forecast revenue, gross margins, growth
rates and discount rates adopted;

s HEBEREBVGEMARABREEEENEERE
AR E EAGH (B TR - EF X
BRERARAMEE)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

BARETEE

REEEHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Iz ETNMAREFERETSR

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management assessed the impairment
of goodwill by estimation of recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
which is the higher of the value-in-use and fair value less
costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating unit based on five-year
financial budgets approved by the management of the
Group and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Key estimates involved in the
preparation of cash flow projections for the period
covered by the approved financial budgets include the
estimate of forecast revenue, gross margins, growth
rates and discount rates adopted. The management also
engaged an independent valuer to determine the
discount rate. As disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of goodwill arising from
acquisition of Truly HZ as at 31 December 2022 was
HK$587,424,000, representing 2.2% of total assets of
the Group. Based on the impairment assessment of the
goodwill, no impairment loss was recognised in the profit
or loss during the year ended 31 December 2022.
BRI ERMGT AT HRE  EREBBETEES
IEmEnReEEEUNAINEDeBE(RERAEBERERT
BERLEXNANERE)TAEERE - CREEE
Zk ERERE SSREEEEHAENTFUBREMR
AReELBUEREENARRRSRERGBENERX
N EIRE - REZEMBEERERAR S REEAAR
B R 2 BREMEETTEAWE  BAE  BRERA
AR X - EIREINRIEB (MERETRIRE - W
FEMBHREARE R _F+A=+—HWE
fEFIBINE £ 28R EE /587,424,000 7T+ HE
R BEEELEEMN22% - BIEFNBEZRENS  BE
TR ZF+Z A= HIEFE  WEREBRAERD
IEEE -
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Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs and
assumptions used by the management in the
estimation of recoverable amount, including revenue
projection and growth rate applied;

AT EEJEEME#TH&@%%EMF&%%I%ﬁm]\%ﬁﬁ
MRFR (BRRETEEARABRRE)EEAE

Evaluating the appropriateness of discount rate
applied in the forecast by comparing them to
economic and industry data and certain company
specific parameters, with the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists, as well as evaluating
the reasonableness of parameters applied by the
independent valuer; and

EABEEZRNHE T - BERKTERER 2 AR E
BAERITHEBBIE T ARIREL8EH L - SHhE
RREE  WHEBB L GEMAAZ2ENEEE &

Evaluating the reasonableness of the financial
budgets approved by the management and the cash
flow projections by comparing the actual results of
those cash-generating unit to the previously
forecasted results used.
FBEEZEFRELEM 2 BREEEMA AR
HERIEE - STHEEEHACHBRERRERETE
AIE) & M o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAZBENREE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

RARETEE

REEEHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

Iz ETNMAREFERETSR

Assessment of the appropriateness of the going

concern basis

AR E B EZEM

We identified the assessment of the appropriateness of
the going concern basis as a key audit matter as it
involves subjective management judgements and
estimates based on management’s assessment of the
Group's operations in the future, availability of future
financing and market conditions.

MR EFECEEEZBEYE SR EREENAEY &
SENAREE FPHRZARKRBERTRAMEL 2 E
BAEMGE - AT R EEEEE BRI R
BABRESTRIE -

As set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, although the Group has generated a net
profit of approximately HK$319 million and positive
operating cash flows of approximately HK$4,893 million
during the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$4,753 million as at 31 December 2022.
BEFE M BHRERMAINE - 8 ESEREE-T
T F+ A=+ —BLEFEEEATO39EET R
FHEZHSREI8WRBEELT EEER_ZT_=

TZA=T—BIZRBEENBELE RS EEL47.531E

BT

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of the
appropriateness of the going concern basis of the Group
included:

T8 EEENERFECEEEZEYEMETZIRF
B

o Obtaining an understanding of management’s
liquidity assessment including the preparation of
cashflow forecast by management;

. THREEEURDESET NG BIEETREERE
ZHEERETEN

o Comparing the cash flow forecast against the budget
approved by the board of directors of the Company
and checking the accuracy of the calculation of the
cash flow forecast;

J BIReREEANE BARESSMAETEEETL
8 WEReRETEA 2 ERIME

° Challenging the key assumptions in management's
cash flow forecast prepared by management for the
next twelve months against historical performance,
economic and industry indicators, and other publicly
available information;

o  REBBERTE  KBERTERESEUREMARAISE
B HEEERARART_EARSRE|AZEE
BRRIBLES
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters How

BARETEE

REEEHER(E)

our audit addressed the key audit matters

Iz ETNMAREFERETSR

The management of the Group believes that the Group e

will continue to generate positive operating cash flows in
the coming twelve months. Taking into account the
Group's cash balance of approximately HK$859 million
and unutilised bank facilities which amounted to
approximately HK$3,551 million as at 31 December 2022,
the management of the Group concluded that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

ERMEREAR  ERENRA - EABREEE
FREERSRE - E5R ERER-T-—F+-A

=Tt —HAZREERKBLIEET R ABARITHELD
35.51EEL: EXEERERR  BHBELELERR
RAMBRRBE) 8 -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. WWe have nothing to
report in this regard.
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Checking the details of loan repayments in the cash
flow forecast to supporting documents, such as
borrowing agreements and repayment schedules;
REReREBRAZHIXGRNERABEERZF
& - e iBE R ERRERX

sem £

FERN

Agreeing the amount of unutilised bank facilities to
borrowing agreements and bank confirmations; and
SARBRIRTTRLE B BB R s IR T TRE SR B —
B R

Assessing the appropriateness of the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAZBENREE

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

EERERERREOMBEBRARECR
155

BERREFARERBEETEGHMASRMLE
B S R R B BCR FHED )2 3 56 5 1 #
BEEMPBEZHEAMBRE  XHERB /AL
RERBRERIBET FERRREFERTME
B ERHERBLPTT 2 NEEN AR

EREBRAMBHRERE  EFAHMNE E5E
SELE 28 YHEERBR THRERSEL
BEMIER URERFERLLESERTER
BRIEEZAERS EXEFRAFLLLE X5
BHEMERZBERTER -

FENNCY = BE AR
ECREABREEE

BREZMHRRERE

BB ENSSMERRARIBZIRE

AT BR REREBEAEZZBGEREGEMB
BABRES T FEARNUGFERMER 2 E
RERRAREAERE  THABRATER
ZRBMBEE - AMTZHREER B TEL
M EEAMAE - KT TERARE 2 RTHME
MEMALEESE LEAEE - e BRERS
IKFZRFE - BETARERERBEBETERET
ZER AR -BEXRBERBLFEREREHHA -
SRERPR AL AT LA R ARGF kB AR B - IR B IETAH
FEHERRAE R ERERAEFEZFEA
MBREREREREZSFRAMBREMELZ
ROBERTE - RIBRE 2 88 SRR AT AR EEE K

T FFR o FERNEBERAE 51



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAZBENREE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor's report is Lam Chi Hong.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
24 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AeRRREMEEERR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ_—ZT__H+_A=+—ALLFE

2022 AOVA
—EF:—= —E-—4F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
=2 F#ET T
Revenue Wz 5 19,287,434 22,543,455
Cost of sales SHE R AR (17,802,462)  (19,930,479)
Gross profit EAR 1,484,972 2,612,976
Other income H A 7 234,084 187,540
Other gains and losses Hibigzm 8 78 (233,690)
Reversal of (impairment losses) under  FEEA{E RIBLER T OBEER)
expected credit loss model, net BB 11 35,740 (49,439)
Distribution and selling expenses DENIEEER (458,221) (437,316)
Finance costs M ER 9 (354,558) (341,255)
Impairment loss on goodwill EERAEEE 19 - (82,135)
Remeasurement gain on previously SRR E R A AR EN
held interest in an associate el 35 - 323,248
Administrative expenses 1THER (583,786) (486,140)
Share of results of associates DREEE N R EE 18,256 102,061
Profit before tax AR 376,565 1,595,850
Income tax expense Frig®ifx 10 (57,364) (165,196)
Profit for the year REE @A 1 319,201 1,430,654
Other comprehensive (expenses) AEEHMEE(FAX) RE
income for the year
Items that may be reclassified AJRER B EFT D E 1B i)
subsequently to profit or loss: IHA -
Exchange differences arising on B GINETSFTEE £ 2 INE
translation of foreign operations =% (1,126,293) 368,011
Share of other comprehensive DAEE A B E M R
income of associates - 937
Other comprehensive (expenses) AFEEEME2E(FAX) WS
income for the year (1,126,293) 368,948
Total comprehensive (expenses) AFE2E(FAY) WE4R58
income for the year (807,092) 1,799,602
Profit for the year attributable to: REEBFIEN
Owners of the Company RARIEAR A 318,233 1,377,998
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R 968 52,656
319,201 1,430,654
Total comprehensive (expenses) AEE2HE (X)) WREEEMN :
income for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company RAEHER A (781,184) 1,737,751
Non-controlling interests FEIERR (25,908) 61,851
(807,092) 1,799,602
Earnings per share BR&AF 15
Basic (HK cents per share) AR (FRE) 9.77 41.89
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ReMEKRAR

AT 31 DECEMBER2022 « R=—Z__—_HF+_HA=+—H

2022 AOVA
—==-= —E-—4F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
=2 FHET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FIRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - WENKRE 16 14,023,037 16,217,398
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 915,060 1,063,958
Goodwill Sl 18 587,837 587,837
Interest in an associate REE QA RIMER 20 1,537,854 614,152
Financial assets at fair value through REBHUATFEBEYEZSMEE
profit or loss 21 3,689 4,533
Deferred tax assets RERIREE 33 62,176 56,543
Deposits paid for acquisition of RKEBDE - BE R BREL
property, plant and equipment HES 17,218 28,327
Rental deposits HEZS 23 79,922 80,711
17,226,793 18,653,459
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 22 3,164,254 4,231,207
Derivative financial instruments TEEmIA 25 1,894 -
Trade and other receivables JE U BR 18 I EL b FE W k1B 23 3,357,797 4,634,259
Trade and bills receivables at fair value  FAH {th 2 E U 25 LA A (B E 5 B8R
through other comprehensive income > JEURBRIE [ e = i 24 990,645 534,847
Amount due from an associate FE U S & R B ROE 26 15,154 -
Tax recoverable AT BRI 30,933 26,657
Restricted bank deposits IR HISRTTTT 3K 27 844,894 444,847
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEBEEE 27 858,759 1,208,068
9,264,330 11,079,885
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables FEATBRTE X B FE S 3R IE 28 7,529,208 9,607,792
Contract liabilities AHEaE 29 375,110 614,975
Tax payable & B 18 101,184 137,469
Bank and other borrowings IRITREMER 30 5,387,879 5,461,419
Bonds payable B ESH 32 = 371,996
Amount due to an associate FEYNI=UNSIESEE] 26 528,618 679,515
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 94,507 143,652
Derivative financial instruments eI A 25 1,030 584
14,017,536 17,017,402
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REEEFE (4,753,206) (5,937,517)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERRBEE
LIABILITIES 12,473,587 12,715,942

—=— —

=

FFEH o FANERARIA 55



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
meMEkAR

AT 31 DECEMBER 2022 « R—ZE__F+_HA=+—H

2022 AOVA
—==-= —E-—4F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
=2 F#ET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERE
Bank and other borrowings HRITREAMER 30 1,877,648 655,087
Other payables Hfh e BUIR 28 50,061 95,380
Lease liabilities HEAaR 31 52,772 156,509
Deferred tax liabilities EEREAE 33 156,203 149,457
2,136,684 1,056,433
NET ASSETS EEFE 10,336,903 11,659,509
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital & A 34 63,222 65,785
Share premium and other reserves A& 15 % (B M Bt 9,922,463 11,216,598
Equity attributable to owners RATEE AELER
of the Company 9,985,685 11,282,383
Non-controlling interests TR 351,218 377,126
TOTAL EQUITY DA 10,336,903 11,659,509

The consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 192 were HREAZ 1N B HEEUBREER -_ZT—=
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 = A -+ BEEE S E R - W H

March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: ATALTREEE
Lam Wai Wah Wong Pong Chun, James
MEE =%
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
E2 E3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ReHEREDR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ—_ZT__H+_A=+—HAILFE

Share

capital

Bx

HK$'000

ThT

Share
premium

Bfi&E

Special
reserve

Rl
HK$000

Capital
redemption
reserve

EAREGE

Exchange
reserve

AERR
HK$'000

Other
reserves

AfbGfe
HK$'000

Retained
profits

REEA
HK$'000

Total equity
attributable to
owners of
the Company
FRAFEA
BEREEE
HKS'000
T

Non-
controlling
interests

$aRE
HK$'000
7

At 1 January 2021 RZE--5-5-R 65,785 1,395,441 990 867 628,517 1,849,131 5,431,154 9,371,885 1,103,501 10,475,386
Profitfor the year REEET - - - - - - 137798 1377998 5656 1430654
Other comprehensive income TEREMZERA

for the year

—Exchange differences arisngon ~ — BB EBEEE Y

translation of foreign operations NEZE - - - - 358,816 - - 358,816 9,195 368,011

— Share of other comprehensive —HEBERAENEE

income of associates WA - - - - 937 - - 937 - 937
Total comprehensive income REE2AMNEE

for the year - - - - 359,753 - 1,377,998 1,731,751 61,851 1,799,602
Acquisition of addiional interesting W -EHBAREMES

subsidiary (note 45(a)) (B &£ 45(a)) - - - - 5912 (203,100) 534,396 337,208 (1,089,333) (752,125)
Acquisition of subsidiary (note 35) WEHBA (H335) - - - - - - - - 301,107 301,107
Dividend declared (note 14) BERRE (1) - - - - - - (164,461) (164,461) - (164,461)
Transfer 2 - - - - - 46,445 (46,445) - - -
At 31 December 2021 S

+-A=z1+-A 65,785 1,395,441 990 867 994,182 1,692,476 7,132,642 11,282,383 377,126 11,659,509
Profitfor the year REEER - - - - - - 318,233 318,233 968 319,201
Other comprehensive expenses FEEAMRER
for the year
—Exchange differences arisngon ~ — BB EBEEE
translation of foreign operations NEEE - - - - (1,099,417) - - (1,099,417) (26,876)  (1,126,293)
Total comprehensive (expenses) FEERE (L) K&

income forthe year gz - - = - (1088417) S e (e (908 (807,092)
Repurchase and cancellation of share B8 f3t 4R (3 (K1 34)

(note 34) (2,563) (184,878) - o o = - (187,441) o (187,441)
Dividend declared (note 14) BERMRE (1) - - - - - - (328,073) (328,073) - (328,073)
Transfer 2 - - - - - 12,976 (12,976) - - -
At 31 December 2022 S

+-B=t-H 63,222 1,210,563 990 867 (105,235) 1,705,452 7,109,826 9,985,685 351,218 10,336,903
T FFR o FAEBRERAR 57
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The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisitions in prior year.

Other reserves comprise:

(i) the statutory surplus reserve and the enterprise expansion reserve
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC") other than Hong Kong. According to the Articles of
Association of the PRC subsidiaries, a percentage of net profit as
reported in the PRC statutory accounts should be transferred to
the statutory surplus reserve and the enterprise expansion reserve
determined at the discretion of the board of directors of these
companies. The statutory surplus reserve can be set off against
accumulated losses whilst the enterprise expansion reserve can be
used for expansion of production facilities or an increase in
registered capital; and

(ii) the amounts arising from the acquisition of additional equity
interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries or deemed disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries
without losing control. It represents the difference between the
consideration paid or received and the adjustment to the non-
controlling interests in subsidiaries.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ReLaRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ—_ZT__H+_A=+—HAILFE

2022 2021
—=E—— —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEE
Profit before tax T A& A 376,565 1,595,850
Adjustments for: FEE -
Interest income FEHA (20,637) (14,074)
Interest income from an associate B N A2 AL B U A - (33,620)
(Reversal of) impairment losses under JEWBRIETE B E BIE AR TRE
expected credit loss model on trade &5 18 (M) FEE
receivable, net (35,740) 49,439
Allowance (reversal of allowance) for FEEE (BREHE) T8
inventories, net 32,448 (3,752)
Depreciation of property, plant W WBERRETE
and equipment 1,551,313 1,334,368
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 72,026 68,667
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HE M - HE MRE B
plant and equipment 27,335 255,622
Impairment loss on goodwill R REEE - 82,135
Loss from changes in fair value of financial ~ RERAQAFBEIEZ SREE
assets at fair value through profit or loss N EEEZHEE 844 2,814
(Gain) loss on fair value changes of ESMTARNFEERS (WKE)
derivative financial instruments, net BB F 5 (1,577) 890
Government grants EgiapEat (169,064) (113,427)
Remeasurement gain on previously held SRR E AR ERENENTE
interest in an associate Wz - (323,248)
Share of results of associates DL E N TS (18,256) (102,061)
Finance costs &R 354,558 341,255
Operating cash flows before movements in = Rt &2 EE S E BRI VKSR ERE
working capital 2,169,815 3,140,758
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERD (3E) 699,834 (233,775)
Decrease (increase) in trade and FEUS AR TE I B FE MR IE R (B n)
other receivables 1,064,015 (620,436)
(Increase) decrease in trade and bills R E A 2 E U RS AR FEBESER 2 EU
receivables at fair value through BRIE M R UL = (3200 Rk
other comprehensive income (565,833) 706,485
Increase in trade and other payables FE{STBR I8 N E b {5 FRIAE 0 1,808,544 2,990,987
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities SRBECRD)EM (198,474) 135,800
Decrease in amount due to an associate JE B 2 R IR D (150,897) (4,454)
Increase in amount due from an associate JE WK B 2 N R RIS AN (15,154) -
Government grants received for B TR AR 25 E)
operating activities 163,538 110,657
Receipt (payment) arising from net NESBRIALE FEEENKA
settlement of derivative financial GES
instruments 129 (161)
Cash generated from operations B TEEN TR 2 R & 4,975,517 6,225,861
Hong Kong profits tax paid BB AENER (4,915) (10,063)
PRC withholding tax paid B EBENN (5,936) -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB EEMSH (70,490) (85,166)
Tax paid for other jurisdictions HfhrhAER 2 AT (1,130) (1,336)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (&&;5E8) /85 4 %8 4,893,046 6,129,296

T FFR o FERNEBERAE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RelaRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ_—ZT__H+_A=+—ALLFE

NOTES
=

2022
—E-=

HK$’000

TET

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
T

INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETH
Purchase of property, BEWE  BELERE

plant and equipment (872,306) (527,215)
Repayment of deferred consideration  {E3Z Ut ER B A 7 A ELE KB

on acquisition of a subsidiary 35 (464,000) -
Placement of restricted bank deposits  TFX R FISE1TFEK (439,681) (269,042)
Acquisition of an additional interestin Ui — I B A BIHVEEIMEZS

an associate (348,000) -
Deposits paid for acquisition of PURBWE - BB MEHEI

property, plant and equipment HisA (17,218) (6,291)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of a WHEM B ARIMIRE R 758

subsidiary 35 - (38,604)
Refund (payment) for rental deposits BHERSER (N 789 (7,724)
Proceeds from disposals of property,  H&EWE - ME MR EHATERIE

plant and equipment 3,573 2,369
Interest received EHFIE 20,637 47,694
Release of restricted bank deposits RS PREIERITIER 39,634 211,733
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETEFMARESTE

ACTIVITIES (2,076,572) (587,080)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Repayment of bank and other BIEIRTT R EMER

borrowings (8,678,655) (10,763,813)
Repayments of bonds payable BEEMMES (348,000) (45,339)
Interest paid for bank and other BLERTIT R EAM BRI AHFE

borrowings (323,203) (298,956)
Dividend paid B S (328,073) (164,461)
Payment on repurchase and EEAEPVEEE T BN

cancellation of shares (187,441) -
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE (136,814) (135,687)
Interest paid for bonds payable ERENESTE (18,096) (20,319)
Interest paid for lease liabilities ERNEERENE (15,938) (25,956)
Acquisition of additional interest in a U B — P B /B A R BB SME 25

subsidiary - (752,125)
New bank and other borrowings raised 7354817 & E g2k 6,891,571 6,799,424
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMETEFMARESFE

ACTIVITIES (3,144,649) (5,407,232)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH B& R B & ZEER (H)

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 352 107 48 (328,175) 134,984
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT F{lzBe¢RkBEE£%EER

BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,208,068 1,034,982
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EREE %

RATE CHANGES (21,134) 38,102
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT & zREe¢RREEEHER -

END OF THE YEAR, represented by IER{ITE&ERRE

bank balances and cash 858,759 1,208,068
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ—_ZT__H+_A=+—HAILFE

GENERAL

Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company. The
Company is a public limited company with its shares listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Lam Wai
Wah, who is also the Chairman and Managing Director of the
Company. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the section
headed “General Information” to the annual report.

The functional currency of the Company is United States
dollars (“US$"). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") which is different
from the functional currency of the Company, as the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) consider that HK$ is the
most appropriate presentation currency in view of its place of
listing.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of
manufacture and sale of liquid crystal display (“LCD")
products including touch panel products and electronic
consumer products including compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care
products and electrical devices.

—RER
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W o
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BRIARRANEE BN BT
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) have applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's
annual period beginning on 1 January 2022 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

Except as described below, the application of the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ—_ZT__H+_A=+—HAILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. EREAMEREEN(FEEMER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS EHHER ) ERT (&)
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily REAFEEBFER2EBUBREEN 2

effective for the current year (Continued) 83T (&)
2.1 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3 21 EREEBEUHBRELENEIHRUEET)

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The Group has applied the amendments to business
combinations for which the acquisition date was on or
after 1 January 2022. The amendments update a
reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so that it
refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) instead of Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements (replaced by
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2010
issued in October 2010), add a requirement that, for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37
or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a
business combination and add an explicit statement
that an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets
acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments in the current year
has had no impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. The annual improvements
make amendments to the following standards that are
relevant to the Group:
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

22

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRSs Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of
assessing whether modification of terms of original
financial liability constitutes substantial modification
under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only
fees paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged as at the date of initial
application, 1 January 2022.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16 removes from the example
the illustration of reimbursement relating to leasehold
improvements by the lessor in order to remove any
potential confusion.

The application of the amendments in the current year

has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts’
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)°
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies’

Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates'
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
s Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.

EREEMBERSEN(FRMEE
HEER ) BRI (&)

CHEMEEMRERZHTEBUBREE
B R HAEET

AREBYW BIRFRA TS EME M REK
IR BB USRI R EAEET -

BT ER REBRAH
F175% (B
ZEZEFTAR
—E--%—-R
B BmE AR
17K MEET)

BT ER BEFHREEBE NN
F10REEAGH BERRIZHEZEE
02 2855 (185]) HERTE?

EREM AL BRARMNESEARE?

5165 (1£3])
EACHENFE 1% BEREELR
(1837) (ZZ=ZF)EH
MBS IERB AR
D RIERIEET?
EFCENE 15 MERENERD
(&5T) afEe
EEGHENE1HE SHBRAOBEE
BB SRS %A

BBH®RES 25 (BFT)
EEGEANESE  EEIHER

(f&=])
EEGENF 12 HE-IHELNEE
(f£5T) L aERENRLE

IR

R S S i GECL U S

2 RFFE B #isk 2 PR R R IR AR -

e RZZB-MFE—A—RBRZEFRNFE A

R e

T CFFR o FEFNEBRERAE 65



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn e M B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ_—ZT__H+_A=+—ALLFE

66

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity's own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current or
non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or
non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that the
classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with
which an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with
only after the reporting period do not affect whether that right
exists at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of financial
statements to understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after the reporting
period, if the entity classify liabilities arising from loan
arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity
complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. The 2022
Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments, are
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024, with early application permitted. If an entity
applies the 2020 Amendments for an earlier period after the
issue of the 2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply
the 2022 Amendments for that period.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-
current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's right to defer
settlement for borrowings of HK$1,877,648,000 are subject
to compliance with certain financial ratios within 12 months
from the reporting date. Such borrowings were classified as
non-current as the Group met such ratios and other conditions
agreed in the relevant bank borrowing agreement at 31
December 2022. Upon the application of the 2020
Amendments, in addition to the obligation to redeem through
cash settlement, the transfer of equity instruments upon the
exercise of the conversion options that do not meet equity
instruments classification also constitute settlement of the
convertible instruments.

Except as described above, the application of the 2020 and
2022 Amendments will not affect the classification of the
Group's other liabilities as at 31 December 2022.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting
policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.
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2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG 2. EREFEMBHREEN(FBEMBE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS S0 ) ERT (&)

(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice ERAGEAF1RNREBMKRELENE
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies BHREL25E (BF]) BB ERWE (&)
(Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements EBMERELRNEEREFE2RIEHELX
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how PEHEF ([BIEHRE ) IMEIEET » AEHEE—FE
an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to FRMAE [P EFEEAERE] EA
accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether NertRERBELHAGER — B2t REN
information about an accounting policy is material to its ERIEETBREREABEKN - EERED
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to s EE B REY -

the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have JERRZEE TR & B AR R B B AR 3k
significant impact on the financial position or performance of RBELXBATE  ErferErEE 8T E
the Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's etRE2HE - EERTE(WA) BN
significant accounting policies. The impacts of application, if B RNEE/EGRE T EERE R T AR -

any, will be disclosed in the Group's future consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting BB ERNESYE (1BF]) S E8E
Estimates E

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary g EE e hEt A [ AT ETHAR
amounts in financial statements that are subject to ENBERR2EE L] - @R AL
measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require HEHAETRBERENMERENIBR HE
items in financial statements to be measured in a way that 7at2 — Bt BUR AT e R T B g &
involves measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting HAENAREEE N A EEEEMAT G
policy may require such items to be measured at monetary FreRNEBERT  —HERBERESIG
amounts that cannot be observed directly and must instead o 5hREIEHREEVNERE - REile
be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an S EERERH A S SNERMELRS
accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by the HETsRE RS -

accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates b - B EFENESTN AT E
in HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications. BBt FLAMRE WEBE 5B °

The application of the amendments is not expected to have JEAZS R ITe Y AEBNES UK
significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial WMREKRERNTE -

statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition
exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in
paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 /Income Taxes so that it no
longer applies to transactions that, on initial recognition, give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, for leasing transactions in which the tax
deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the relevant assets and
liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant assets and liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will
recognise a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary
differences associated with the right-of-use assets and the
lease liabilities.

The amendments are effective for the Group's annual
reporting period beginning on 1 January 2023. As at 31
December 2022, the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities which are subject to the amendments
amounted to HK$331,023,000 and HK$147,279,000
respectively.

The management is in the process of assessing the impact of
the application of the amendments on the Group's
consolidated financial statements upon adoption on 1 January
2023.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of
the Company, the Directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in light
of the fact that the Group's current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by approximately HK$4,753 million as
at 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
generated a net profit of approximately HK$319 million
and generated operating cash flows of approximately
HK$4,893 million. As at 31 December 2022, total cash
and cash equivalents of approximately HK$859 million
were held by the Group and unutilised bank facilities
amounted to approximately HK$3,551 million were
available. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group
expects to continue to generate positive operating cash
flows in the coming twelve months.

Based on the aforesaid factors, the Directors are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet in full its financial obligations as and
when they fall due for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CQO").

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values at
the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent
periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that at
initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEHMERRGREERFESHN
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ® (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XESRTBER(E)

74

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEHMERRGREERFESHN
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ® (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to
perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which
is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEERTERK
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For business combinations in which the acquisition date
is on or after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an asset and a liability in the Conceptual
Framework except for transactions and events within
the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the
Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of
the Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it
has assumed in a business combination. Contingent
assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition date
(see the accounting policy below);

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as
held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ®(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XESRTBER(E)
Business combinations (Continued) E£%56(E)
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ®(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Business combinations (Continued) EX 34 C=D)
e lease liabilities are recognised and measured at e HMEAGBNEHTHENK(E
the present value of the remaining lease payments EREBUBHREELFE165)
(as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases ZHEEERKFE  MuEWE
were new leases at the acquisition date, except HERWBEBEATEE - Q)
for leases for which (a) the lease term ends within FAER A U EE B BBEET 121@ B (N
12 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the ERILOEHEEBEEER
underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use ZTAERRIN o R EE R
assets are recognised and measured at the same HEHEEERERcBERR
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to 2 WARMEMISKREF
reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of the HAH 2 BERRIEL A -

lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the PEETIRTEERE  WRERZ
consideration transferred, the amount of any non- R IR AR i 25 & 58 S R BE 77 S A 5
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value BZHBERREA TV EBR AT
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the HErUEE s R B ERTAEEER
acquiree over the net amount of the identifiable assets Wi R EE c Z/ETE - MCRE
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition AL {E18 0 FTUREE AT 3 Rl & & M P
date. If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the EaBEFBRLmEEAE Kk
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed AT R R S B R R EE T &
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the A AEZRBBET AT EE A
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree Mo ABEISEIRENERER B
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held BB -

interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership BRRHEAEE=BEREERERA
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate ABREZRLLOI D (EEEN B A REE
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the EZIEER R - VBRI =
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non- FEWIKE SO SR EFEEZEER
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the SR OIKAFEBETE - FTE2EE
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net RIEEBEITSMIEHIEE -

assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
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When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e.
the date when the Group obtains control), and the
resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income and
measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Goodwill (Continued) HME(E)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-
generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described below.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and
events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’'s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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Investments in associates (Continued)

An investment in associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is
acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent
that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence
over an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain
or loss being recognised in profit or loss. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that
associate on the same basis as would be required if
that associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss
(as a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial
disposal of the relevant associate.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)

Investments in associates (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate is recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of
interests in the associate that are not related to the
Group.

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if
there is excess of the consideration paid over the share
of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the
additional interests in associates acquired. Any excess
of share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to
the additional interests in associates acquired over the
consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XESRTBER(E)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EESHNEE)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is W 75 & AT B AR — IR - RSE &
recognised over time by reference to the progress BREREER  mMkEA2ZHEE
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant B AEZ FERHEE B R [ FERR
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:
° the customer simultaneously receives and . 2B N5 E B 49 B[R] A AR K2

consumes the benefits provided by the Group's HEASERBAOFTIRHRZ

performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an . REEEBLHAZERIERE N
asset that the customer controls as the Group EBBARITE 7 EE 3%

performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset s ZAEEEBEARABHAEBEAS
with an alternative use to the Group and the BREARZEE MALEEA®R
Group has an enforceable right to payment for FIETHUDMESE BT 2
performance completed to date. FKIE o

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time TR WK B ESHES Wk

when the customer obtains control of the distinct good TEIR SRR IERR o

or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to EHEBEEALEEEE BRI

transfer goods or services to a customer for which the B(HRERECIH) MAEAREP&E

Group has received consideration (or an amount of EEMIRE AT -

consideration is due) from the customer.
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32 FEEFEE#E)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
and buildings held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress as described below), are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets is
functioning properly and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant
payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold
land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-
lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets (other than construction in progress) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
the reducing balance/straight-line methods. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after initial
application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract
is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of buildings that have a lease term
of twelve months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as
expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option;
and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever the lease term has changed, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

HE (&)

FEEEBRBA (E)

HERE

ERERBBE  AEBEZZA K
Xz HENFTRERBNGERE
BE - EHEHENRZRER - W
BLEEZHEREANT 2N X - K&
B R ERE A RIREERN X -

HERKEE

s BEENR(BREELBETENMN
) R AU S AR

s BEERBREZUTEE(HAIARE
BEASERITEZRERZE)
K

e RIHEZIAF(WHEERHRKR
HASETRELEHEE ZEE
) -

KK BEHE BERGERRFNE
NEERFIEL AR -

SERFREFHE  AEELER
HEREEELHIEEREREE
AR - UL IR TR E

BB R EETREN R (ERRE
B % A EETRRE) B E -

AEBEGAMBRARKRAKEE
B2 REREA -

FFEH o FANERARIA 87



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn e M B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ_—ZT__H+_A=+—ALLFE
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more
additional lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component. The associated non-lease
components are included in the respective lease
components.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEHMERRGREERFESHN
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ® (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. FEHMERRGREERFESHN
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ® (&)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XESRTBER(E)

90

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, (i) the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into US$; (ii)
the assets and liabilities of the Group denominated or
translated into US$ are then translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of the exchange reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ®(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Government grants B i B
Government grants are not recognised until there is B NEIRIRFERNE BT A BT ER
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with B #s 7 164t - I B8 & U EL A B8 2B
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will B TS RERBUNERR,
be received.
Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a BURERL Th R A E 5 i B e BL A8
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group AR 2 EMER ARSI 2 BHERNE
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the EEMPNIERER - FRIRAAEERE
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, BIEE ERAUEMFTNWEIER
government grants whose primary condition is that the BEEFAE ZEMT BT ZI LR
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire EHBRAERERBELWA - WH
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income BEREEZAFERFHIREGREE
in the consolidated statement of financial position and FAEEREIREG -

transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are BEE EERZ kBB mMESRmA
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses S EIR A BN B 75 4% B i E Uk (30 4% A
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate BAERERK ) BT AR BE Y BT SR ESL -
financial support to the Group with no future related Th RS E B A B W B A HA FE AR 1B 2 A 1
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in R BREMENATEMKA -

which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits EERH

Retirement benefit costs BIKEFIRE A

Payments to the state-managed retirement benefit Bl RE MR RAE T ET &) R og $l AR
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are B ZHEFTNEERHFEEGHESE
recognised as an expense when employees have BHAZRGEERZARS -

rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services. All
short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries and annual
leave) after deducting any amount already paid.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ®(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Taxation (Continued) BIE(E)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable BEEFIEBENIZAMNBRAR ZI&E
temporary differences associated with investments in FEEZ BRNE R ERETER
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control ME AN S [ AT 4 o T A = KR R O] N B
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is REEAAGEIGRA RARREE 2
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse BERABRIN o BZEIREPTE £
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising TR EEmMELS ZIEEFRIBEEE
from deductible temporary differences associated with ER AT EE IR B 50 B R B 1 LA B
such investments are only recognised to the extent that FEHEMF SR mER R KRR
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits #5FE HA A A B B B RE SR ©

against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed BREMIBEE 2 REERREGHRE
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the 1T W T BRI EA B HERM
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient A B U e 2 Er e B B EREY
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the S

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the BEMBEERBBENDRBEENER
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in BENEREESHBERAZHE R
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, BRBEHAREHEXREEHEZH
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been R(MBUR)FTE

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets BERBEEEREENGE  REX
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from EENRERREHREE RO ER
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of EEENEBEEREMEZHIEER -

the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing M EAEEERFEAEEERIEH
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of- HEBBIZHEXRS ZEILERKIEMmMS
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group ANEBEHABETHRENREBNE
first determines whether the tax deductions are AREENSIHERE -

attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease

liabilities.
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For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the
initial recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ®(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XESRTBER(E)
Taxation (Continued) HIE(E)
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recognised in other comprehensive income or directly )
in equity respectively.
Inventories &

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on
a first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ®(E)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Financial instruments £RTHE
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised CREEMEREENEELSEEERK
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual BTEANED—FEER - FTAN
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases — MR EECEREENZEEH
or sales of financial assets are recognised and HEERANBUEER . —RAXE
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way EIREEARTE B IERFET
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial ZHRHEARNZEHEEEE -

assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially tREELEREBEVIFEAFEEE
measured at fair value except for trade receivables =2 HMELAERFPAAZEIWERE
arising from contracts with customers which are initially RIBBBYHBREENEIGRESLS
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from W T ERI - WERBEITS
Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs that are MEERSBHAE(TRERNEZUR
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of FEEHR(HRBZUATFEENER]D
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than JEMEE)BEEEEZRZSKARY
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss IRERREMACBHEEAFEBELK
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair value SHREBEATFEBNR(MER) - I
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as BREZUAFEEIEZCHEE
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs HeRMBEBEERAZRHKAENE
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets RERHER

or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating ERMELZATESCREESERE
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial BZEHER AR BB SRR EFR
liability and of allocating interest income and interest BIWARMERZ 275% - BERFX
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest B A ARRE S WA RNR(BIE
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future BREMEEMNEARa S 22~
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and S EWEAREE  XRHMAREAM
points paid or received that form an integral part of the BEITE)RNCHEESSHEETE
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other B HA SR (W@ R ) B B E R 4T 3R
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the Z 6 R AREDFE 2 A o

financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ®(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 FESHEEE)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIR(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE(B)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial TREEC DR EESE (B)
assets (Continued)
(i)  Amortised cost and interest income (i) EESEAA M A B U

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and trade
receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

FFEH o FANERARIA

HERZEHEK AT EZSREE
RERENREMEEPREIARF
BE5IER &2 U ERIATIE A
BIRA HERERF SN - FE
WA —RE R EEREAE
ERERMETUFE - HEHEK
HREEREZEBEERIN
(RT3 - ERBBREERE
ZERMEEME BN —HEH
A RS WA TS £ B & A
PR 8 P B R M R LAHERR, © i
HREEREZERTIRAREES
RpsEm A BHREERE
REETEETBHREFEERE
% BREHRAKRENEKATS
HeREERTAERRERM
KT LARER

97



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn e M B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ_—ZT__H+_A=+—ALLFE

98

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Trade receivables classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for
trade and bills receivables classified as at FVTOCI
as a result of interest income calculated using the
effective interest method are recognised in profit
or loss. All other changes in the carrying amount
of these receivables are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under
the heading of FVTOCI reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to other comprehensive
income without reducing the carrying amounts of
these receivables. When these receivables are
derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other gains and
losses” line item.
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3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, trade and bills
receivables at FVTOCI and restricted bank deposits and
bank balances) which is subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.
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Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument's
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022

WRIEE B EHREEREIF BT
JLEFE 2 2 a A E R E ()
HRETBHMTIAMS AEEF 248
ERNEARBHERABRZEER
% BIEEERR B AR KEE
RN EHBRTAEEBEREH
BEIEREK - AT R 2 HE
HzRIBRRERB VIR HERAKREE
EENBERZAREESRBRELEBEE
80 -

(i) EERREEEN
AHAEE R B MR FERIA KA
BREENE - AEE L BN
SHERMTARLEH  ERRE
R ER A BT AEEE
# 2B\ o fFH R AHER - A&
EERAEAERKEZEER
EHEH  BRBANHIBE
AL RV RAS 2 B ER
KT ER -

AETE  HEEHRAREEH
FH B AR

(a3
nif

EMITAZII(IE) K
W EB 12 B 5T A B ok 78 8P
EREREAL

s FEEBRZINATHER
BERL PIMEESE
RN REHAEEE
W RERE LT

o X MBALBEMRRZ

CEREHABITEERS
BEZEENAE TR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ—_ZT__H+_A=+—HAILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ® (&)
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Financial instruments (Continued) EMIR(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE(B)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if
the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if i) it has a
low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in
the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in
full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is
more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ® (&)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIR(E)
Financial assets (Continued) EHEE(B)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The Group assesses
ECL on trade receivables which are credit-
impaired individually and uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on remaining trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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Financial instruments (Continued) EMIE(E)

Financial assets (Continued) EMEE(E)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment RIBEE B BHREERFEISF AT

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) S EETS 2 5 &2 R E ()

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) (v) TEERMERBXZFTERER(E)
Except for trade and bills receivables that are BRIZREM 2K S A AT EE
measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an PR 2 2 EUWRIE R BRI
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all N AEEBBFAERMERE
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying ERRAECRTEZRENE
amount, with the exception of trade and other kEE - EREARBBEER
receivables where the corresponding adjustment HERIER 2 FEURBRTE R H A fE UL
is recognised through a loss allowance account. FIERRAN o BRI EH A2 E I
For trade and bills receivables that are measured @A R FEBEVIRE 2R
at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in HREREE  BEREIRE
other comprehensive income and accumulated in fE2EREER  WHEMEE
the FVTOCI reserve without reducing the carrying Was AR FEEYRFERR
amount of these receivables. Such amount MR %SRBG RE
represents the changes in the FVTOCI reserve in BE- BRI R AFEER
relation to accumulated loss allowance. HZREMEEREARAFEE

PIERfFHE 2 #E o

Derecognition of financial assets BUHER e B EE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the EEAEEWBIRGRE A LT

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset EmE AR EEREE

expire, or when it transfer the financial asset and HHEERRKBORAR KO REZETS
substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership of —ERERK AEEHFSEUHER SR

the asset to another entity. BEE o

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at REUHEBRZBER AT EZE2HE

amortised cost, the difference between the asset's EFRN - EERDENED W R ERAR

carrying amount and the sum of the consideration B EEENERER -

received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of trade and bills receivables classified REUHER D 8 250 H b 2 1 U g A
as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously NEEES R EREERERERER
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to B ERIRRNEMEERE A FE
profit or loss. B RFHRGT 2R NEIEERE

MoBERR -
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106

Financial instruments (Continued) EMIR(E)
Financial liabilities and equity EHEERER
Classification as debt or equity S BER S

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the

BEEER TADREERZHEZ
BURSRBEREZTAZEERD

substance of the contractual arrangements and the HRTRABESES -
definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments H#m LA

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale,
issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings, amounts due to an
associate and bonds payable) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’'s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end
of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-of- ME - BERRE FAEEEZR
use assets (see the accounting policy in respect of goodwill EER(REXEEEEZETHRER)
above)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews RI|EEAR  KEBRFTHEBRE
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and REBsmE - BELEE - FHE
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets BEREBVEECZREE UBER
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is BBEENDRBTRZSEERERE
any indication that these assets have suffered an EiE - LR BB ER  BIZAM
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the SAEBEE 2 TWESEE  LETH
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated BEFEECRE(E) -
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss,
if any.
The recoverable amount of property, plant and ME - BMELEKRE FRAEEERE
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are FWEE AW E 2T EREE
estimated individually. When it is not possible to L EREEt AT Uk Bl & %8 KNEEH
estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group B EZEEMBIR S BRIEL 2 7]
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash- U [o] & %8 o

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, ROBEIR S BENEN 2 R ER - W A]
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash- BMEAEN—BZoBRERE BIQF
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis BEBHIREMEANRCRIEN - X
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are PEREZEBEESHMEMANATHEAER
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units — By REERNR/NAER - ATRE
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis BOE AR EEMBIR ©BEEM N
can be established. The recoverable amount is R HRIMEBEMNMAREE - WEHAFRAR
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of S BEE A IR S MENEM AR 2 BR
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset MHELE -

belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less ATk B & 58 Ty A B E R S A AR &
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in FRABEZESE - EFEEREE
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to B st R RB S REFEAHAITINIR
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that KB E2HBE R ERE
reflects current market assessments of the time value KRB (E 2 B a5 il st KR AR
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash- FIARRIRESRE BE (RS HMEE
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash 7 ) FF e bR o

flows have not been adjusted.
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Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets (see the accounting policy in respect of goodwill
ahove) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated
to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units or the group of cash-generating unit. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBREZGHEERTERK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ®(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 XERTBER(E)
Cash and cash equivalents Re&RFREEHEER
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the HEMBEEEBEBERGETBARR
consolidated statement of financial position include: K2 B3
(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and (a) He EBREFERESKEHE
demand deposits; and oo R
(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term by Be%EER EFEESHGH
(generally with original maturity of three months BREBBEA=Z@AxER)
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily mIRERER AD MY EIRS AB
convertible to a known amount of cash and which BEHRBR T AN R ER
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in & REEMEEE FERREREH
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose WeAE  MIEAMIRESEAM
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather BH -

than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash MEmAREeRERME  HekBe
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and EEHEREINFEMNES RS
cash equivalents as defined above. %£{EI1EA -
4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4. AR FREHHEERR
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which RERAEENSBR (R E3E )
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make - EFERNEMRRETENS RHEE
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying LEEEFEEEELDHE - et REBE - G5t
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent EEBEEREIDARFEEB RAABERBHE
from other sources. The estimates and underlying ERZEABEM  BREREARINZER
assumptions are based on historical experience and other =t

factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on HEt RAAREeFERS - HE e
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are BETR 2 AR - Bl BRI E 8]
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if SHARI R o (NE GBS ERERE AR - 1
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the SEERWHIR - AT em ST M &
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current RIR A HERR o

and future periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill arising on acquisition of Truly
(Hui Zhou) Smart Display Limited (“Truly HZ") is impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated which is
the higher of the value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal. The value-in-use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit based on five-year financial budgets
approved by the management of the Group and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
Group engages an independent valuer to determine the
discount rate. The management of the Group works closely
with the independent valuer to establish the appropriate
estimation model and inputs to the model. Key estimates
involved in the preparation of cash flow projections for the
period covered by the approved financial budgets include the
estimate of forecast revenue, gross margins, growth rates
and discount rate adopted. The cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using long-term growth rate of
2%. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or changes in facts and circumstances which result
in downward revision of expected future cash inflows due to
unfavourableness, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill
arising from acquisition of Truly HZ was amounted to
HK$587,424,000 (2021: HK$587,424,000) net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$82,135,000 (2021: HK$82,135,000)
Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in
note 19.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Credit-impaired trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to
calculate ECL for the not credit-impaired trade receivables
which have similar credit risk characteristics. The provision
rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various
debtors taking into consideration of the Group's historical
default rates and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the Group's trade receivables and the
ECL are disclosed in notes 23 and 37(b).

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contract with customers by
types of products is analysed as follows:

4,

HHFREENERRIE (&)

R FREMNEBZRIR(E)

BUMEREZ FRE RRAEA

R EEREZ BEERE T ER S ERE
FRBX « tesh - NEE(ERBERERE(E
PR\ B i AR o T 3 S RS BORUE 2 MR
FRIBZ TRHIERELX - BEXTRTREBA
A2 BB AREE - EPET RAKEE
LENRRBANH N BERALE S AR
ESEEMEREREBEZAENEER - RER
SREMFEELBEMBENE  XEE
AR AR 2 EH -

FEHEABAEBRIGEHTE - 5
NEEREIERIE R IERE BB KA 2 E R AM
5T 23 K 37(b) #FE ©

2

RELEEIS ZBEPANKRES I

2022 2021

—EF=-—= =B —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHxT FHTT

Sales of LCD products HERRBETREEMD 15,693,468 17,181,573
Sales of electronic consumer products HEBETHEER 3,593,966 5,361,882
19,287,434 22,543,455

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
distribution of LCD products and electronic consumer
products. The Group recognises the revenue at a point in
time when the control of products is transferred to the
customer, i.e. when the goods have been delivered to
customer'’s specific location. A receivable is recognised by
the Group when the goods are delivered to the customer’s
premises as this represents the point in time at which the
right to consideration becomes unconditional, as only the
passage of time is required before payment is due. The
customers have neither rights of return nor rights to defer or
avoid payment for the goods once they are accepted by the
customers. The normal credit period is 30 to 90 days upon
delivery.

“ECFFR e EAEBRERAT 111

AEEZFTEXHRBER D HARBBER
REMMETHEBEEM - NEBREMRZH
REBEEF(MEREXNTEFPHNEE
W) B HERKE ARERERRNER
5 B2 Py By T R R MAURR IR 1t T YER (B HE R
RAERTEZRRER  RESBABKERA
R@—BREREDATEER - BF—KREE
Y BIEERE N EREE SR N E M
HIE - EREEHRRZMEZ30ENA -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn e M B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ_—ZT__H+_A=+—ALLFE

112

REVENUE (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, all
performance obligations for sales of LCD products and
electronic consumer products are for period of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are not disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses
on the sales of different types of products. Inter-segment
sales are charged at prevailing market rates. Thus the Group
is currently organised into two operating segments which are
sales of LCD products and electronic consumer products. The
information for each operating segment is as follows:

manufacture and distribution of
LCD products and touch panel
products

LCD products —

manufacture and distribution of
electronic consumer products
such as compact camera
module, fingerprint identification
modules, personal health care
products and electrical devices

Electronic consumer —
products
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SDHEEH®E)
Segment revenues and results PEREREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and REBRKEERBREDBESMKZR R ES
results by operating and reportable segments: DT -
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE—E-——fF+=-A=+—HLEE
Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
products products total  Eliminations Consolidated
R EERE
Em EBTHEER PEER B8 =RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT TET THT
|
REVENUE Wz
External sales g8 15,693,468 3,593,966 19,287,434 - 19,287,434
Inter-segment sales HEREEE - 437,453 437,453 (437,453) -
15,693,468 4,031,419 19,724,887 (437,453) 19,287,434
RESULT £
Segment result S 831,891 (78,788) 753,103 (12,828) 740,275
Finance costs MBER (354,558)
Impairment loss on goodwill 7 & 7B & 18 -
Share of result of an DEBERREE
associate 18,256
Unallocated expenses ANEEEY (28,985)
Unallocated other gains KA B E itz B & 18
and losses 1,577
Profit before tax AT A 376,565
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SEREEE)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) RN EREE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE-_ZE-_—F+-A=+—BLEE
Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
roducts products Eliminations ~ Consolidated
ETHEEM : #1354
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$' 000 HK$'000
T THT FEL THT
REVENUE g
External sales AhEH 17,181,673 5,361,882 22,543,455 - 22,543,455
Inter-segment sales NEREE - 348,079 348,079 (348,079) -
17,181,673 5,709,961 22,891,634 (348,079) 22,543,455
RESULT £
Segment result DIBEE 1,478,947 153,497 1,632,444 (10,221) 1,622,223
Finance costs WEER (341,255)
Impairment loss on goodwill &2 (B &5 18 (82,135)
Remeasurement gainon  SRATAEE S ARIEE
previously held interest  BRM B E M
in an associate 323,248
Share of results of DEBEDREE
associates 102,061
Unallocated expenses AOEEEY (24,588)
Unallocated other gains KA B E Iz B E 1R
and losses (3,704)
Profit before tax AT 7 1,595,850
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the KBS 7 ST BER BRI ATl 2 A EE
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. SHINERR o DI HEFFERDE A RITH
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment EENE  BREEEHe VBKER - 215
without allocation of central administration costs including B NTIRE STESRMTEATEEBES
directors’ salaries, finance costs, share of results of an Iz (E518) - WIBRUATEEIIERZ 25/
associate, gain (loss) on fair value changes of derivative BENTFEEEPLEHEHBAENTE
financial instruments, changes in fair value of financial assets FREBEBZ SO EMBRIUEF - AR E
at FVTPL and certain impairment loss under ECL model. This BEBEBRREREUDEEBELTFEREZ
is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker HEHE -
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance

assessment.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Other information

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HEOBREEMBRENEE

Amounts included in the measure
of segment results:

Allowance for inventories, net  {FE#E %58
(included in cost of sales) (BT ASEEMAN)
Depreciation (including amounts 37 (BEREFEE AL
capitalised in inventories) L EFE)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets {#AEEETE
Loss on disposal/write off of HeE MEE  BE&

property, plant and equipment R 2 &8
Reversal of impairment FEHE AIEAEX TRE
losses under it 2 qEpE e

ECL model, net

SERAE)

BE-Z-_—_F+-HA=+—HLFE

LCD
products
REBETRR
Em
HK$'000
TFH T

12,042

1,291,812
68,439

27,335

(34,723)

Electronic
consumer
products

ETHEEM

HK$’000
FET

20,406

259,501
3,587

(1,017)

Consolidated

mE
HK$'000
TR

32,448

1,551,313
72,026

27,335

(35,740)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

AEOBREEMBRNEE

Amounts included in the measure
of segment results:

FERBBBRLOFER
(FTABERA)

Reversal of allowance for
inventories, net (included in
cost of sales)

Depreciation (including amounts
capitalised in inventories)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Loss on disposal/write off of
property, plant and equipment

Impairment losses under
ECL model, net of reversal

TE(BEREFEERL
2 &)

EREEENE

HE /Mm% - BE R
R ER

BHERBREATRE
B8 - B

BE-Z-_—F+-HA=t+—HLFE

LCD
products

o B Eg BT —— 0o
RenfS A Nes

EE i
HK$'000
TAT

(3,752)

1,278,275
65,323

255,408

49,038

Electronic
consumer
products

BFHRER
HK$'000
T

56,093
3,344

114

401

Consolidated

ra
HK$'000
TAT

(3,752)

1,334,368
68,667

255,622

49,439

Segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as they are
not regularly reviewed by chief operating decision maker.

HROBREERABLIFAETELERRE
ERERN HEBERBEZEEENEE -

T CFFR o FEFNEBRERAE
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SBWEHE)
Geographical information HBEER

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group's
revenue from external customers by location of customers
and (ii) the Group’s non-current assets by location of assets.

TRE () A REREF TR BRI
BEP WS (i) NEEIREEMEE D
HIFEREVEEMERL -

Revenue from

external customers

S ERE B U sR

Non-current assets

FRBEE

2022

— — —

S I

HK$'000

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000

2022
e

S

HK$’000

2021
—E - —F
HK$'000

TR TET TET TET

The PRC =8| 13,528,016 16,382,896 17,056,286 18,466,961
South Korea FA T 1,421,249 2,227,212 - -
Hong Kong B (RFEH)

(place of domicile) 1,272,129 768,987 24,049 44,711
Japan =N 421,023 416,560 = -
Europe BOM 1,024,276 996,602 6 -
Vietnam fE] 105,538 372,993 - -
North America JEZEM 272,579 359,419 665 -
South America EEJ 278,880 240,904 - -
Taiwan =) | 217,099 215,083 - -
Others Efb 746,645 562,799 - -

19,287,434 22,543,455 17,081,006 18,511,672

Notes: BT -

(i Regarding revenue arising from sales to external customers in 0] B 2R B BOM K [ SRR B o A SH 6 e T
Europe and others, no individual countries are material and hence 5 BMEMEANBEKEEERGRE  WUELT
separate disclosure is not required. BAUBEER o

(i)~ Non-current assets exclude financial assets at FVTPL, deferred tax (i)  FERBEETEENBRUAATFEBIEZ®

assets and rental deposits.

BEE  BEEWBRAENEERS -

FREFESH

KRB —FR-ZE-_—_FHEEREFYH
KEBBBAERER10% °

Information about major customers

No individual customer contributed over 10% of the total
revenue of the Group in both years of 2021 and 2022.
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7. OTHER INCOME 7. HftlkA

2022

HK$'000
TET

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FETT

Other income includes: EmgABTE
Government grants (Note 41) TRAT ARG (FFFE41) 169,064 113,427
Compensation income B EWA 1,380 2,257
Interest income FBEWA 20,637 14,074
Interest income from an associate KERE DT 2R EWA - 33,620
Rental income with fixed monthly rental  [EF A2 S UA 17,820 13,581
Other service fees Hib RS & 12,091 3,642
Sundry income FETE A 13,092 7,039
234,084 187,540

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

Loss on disposal/write-off of property,

Hfttifn

HE MW E - BE KRB

2022
—E-=

HK$'000

TET

2021
—E-—F

HK$'000
FE

plant and equipment Jigi=! (27,335) (255,522)
Loss from changes in fair value of REBEHUAATEEIR S/mEE
financial assets at FVTPL N EEZHEE (844) (2,814)
Gain (loss) on fair value changes of PTESRIANFEBEZS K
derivative financial instruments, net (B8) ¥ 1,577 (890)
Net foreign exchange gain GNP UG 28 5 58 26,680 25,536
78 (233,690)

FINANCE COSTS

MERA

2022 2021
—E-= —E_—1F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREA B ZFE 309,345 293,891
Interest on bonds payable EHESR Z B 13,263 21,408
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGEZNE 15,938 25,956
Interest on deferred consideration (note 35) IEZE(L(E 2 K| & 16,012 -
354,558 341,255
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10.

118

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FRiSMBAX

2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$'000

FETT

HK$"000
FET

Current tax: NEARRIA -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R EEFTSH 54,124 110,058
Other jurisdictions HEfba) AR 1,056 1,141
55,180 111,199
Withholding tax (Note) TN () 551 3,164
55,731 114,363
Under(over)-provision in prior years: BEFERENR GRERE) -
The PRC e 520 (7,308)
Deferred tax (see note 33) IRAERRIE (R EE33) 1,113 58,141
Income tax expense for the year KEEMEFHES 57,364 165,196

Note: The withholding tax for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 were provided on the interest income of intercompany loans
received from the PRC subsidiaries.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at
a flat rate of 16.5%. The Directors consider the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime as insignificant to the consolidated financial
statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of
the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Income tax arising in the PRC and other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, PRC
subsidiaries qualified as Hi-Tech Enterprise are entitled to
15% PRC enterprise income tax. The tax rate of the other
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT
Law of PRC”) and the Detailed Implementation Rules,
distribution of the profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
since 1 January 2008 to holding companies incorporated in
Hong Kong is subject to the PRC withholding tax at the
applicable tax rates of 5% or 10%.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022

i BE—T - —FR-F-—F+-A=+—H
I EMTEIH TR BN E A RREIN A
AR B BB A R

REMEHMNEHEHE  AERKEER
B2BEBTm N R8.25% 2 R HM
Mm@ B&EB T2 m AL 16.5% 2 HE
B - AMEEMABFESHEGEER ZE
BB G S EER16.5% 28— REL
Bioe BEFRA  BRMARFIFEHEHEMR
BEYSBIRAMBERRMEATER - &
RIS Ty 5t i 8 4 2 A 5t I R B M
BE16.5%5TH °

R B R Bt RUAME [ EE A 2 PR S TR AR R
BLARER 2 BITHRGTHE

REFBERBERLER - FasHmd
FERZTENBRRMEETEEEMSG
BER/I5% - Hf P EMBRARZHER
25% ©

BREFBRCEMBREA(TFEMCEMSH
EDREHEGEMAR B ZFENF—A—
B SRR EEEMAR 2R A RS IK
BB B A B RRER 2 F| 7812 5% 2k 10% 2
B RN BB -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ—_ZT__H+_A=+—HAILFE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. PRGBS (4)

AERZFAGHAXEFA B REMEE
Wk 2 BEADR A 2 SRR T

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2022 2021
—E-= —E_—1F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Profit before tax T BIE A 376,565 1,595,850
Less: share of results of associates B DR AR EE (18,256) (102,061)
358,309 1,493,789
Tax at the average income tax rate of RIS % 20.13%
20.13% (2021: 15.72%) (Note i) (ZFE=—% :15.72%)
g (PRED) 72,112 234,791
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR ST 2 B &
for tax purpose 9,320 20,729
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERTUNA 2 TG 2
purpose (16,659) (61,685)
(Under)over-provision in respect of BEFE (BHETT) BREEE
prior years 520 (7,308)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERR SR ZRETE 58,471 13,0568
Utilisation of tax losses previously not AL AR TISE B
recognised (28,809) (29,823)
Withholding tax on undistributed I B A R AR 2 IR EF < FEHOHL
earnings of PRC subsidiaries 16,974 33,156
Withholding tax on interest income FEUWA 2 FEHFL 551 3,164
Tax relief related to additional tax RSk P E AR IS B S 4R RSN
deduction on research expenses Bz B Em (ML)
incurred (Note ii) (55,116) (41,629)
Others Hib - 743
Income tax expense for the year REEMEFRHES 57,364 165,196
Notes: BT -
(i) The average income tax rate for the years ended 31 December (i) BE-_E-—Fr-ZT-_—F+=-A=+—8

2022 and 2021 represents the weighted average tax rate of the
operations in different jurisdictions on the basis of the relevant
amounts of profit before tax and the tax rate of the relevant entities
for the year.

LEFE 2 PGPS T R AR AR IR B AT s FIAR BA 3R
BRFNEEERIRERFE 2 TR BERER
EBZEFORE -

(ii) Pursuant to relevant law and regulations, the PRC subsidiaries are (ii)

BIBEHEBERRER BHE_Z__FR_-F

entitled to additional tax deduction on qualifying research and ——F+ZA=t+—HILFE FEHEBIF
development costs expenditures for the years ended 31 December

BREBAERMERAAX T HEIRB
2022 and 2021. o

TECFFR e EAEBRERAT 119



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn e M B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ_—ZT__H+_A=+—ALLFE

11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

120

Profit for the year has been arrived at after

charging (crediting):

1. FFERH

AERE M TIRHARR GEA) AT
BIRRGER

2022
—E_C

HK$'000
TET

2021
—E - —F
HK$'000
FETT

Auditor’s remuneration 1% ERR BN 4,800 3,780
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses &R A 2 F &R A 16,974,025 19,122,888
Allowance (reversal of allowance) for FEEE (BERR)FE
inventories, net (included in cost of sales) (%I AS4ERA) 32,448 (3,752)
Research expenses (included in cost TR (P ASEERA)
of sales) 795,989 811,343
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ BEREETE
equipment (including amounts (BENEFEEER bz 2EE)
capitalised in inventories) 1,551,313 1,334,368
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 72,026 68,667
Salaries and other benefits e RHAMER
Staff costs, inclusive of directors’ BTIKA  BHEEEHE
remuneration (note 12) (FFzE12) 1,713,326 1,798,869
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFET B
scheme 170,433 174,645
1,883,759 1,973,514
(Reversal of) impairment losses on trade ~ FEHAZFABLER NREUKEEY
receivables under ECL model, net REEE (B[R FEE (35,740) 49,439
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTHARME
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BIEEA MR ERAFHEOIREFRNESE
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is RiTERRE e T -
as follows:
2022 —E-F
(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (a) HITE=E

Wong Cheung
Lam Pong Chun Dai Wing
Wai Wah James Cheng Yun Cheung Total

HEE BAR BRE REH B
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TRR TR TER TER TER

Fees B
Other emoluments: HitEi % -
Salaries and other benefits HeNEMER 4,024 1,272 1,173 1,380 7,849
Performance related BRI\ B
incentive payments (FIzEin)
(Note ii) 9,925 300 628 915 11,768
Contributions to retirement  E(REFIEH 242
benefit scheme - 36 13 18 67
Sub-total INEF 13,949 1,608 1,814 2,313 19,684
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above FHAITRATEE NS EEATS
were mainly for their services in connection with the ERARD A R A S B EBEFRER
management of the affairs of the Company and the B2WE -
Group.
(b)  NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (b) FEHITES
Song Bei Bei
(Note i)
KXEEH
(Bfi=Ei)
HK$'000
TEx
Fees e -
Other emoluments: Eiie
Salaries and other benefits FHe REMBEF 1,253
Performance related incentive payments BRIFEG 2 8BS (FIFED)
(Note ii) 395
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme RIREFIEF B3R 13
Sub-total INEF 1,661
The non-executive director’'s emolument shown above L RIENTESTZCMEEEARE
was mainly for his service as a director of the Company. PRI AN T B ERIZEBE S -
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTHAEMSE &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2022 (Continued) ZEZZF(5E)
(c) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (c) WBIaAIEMITESE

Chung Ip Cho
Kam Ting, Heung
Kwong Spencer Kai Sing Total

Ex RE= &R #E
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
R FET TR FExT

Fees we 264 132 132 528
Other emoluments: HEE
Salaries and other e MEMIEF]
benefits - - - -

Performance related BRI 2 e

incentive payments - = = -

Contributions to RUREFET B
retirement
benefit scheme - - - -
Sub-total NEE 264 132 132 528
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments LA RBYINTEE M EE
shown above were mainly for their services as directors BEEREETRAAFESRIEHRE
of the Company. 2B o
HK$'000
FET
|
Total for all directors in 2022 TR _FREEEME 21,873
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTREEME &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2021 —EBE—F
(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (a) HITES
Wong Cheung
Lam  Pong Chun, Song DET] Wing
Wai Wah James BeiBei  Cheng Yun Cheung Total
WiEE G REH BRE REH g
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
Fees we - - - - - -
Other emoluments: HiEi4
Salaries and other benefits ¥ R E A&7 4,068 1272 1,302 1230 1332 9,204
Performance related HRBAM7 B
incentive payments (ki)
(Note i) 7,702 - 362 651 511 9,226
Contributions to retirement  E/REFIEH 2
benefit scheme - 36 13 13 18 80
Sub-total gt 11,770 1,308 1677 1,894 1,861 18,510

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

(b) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

LARTRATEFCHMEEE/NS
REBARFARAEEEBHERER
BB

(b) FHMITES

Ma Wai Tong

(Note iii)

BREE

(BT i)

HK$'000

FETT

|
Fees we 160
Other emoluments: Hii<

Salaries and other benefits e RHEAMER -
Performance related incentive payments BRI EMG 2 825 (MFEi)

(Note ii) _

Contributions to retirement benefit scheme RINEFIFT IR -

Sub-total NEF 160

The non-executive director's emolument shown above
was mainly for his service as a director of the Company.

T CFFR o FEFNEBRERAE

LRARFATEFTCHMEERZ /W
REERRRERHRERE S
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTREEME &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2021 (Continued) —E_—F ()
(¢) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS () BIIHMITEE
Chung lp Cho
Kam Ting, Heung
Kwong Spencer Kai Sing Total
§EIR ZH= BERUH 488
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T BT FHIT FHIT
Fees ik 264 132 132 528
Other emoluments: HEaie :
Salaries and other FHe REMEF
benefits - - - -
Performance related HRIDEMG 2 RS
incentive payments - - - -
Contributions to RGBT
retirement
benefit scheme - - - -
Sub-total /INET 264 132 132 528

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors
of the Company.

ERMARBIFRTESTIME TR
REEREERNRRAEZHRERS
ZHE -

HK$'000
TET
L _______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|

Total for all directors in 2021 TR FREEEMEET 19,198

Note i:  Song Bei Bei was re-designated from an executive director
to a non-executive director with effect from 26 August
2022.

Note ii: The performance related incentive payments are based on
the remuneration approved by the remuneration
committee for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

Note iii: Mr. Ma Wai Tong resigned as a non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 31 August 2021.

Mr. Lam Wai Wah is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the Chief
Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors
waived any emoluments during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.
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13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included four (2021: three) directors and the chief executive,
details of whose remunerations are set out in note 12 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one
(2021: two) highest paid employee who is neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13.

LEERTFHER

TR AEBLREEHMEREENA(Z
T ZR)EFRITRAE  HMS
FHEEN EXHME 12 FR BT —R(Z
T —F: MB)RFEFRTIFARRITH
mEzREHEEZHESFBENOT

2022
—E-=

HK$'000

TET

2021
—E - —F
HK$'000
FETT

Salaries and other benefits e hEMmEF 1,678 2,682
Performance related incentive payments B2 IFEME 7 154 280 2,112
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme 3B /i@ Fll 5+ 214 2 18 36
1,976 4,830

The highest paid employee’s (2021: two employees’) BeFMEE(—TE-——F:  WELES)ME

emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000

ZEENT

2022

2021
—E - —F
Number of
employee

EE2HE

Number of

employee

BERE

1,500,001 8 7L 2,000,000 7 7T 1 1
2,500,001 /7T E 3,000,000 7T - 1

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors, chief executive or the five highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2021:
nil).

T CFFR o FEFNEBRERAE

FA - AEEYEAAKRBINES TR
REXTERSHFMATNERME - 1F
RMAREBE RN IMARE B 2 5287 - %
EREEREE(CE_—F &) -
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14. DIVIDENDS 14.

126

BzR

2022 2021
—E-= —E—fF

=

HK$°000 HK$'000
FET THAT

Dividends for ordinary shareholders of the 4 AR A5 IREI AN 7] Ei@A% R

Company recognised as distribution IR 2. -
during the year:

2022 Interim — HK 5 cents (2021: 2021 —E-—FhH— F%
interim dividend HK 5 cents) per share Sl (B =—4
—E - —FFRERRE 5B 163,612 164,461
2021 Final — HK 5 cents per share ZE - —FRE— BB
(2021: Nil) T —F ) 164,461 -

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of HK 5
cents (2021: HK 5 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate
amount of HK$158,055,000 (2021: HK$164,461,000), has
been proposed by the directors of the Company and is

subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming
general meeting.
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BERET
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on FREARRBFTIRE TSR E

the following data:

Earnings B F

2022 2021
—E—= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000
T FiBT

Earnings for the purposes of basic AU ESREXRET 2 B
earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to owners KA B#HE A B AFE @5
of the Company 318,233 1,377,998

Number of shares B#HEE

Weighted average number of ordinary RAUGTESRERER 2

shares for the purposes of basic LIRAT IR

earnings per share 3,257,189 3,289,229
No diluted earnings per share for both 2022 and 2021 were AR BN - —FHmEEBED %
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue TERER W —FER T -—FHW
for both 2022 and 2021. EZ27GREERT -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

128

16. MR - WE R W

Leasehold Furniture, Construction
land and fixtures and Plant and Motor in
buildings equipment machinery vehicles progress Total
B RE
HELHRET BT B R 2 RE EEIRE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET T BT THT BT
|
cosT BA
At 1 January 2021 R-E-—-F-f—H 4,228,981 1,991,012 16,244,950 38,200 447,439 22,950,582
Currency realignment EWRE 105,834 50,124 428,132 552 8873 593,515
Additions NE 11,169 103,481 437,840 939 158,625 712,054
Acquired on acquisition  RULEEN B A BIMES
of a subsidiary 1,232,265 126,730 3,095,569 1,135 73,937 4,529,636
Disposals/write off HE /M - (2,628) (1,075,444 (633) - (1,078,605)
Transfers A 200,543 - 118,599 - (319,142) -
At31December2021  RZZT-—4
+-A=1+-H 5,778,792 2,268,719 19,249,646 40,293 369,732 27,707,182
Currency realignment S A% (424,864) (166,941) (1,545,156) (1,888) (38,965) (2,177,814)
Additions NE 10,609 20,308 442,449 566 167,602 641,634
Disposals/write off HE /M - (791) (92,719) (387) - (93,897)
Transfers AR - - 138,429 - (138,429) -
At 31 December 2022 RZE-ZF
+=-A=1+-AH 5,364,537 2,121,295 18,192,649 38,684 359,940 26,077,005
DEPRECIATION il
At 1 January 2021 R-E-—F-f—H 597,260 1,279,388 8,783,974 34,586 - 10,695,208
Currency realignment AR 13,538 33,678 233,203 503 - 280,922
Provided for the year FEEE 118,340 136,644 1,077,947 1437 - 1,334,368
Eliminated on disposals/ & /#i#4 %44
write off - (1,752) (818,457) (505) - (820,714)
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F
+-A=+—-H 729,138 1,447,958 9,276,667 36,021 - 11,489,784
Currency realignment ERRE (49,585) (111,672) (761,265) (1,618) - (924,140)
Provided for the year FEEE 156,486 135,421 1,257,945 1461 - 1561,313
Eliminated on disposals/ & /4§ %44
write off - (388) (62,225) (376) - (62,989)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF
+-A=1+-A 836,039 1,471,319 9,711,122 35,488 - 12,053,968
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF
+=A=1-A 4,528,498 649,976 8,481,527 3,096 359,940 14,023,037
At 31 December 2021 RZB-—-F
+-A=+-A 5,049,654 820,761 9,972,979 4,272 369,732 16,217,398

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ—_ZT__H+_A=+—HAILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)  16.

The cost of leasehold land and buildings is depreciated over
forty years or the terms of the respective leases, whichever

is the shorter, using the straight-line method.

The other items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated on a reducing

balance method at the following rates per annum:

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% to 20%
Plant and machinery 11% to 15%
Motor vehicles 25% to 30%

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021 R=-ZT=—%f

17.

Leasehold
land

HE L

HK$'000
THAT

WE - BERRMEE)

MET BT ZRAABREAL+F4
HREEHEFHUAREERE)FTE -

Hip% - BEKREEB (BEITREN
ASRERIEIRUE » RIA T FREFEITE -

BRI KERRE
IR 55 M as
T

ERERE

Plant and

Buildings machinery
BFY BERB:E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT

10% £20%
M%E15%
25% £ 30%

Total
st
HK$'000
FATT

+=A=+-8
Carrying amount REE 654,466 2,241 407,251 1,063,958
As at 31 December 2022 RKR=-ZT==
+=ZA=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 584,037 2,129 328,894 915,060
For the year ended BE-—Z——F
31 December 2021 +=BA=+—H1
FE
Depreciation charge WELH 12,370 7,088 49,209 68,667
For the year ended BE—_ZE——fF
31 December 2022 +=BA=+—H1
FE
Depreciation charge WwELH 20,470 2,654 48,902 72,026
2022 2021
—E=E=-= —E-—4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#E T T
Expense relating to short-term leases BREPHEEZAY 5,929 6,041
Total cash outflow for leases HEZRBES R (158,681) (167,684)
Additions to right-of-use assets NEFHEEE 3,553 35,405
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17.

130

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various offices and plant and
machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 13 months to 5 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings where
its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and office
buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the underlying leasehold lands.
The leasehold land components of these owned properties
are presented separately as the payments made can be
allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for various
offices and plant and machinery. As at 31 December 2022
and 2021, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.
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18. GOODWILL 18. W8
Other
immaterial
acquisition
Acquisition of
of Truly HZ businesses Total
WEBEHR HMaEEKX
=M W ES 7% A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FATT FATT
|
COST AR
At 1 January 2021 N-ZE-_—F—F—H - 413 413
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary FUgiE — MM E AT MES 669,559 - 669,559
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 NZTZ—FR
—T-_F+-—A=+—H 669,559 413 669,972
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1 January 2021 N-E—-—F—H—H - _ _
Impairment loss recognised in REANRRBEEE
the year (82,135) - (82,135)
At 31 December 2021 and 2022 RIEBE-—F R
—F ::$+ A=+—H (82,135) - (82,135)
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2022 WZE-—H+_"A=+—H 587,424 413 587,837
At 31 December 2021 RZF=Z—F+=-A=+—H 687,424 413 587,837
Particulars regarding the impairment testing on goodwill are B ERMERS SR 195 E -
disclosed in note 19.
19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 19. WERENR
For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill arising on T I18pTEN T - —FWESFEM
the acquisition of Truly HZ in 2021 as set out in note 18, FMEEANEEFENSATNS  BE2298F
goodwill has been allocated to the underlying CGU which W BE (= RN BT R EFE N
represents Truly HZ in existence at the time of acquisition of HEEFBEMNGIARBEEREERDE)

Truly HZ which is included in LCD products segment.

In addition to goodwill above, right-of-use assets, property, BRI EX RS ARENTHESR
plant and equipment that generate cash flows together with E-VE BMEMREERMEBEE NG
the related goodwill are also included in the cash-generating ANIREEEBER - LAMEREZ S -

unit for the purpose of impairment assessment.
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19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 19. FERKENRZ)

(Continued)

The recoverable amount of Truly HZ has been determined EFEHEMNOITRESECDENMEAEBETE
based on a value in use calculation. The calculation uses cash EETE o ArtE A EARBIRERETEA - N
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by EEEHMERESFH( =T ——F : 5FH)
management covering a 5-year period (2021: 5-year period) WTIRIEEREE AR ER16.11%
and pre-tax discount rate of 16.11% (2021: 15.96%). Truly ZEZ—4% :15.96%) c BB FHA(ZZE
HZ's cash flows beyond the 5-year period (2021: 5-year Z—F 5 FH)MENENBEeRETRA
period) are extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate (2021: BFEERR2(ZZE-—F:2%)HEE-
2%). This growth rate is based on the relevant industry I ERIMMETEREEENAEM AT
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term BETENTETYHEHERER - M HEE
growth rate for the industry. Other key assumptions for the HENFERBEBLSEA S RENGEE
value in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash B ERBRETEEE NEFE - BEMET
inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales and gross TERENENN TR EERTEEY
margin, such estimation is based on Truly HZ's past operating IS REATEES -

performance and management'’s expectations for the market
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, management of HE_ZT-_—4F+_A=+—HULEFE K
the Group determined that impairment loss of HK$82,135,000 £ HE IR [E e E REE1E 82,135,000 B TR
was recognised in profit or loss. No further impairment loss is BRER - #H#E2-_T-_—_F+-_A=+—H
considered necessary for the year ended 31 December 2022. WFE - BAERE—SREERE -
At 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of Truly HZ is R-E-_—_F+-A=+—H =FEMNZ
above its carrying amount. If the discount rate was changed AN ESESNEEREmE - HMEM2 8RS
to0 22.25% or the budgeted sales covering 5-year period were NG BRIR R 502.25% sk 54 Bl Y FE 5
reduced by 10%, while other parameters remain constant, HER A 10% - EFEMN Z ATk @4 58 ¥ 48
the recoverable amount of Truly HZ would equal its carrying EREEMEE -
amount.
20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 20. RBRELFINER
2022 2021
—E=E=-= —E-—1F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Cost of investment — unlisted WEKA —IELET 1,555,710 575,000
Share of results and other comprehensive (G %4 & H b 2 E A
income 20,663 2,407
Exchange difference arising on translation & &4 7 JNEZFE (38,519) 36,745
1,537,854 614,152
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 20.

Details of the Group’s associate at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

REZENFMER (&)
AEBRBERRZBERRFBOT ¢

Place of Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Form of incorporation/  place of ownership interest voting rights
Name of entity entity registration operation held by the Group held by the Group  Principal activities
ML/ rREREZ FREREZ
ERsR BBy BT TRERBE FrERER LA RERLH TEXH
2022 2021 2022 2021
“B-C-F —F--% “EC-C
Truly (Renshou) High-end Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC 17.1%* 71%*  67.1%*  67.1%* Development and
Display Technology Limited (Note) (Note) (Note) (Note) production of
(“Truly RS™) LCD products
EM(CH) RRBRER ML i T 170%  71%*  611%*  67.1%* RERLERSE
ARAR(EHER]) (W) (wE) (W& (W) ERsEm
* Rounded to one decimal point for disclosure purpose. * TR MOE AR NEIE AN -
Note: BT

The Group has significant influence over Truly RS by virtue of the
substantial voting right of 67.1% granted to the Group in the first ten
years since the incorporation of Truly RS in 2018, as stated in the
shareholders’ agreement of Truly RS. Other than the Group, there are two
other shareholders in Truly RS. According to the Articles of Association of
Truly RS, shareholders’ meeting cannot be held without the presence of
either one of the other two shareholders. The Directors consider that the
Group does not have control but only significant influence over Truly RS
under such a term because relevant activities of the associate is directed
through shareholder’'s meeting and any resolutions to be passed in
shareholders’ meetings shall have the consent from either one of the
other shareholders demonstrated by their action of being present in the
meetings. Truly RS is therefore classified as an associate of the Group.

In December 2022, the Group acquired additional 10% equity interest
from another shareholder in Truly RS at a cash consideration of
RMB845,440,000, of which RMB300,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$348,000,000) was settled in December 2022 and the remaining
consideration of RMB545,440,000 (equivalent to HK$632,710,000) will be
settled not later than December 2023 and carry interest at 3.3% per
annum. There is no change of the terms of the Articles of Association of
Truly RS including the voting rights of the shareholders and Truly RS
remains as an associate of the Group.

BMERCBRRBHEA - AREHEFNCSEE
T2H  REARAKEEBE T N\FEMCHIM
B BF E T FEKETI% ERIRERE - RAEE
Sh - ERICHEHRAEMRARR - REBEEFCENAE
BMERRAA - MEEEBMBBERER —BRENE
MTRITRRARE - EERREZEKT - AREY
EANCBALBTGIE BEEATYESN  AZBER
RIERERERBRAE T EREMNBRAE L
BBMRARALEBERET —ZHEFS 3%25?,%
RRAE - Bt FERCSBARERBE AR

RZZBZZF+=8 ARERENCSNS 2R
RIEBEIMBDBRE BeREBEAARE
845,440,000 7T * H A R# 300,000,000 7T (FHE R
348,000,000 ) ER T - —F+ - FEE N&
TREB AR 545,440,000 7T (F855 7 632,710,000 78
TR _ZE =+ RAEENIZFFE3.3%
FTE - ERCHENERERM ﬁlJflﬁA(@%%%aﬁ#ﬁ
ZE)WEZE) - A EFCENAAEENHE QR
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
Summarised financial information of Truly RS

The summarised financial information below represents
amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

Truly RS is accounted for using the equity method in these
consolidated financial statements.

20. RBRELTFMER (B
FEACENYRENRE

AT ER B2 RRE B GRS LR
P fim Bl 2 2 RIEA S ¥R R NPIRE R 88 ©

EMNCSHRBERGHENLERA MK
HRARR -

2022 2021

—=E=-= —E-—14F

HK$°000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Current assets RBEE 1,230,317 1,988,488

Non-current assets FEMEEE 10,613,451 11,884,566

Current liabilities mEAaE 2,771,887 3,351,855

Non-current liabilities EREBEE 909,867 1,871,171

Revenue U= 2,258,152 2,159,568
Profit and total comprehensive income FERFM MmN A

for the year 238,218 35,383

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Eilt S E R B BRSBTS AR AR R
BrE QR MR REELSRNT

2022

2021
—E - —F
HK$'000
TABTT

HK$°000
FERT

Net assets of Truly RS FERCEEERE 8,162,014 8,650,028
Proportion of the Group's ownership REEMNMS M- S=M A R

interest in Truly RS PEZREL I 17.1% 7.1%
The Group's share of net assets KEBDEENNCEEEFE

of Truly RS 1,395,704 614,152
Goodwill arising from acquisition U BB RBIME R PTE A E

of additional interest 142,150 -
Carrying amount of the Group's interest REFERENCSHEZED

in Truly RS BRMEE 1,537,854 614,152
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21. RIRBLUAFREIRZEMEE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 AOYA

—E=-= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

T T

Listed equity shares in Hong Kong (Note) A& F 2 x5 (BEE) 3,689 4,533
Note: The investment represents equity interest in a company with its MizE : I EHER—B AT ZIBA#EZ 2 R 2%
shares listed on the Stock Exchange, which is stated at fair value. DRI BT - WIRATFEEVE - RER
The investment is held for long-term strategic purposes. The fair BERPEKEL - FTMRABEZ ATEE
value of listed equity security is determined based on quoted BN EBEARL SRz BB ABETE
market bid price available from the Stock Exchange. During the HE T+ -_A=+—HIFE AF
year ended 31 December 2022, a fair value loss of HK$844,000 8 (B &5 $8844,000/8 w( = & = —

(2021: HK$2,814,000) has been recognised in profit or loss. 2,814,000 1) B R IBZHIER °
22. INVENTORIES 22. &R

2022 2021

—E=E-= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#ET T

Raw materials AR 1,109,109 1,647,370

Work in progress TR 1,292,889 1,872,799

Finished goods BN dh 762,256 711,038

3,164,254 4,231,207

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. BUIRIA R H i EKFRIA
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Trade receivables FEUR BRTE 3,187,325 4,782,694
Less: Allowance for credit losses o S RIB R EE (49,324) (678,907)
3,138,001 4,103,787
Other receivables, deposits HibpEW IR -« 1e RIBNFUE
and prepayments 299,718 611,183
Total trade and other receivables FEUGBRTE & H fth FE U R IB 4258 3,437,719 4,714,970
Less: Rental deposits shown under W ERBEEMTREERS
non-current assets (79,922) (80,711)
Amounts shown under current assets MENVE EFTRFIE 3,357,797 4,634,259
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, 31 December 2021 and 1 January
2021, the gross amount of trade and bills receivables from
contracts with customers (including trade and bills receivables
at FVTOCI (note 24)) amounted to HK$4,177,970,000,
HK$5,317,541,000 and HK$5,200,803,000 respectively.

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 90 days
to its trade customers.

Included in the other receivables are deposits paid to
suppliers of HK$106,115,000 (2021: HK$122,865,000) and
the remaining balances mainly represent the prepayments to
suppliers and operating expenses and various refundable
deposits paid for rental, utility and other operating purposes.

The Group’s trade receivables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

23. BWIRARHEMERRIE (2)

RZBE-_—F+-_A=+—H —T-—%
T-A=+-BR-F--—F-A—A X
BERFANZEUREEREREZRE(B2ER
Hip 2 M AR FEENR 2 EUERE R
FEUEE IR (MI7E24) #8585 Rl &4,177,970,000
# 7T ~ 5,317,541,0007% 7T & 5,200,803,000
BT °

AEBGETHESEFPZEEMNFI0E
Y HNTE -

HERRAEBEABEENEEEZ S
106,115,000/ 7( = T = — F:
122,865,000/870) Mg T &4 = Z2 A TET
EERENEERY  WEARE  AASE
¥REMEBERRMENNEBEARERS

A B B E R A LA 2
S R R R T -

2022

HK$°000
FTET

2021
—E - —F
HK$'000
FET

Denominated in HK$ LB TTEHE

2,260 4,477

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period, net of the allowance for credit losses at the
reporting date:

R#EAZBUERER(RREMREZERER
B2 RERBRBEBZREDITOT

2022 2021

—E=E-= —E-—F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET T

Within 60 days 60 HIA 2,075,223 3,052,566
61 to 90 days 61290 H 500,384 642,372
More than 90 days HE90 H 562,394 408,849
3,138,001 4,103,787
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$552,866,000 (2021: HK$387,805,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balance, HK$118,487,000 (2021: HK$66,410,000) has been
past due over 90 days or more and is not considered as in
default based on good repayment records for those
customers and continuous business relationship with the
Group.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 37.

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

23. BWIRARHEMERRIE (2)

R-ZTE-—F+-A=+—H KEEE
Uit B T8 45 4 R B2 4E 42 BR T {E & 552,866,000
BT (—Z — —4F : 387,805,0008 7T) 2 fE
WERR - ZERENREHE B - 2B
45 8h H F 118,487,000 T (& — — 4 :
66,410,000/ 7C) BB EAEAI0 H A | -
BERZERFP 2 BRI MIFEREA
SEBFEFTREIER - A MEIR B HE R
1 o

R Wt B T e L A USRI 2 R (B AT A R R R
PABREST

24 REMZERGZLLAFREIRZE
W R IR B PR M SR %

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET THBTT

Trade receivables FEURBRTE 255,865 294,458
Bills receivables FEUNZEIE 734,780 240,389
990,645 534,847

As at 31 December 2022, total bills received amounting to
HK$734,780,000 (2021: HK$240,389,000) were held by the
Group for future settlement of trade receivables of which
certain bills amounting to HK$519,544,000 (2021:
HK$68,489,000) were further discounted to banks/endorsed
to suppliers by the Group. The Group continues to recognise
their full carrying amounts at the end of the reporting periods
and details are disclosed in note 47.

R-E-—F+-A=+—H AEEZFH
ARARGEERKEENERE LB
734,780,000 jt( — & — — 4
240,389,000/ 7T ) + H A1 519,544,000 7% 7T
(= ——1%:68,489,000/87T) A& T EiE
ERAEEE SR TR MEERE
o AEERRERREEERETRR
ERFBENH 47 R

TECFFR e EAEBRERAT 137



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn e M B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ_—ZT__H+_A=+—ALLFE

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOMIE (Continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills
receivables at FVTOCI presented based on the invoice date
and issuance date at the end of the reporting year:

24. REMREKRLLFREIIEZE
WeRRIR B FEML SR 38 (42)

RBEFRIREZAHMNETERENNE
fb 2 E Y AR FEESIFR 2 B UKERTE & e
WRIEZBREDITAOT :

2022 2021

—E_C —E-—F

Trade Bills Trade Bills
receivables receivables Total receivables receivables Total

PE Wt R IR ERER A% JEIERIR eSS A

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET FHET FET FET
Within 60 days 60 HA 249,359 279,277 528,636 290,429 111,980 402,409
61-90 days 61£90H 4,600 150,357 154,957 3,972 91,658 95,630
More than 90 days #3890 H 1,906 305,146 307,052 57 36,751 36,808
255,865 734,780 990,645 294,458 240,389 534,847

All bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of
less than one year.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills
receivables at FVTOCI are set out in note 37.

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Assets

REBWRNAERBENZIHBIG DN —F -

REA 2R A A FEETR 2 B ARER
KW IR 2 BARHA B NHIEST o

25. fTEeMmI R

2022
=
Liabilities
afE
HK$'000
THxT

AOVA
—E-_—F
Assets Liabilities
BE =l
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T

BE
HK$°000
FTET

Foreign currency forwards — 9MiE = A 1,894 - - (584)
Cross currency swap T X B e HA - (1,030) - -

The Group had entered into certain foreign currency forward
contracts to hedge against the depreciation of Renminbi
("RMB") against HK$ and a cross currency swap contract to
hedge against fluctuations in interest rates for certain agreed
periods of time. The Group and the respective banks would
settle with reference to the strike price on the predetermined
settlement date on a gross basis as per the contract.
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26. AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO AN ASSOCIATE

Amount due from/to an associate at 31 December 2022 and
2021 is derived from normal business activities and is
unsecured and interest-free. A credit period of 90 days is
allowed for the amount due from an associate.

27. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS

26. My FIHELFTREA

KRB ZFR =T -_—F+=_A=+—H
FEW B A RIRIBIRE —MREK S
I AEIEE LRS- EUREE AR FRIER
ZiEE#A90AH -

27. EMHBRTHER RERASFHER
B

2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—1F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET F&T

Cash and cash equivalents: HehIREFBEIEE -
Bank balances and cash RITEGFRRS 858,759 1,208,068
Restricted bank deposits SRR HERITIF IR 844,894 444,847
1,703,653 1,652,915

The Group's bank balances and deposits that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

HK$'000
TAT

As at 31 December 2022 I

|
m

As at 31 December 2021 i

/7

—+ 1+
[T o3 |1 o
H||mu
|

TR
m

8,777

3,203

AEBNFRHEEERNEEEININZER
SMEZ SRITHETF RAFREIIEA T

JPY
=]

HK$
BT
HK$'000
TAT

us$
e
HK$'000
TAT

RVB
ARM
HK$'000
TAT

106,247 13,958 1,983

108,592 205,335 913

Bank deposits and bank balances carry interest at fixed and
variable rates respectively which ranged from 0.01% to
3.94% (2021: 0.01% to 1.90%) per annum.

Restricted bank deposits are to secure bills payables and are
therefore classified as current assets. The restricted bank
deposits carry fixed interest rate ranged from 0.25% to
1.90% (2021: 1.00% to 2.00%) per annum. The restricted
bank deposits will be released upon settlement of bills
payables.

RITE A RIRITEF DR REE RN F
0.01%£E394%( = F = —F:001% %
1.90%) ZFBFFIRETE °

SR HIERTTIT A LA IR RN 220 - L E
DEERDEE - XRHBITFRIZETEF
FE025%E1.90% (ZF=—4F : 1.00%
£2.00%) 78 o ZRBIRITEZ MR ER
IR EERRRG -
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. [E(TRRIR R X fih FE £ Bk IR

140

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills payables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

RBERARRERAM27 2 BARREME
NRBEZEREDHTAOT

2021

—E-—F

Trade Trade Bills
payables payables Total payables payables Total

S RIE EARE &5 ENRHE ARES A%

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TERT THET THBx THT FHT
Within 60 days 60HMA 2,656,845 641,879 3,298,724 4,404,430 814,622 5,219,052
61 to 90 days 61290H 732,309 230,004 962,313 444,891 266,833 711,724
More than 90 days ~ #iB90H 72,420 1,526,706 1,599,126 768,547 1,246,702 2,015,249
3,461,574 2,398,589 5,860,163 5,617,868 2,328,157 7,946,025

The credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 60 to
90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
time frame.

Included in other payables are deposits received with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$16,632,000 (2021:
HK$42,499,000), accruals of operating expenses with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$429,558,000 (2021:
HK$511,000,000), payables for the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment with aggregate amount of
HK$229,433,000 (2021: HK$488,532,000), dividend payable
of HK$1,258,000 (2021: HK$1,258,000), consideration

REBERNEERNFE0EWR - AEE
EFEEEVHERREERR - LR
BRI RN -

H R AR IR B IREE A 16,632,0005
TL(ZZ ~—1F : 42,499,000/ 7T) 2 B Wik
% - #IRME{E A429,558,0008 T (= —
£ :511,000,000/87C) 2 JEFHEEER - 42
% /229,433,000 jt( — T = — F:
488,532,000/ L) 2 SHULBEW % - BE &
%z AT FTE - 1,258,000 T ( —F ——
F:1,268,0000% T ) < & & K B

payable of HK$615,256,000 (2021: HK$472,318,000) and 615,256,000/ 7T( — T = — %
government grants as detailed in note 41. 472 318,000/ 7T ) 2 FERH X (B R M 5T 415
AT R RL ©

At 31 December 2022, other payables of HK$47,579,000
(2021: HK$90,001,000) relating to acquisition of property,
plant and equipment which will be settled in 2024 (2021:
2023) or after according to the contract terms and are
included in other payables classified as non-current liabilities.
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28.

29.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The Group's trade and bills payables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Denominated in HK$ LS TEHE
Denominated in JPY LAB E&HE

28.

FEMRRR HMERIR (2)

AEENAHAEEEBEER NI EE
IMEZ RN ERERENREEINWT

2022 2021
—E-= =EE = —4=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHIT
30,064 42,021
59,298 123,731

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The amounts represent advance payment from customers.
The Group typically receives a 50% deposit on acceptance of
manufacturing order and remaining 50% deposit before
delivery of products for customers assessed to be lower
creditability.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 included the whole amount of contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year. There was no revenue
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
2021 that related to performance obligations that were
satisfied in prior year.

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to
HK$333,542,000.

The decrease in contract liabilities balance as at 31 December
2022 is mainly due to decrease in advances received from
customers during the year.

29.

T CFFR o FEFNEBRERAE

aaRi

ZEFBEREPEMNKIE - AEE—B1E
XEERERARIAERREREZER
WERB0% 2 7] & » W Z A EE fn AT W #4
T560% °

HE_ZS - —FR_FT-—F+A=*1—
HIEFEBRAZWEBIEFVIZEHEHE
BE-HE_T-_—_FR-_FT-_—F+=A
=+ —HIEFERRZWEILE LSRR EF
ERITZRBHEE -

RZFZ—F—A—B &aHNAER
333,542,000/ 7T °

WIB-_H+-A=+—H &HaGEHE
RO EBHRFERMKRZEFBFRD -
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 30.BITRHAMBR
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Bank loans RITER 6,576,952 4,405,424
Bills discounted with recourse EBEREZEIRER - 68,489
Trust receipt loans EEBIBEER 616,013 959,989
Other loans HEMER 72,562 682,604
7,265,527 6,116,506
Secured AR 278,899 771,735
Unsecured 4 4 6,986,628 5,344,771

7,265,527 6,116,506

The Group's bank and other borrowings REBNEHBEEBEINEE
that are denominated in currencies other LASN 2 EEEFI (B 2 $R1T
than the functional currencies of the KEAMEREIOT
relevant group entities are set out below:

Denominated in HK$ LB TTEHE 2,230,393 817,410
Denominated in JPY A BEE 4,291 43,091
Denominated in USD AZETTEHE 153,940 896,866
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Bank borrowings

30.MITRAEMER (&)
RITEN

2022
e

S

HK$’000
Fi87

2021
—E - —F
HK$'000
T

Carrying amount repayable*: FEfSBREE * -
Within one year R—FR 4,715,971 3,868,826
More than one year, but not exceeding —FBBRMERN
two years 561,432 362,586
More than two years, but not exceeding  MEEER A EA
five years 1,299,549 242,500
6,576,952 4,473,912
Carrying amount of borrowings that MBEEMTEEARERESR
contain a repayment on demand EREREEZ B
clause (shown under current liabilities) 2 BREE :
but repayable:
Within one year R—FR 616,013 959,990
7,192,965 5,433,902
Less: Amount included under current B IRAREIAER 2 KA
liabilities (including bank loans (BREEBRERERIKK
with a repayable on demand ZRITER)
clause) (5,331,984) (4,828,815)
Amount due after one year shown under  IERBI B EM RN —E2F|H
non-current liabilities Z I8 1,860,981 605,087
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 0. RITRAMBRR (2
Other borrowings Hit g
2022 AOVA
—=E=-= —E-—14F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T
Carrying amount repayable*: FEfSBREE * -
Within one year R—FA 55,895 632,604
More than one year, but not exceeding —FBBRMERN
two years 16,667 33,333
More than two years, but not exceeding  FEEER A EA
five years = 16,667
72,562 682,604
Less: Amount included under current B TR REI A B 28
liabilities (55,895) (632,604)
Amount due after one year shown ERBEERR—FE
under non-current liabilities EHR 2 BB 16,667 50,000
* The amount due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out * DR ENREHNERBR 2 BTEREH
in loan agreements. FTHE
Total amounts of bank and other TR AT EIBFR 2 RITR
borrowings included under: HAith a8 5E -
Current liabilities REEE 5,387,879 5,461,419
Non-current liabilities JEmEaE 1,877,648 655,087
7,265,527 6,116,506
The Group's bank borrowings included fixed-rate borrowings RER ZIRITERBEIE AE4 646,782,000
of approximately HK$646,782,000 (2021: HK$1,962,608,000) (=T ——4F :1,962,608,00087T) 7
which carry effective interest rates ranged from 2.78% to FTEER  BEREMNENF2.78% £5.00%
5.00% per annum (2021: 0.563% to 7.13%) (which are also —E - —F:053%%E7.13%) (EER
equal to contracted interest rates). The remaining Group's BHRNKR) REBZHBRIBRITREMBER
bank and other borrowings are variable-rate borrowings which HETERET  IREBRTRERE(EE
carry interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate RITRERE]) HEBRTREFRE ([HH
("HIBOR"), London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR") or RITEZEFRBE D EHBTHEREREP O
Benchmark Loan Rate issued by the National Interbank B EREERN R ([EEERFIE]) NS
Funding Center (“Benchmark Loan Rate”) plus certain basis TFEBEE c BEEMENFTFNE158% 2
points. The range of effective interest rates is at 1.58% to 7.02% (ZZF=Z—%F : 0.61% £4.85%) °
7.02% (2021: 0.61% to 4.85%) per annum.
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Trust receipt loans

The Group has entered into certain trust receipt loans with
banks. Under these arrangements, the banks pay suppliers
the amounts owed by the Group in advance of the original
due dates at a discount offered by the suppliers. The Group's
obligations to suppliers are legally extinguished on settlement
by the relevant banks. The Group then settles with the banks
between 30 and 120 days after settlement by the banks with
interest ranges from 1.6% to 6.5% (2021: 1.4% to 3.0%) per
annum, which may be extended beyond the original due
dates of respective invoices. The interest rates are consistent
with the Group’s short term borrowing rates.

Taking into consideration of the nature and substance of the
above arrangements, the Group presents payables to the
banks under these arrangements as “borrowings” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In the
consolidated statement of cash flows, repayments to the
banks are included within financing cash flows based on the
nature of the arrangements, and payments to the suppliers
by the banks are disclosed as non-cash transactions.

Syndicated term loan

In August 2022, the Group has obtained new syndicated term
loan facilities in Hong Kong amounting to HK$1,360,000,000
and the final maturity date is in August 2025. They are
variable-rate borrowings which carry interest at HIBOR plus
2% per annum at 31 December 2022. Pursuant to the facility
agreement, it will be an event of default if Mr. Lam Wai Wah
1) does not or ceases to own directly or indirectly 25% of the
beneficial interest in the Company; 2) does not or ceases to
have management control over the Company; or 3) is not or
ceases to be the chairman of the Company. In addition, the
Group is required to comply with the following financial
covenants throughout the continuance of the syndicated term
loan and/or as long as the loan is outstanding:

o the consolidated tangible net worth shall not be less
than HK$8,000,000,000;

° the ratio of the consolidated net borrowings to the
consolidated tangible net worth shall not be more than
0.75:1, and

° the ratio of the consolidated net profit before interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation to the consolidated
interest expenses shall not be less than 4.5:1.

30. /TR AEMBER (&)

T CFFR o FEFNEBRERAE

EREBIBER

AEBE RTINS TEAKEER R
BZELH - BITRERARENTTHN - R
JR 7€ B B B A1 A L B S NSRBI FT 45 R K
B o AEBHHERMNETRARBERITEE
BRI IE - AEERRITHEEEI0E120
KERITHEE - FIENTEF16%E6.5%
(ZEBE-—5F:14%%3.0%) AJiEHEAR
BRZENRTEEHA 2% - FIREREER
HAfE A —5 -

ZRI LA LHEERBEERT - AEHE
RERE B BRI 2R S 5% 5 Lk N BT IRTT
RERIR ER] - REERERERT
RELZFOEERRITRENESFARE
Reng |ROAEERNNIIERIERS

ZHHE -

REEMEN

REZBEZ=—FNA » REBREBESTR
B F 5 7@t & 1,360,000,00078 7T &%
AT -_RAFNA - R_ZT_—

+ZA=+—H8 HEHEFEER  EE
FEBRTBEEREMN2%E - RIFRE
W MMEBERA ) ABESE I EEES M
BHEAARRAEI220% 2 EXER  2) TH
BIEE AR B EEA EIREHHE - 3) FB&,
EIEEAARRRERE - BIERELNEM -
A - AN B A 71 AR B T 2R B RS B A R
R/ EREAEEPREET N BR

=+ L
FE=i

o BRABFETELH8,000000000

BT

s AR FHRUESABEFEZLT
BiBi1B0.75: 1 &

o BRAME - BE - WEREBHAERAF
MERGENEXHZETFER
45:1°
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 30. MITRAEfMER(2)

Syndicated term loan (Continued)

The financial covenants of the above syndicated term loan
facilities are tested semi-annually on 30 June and 31
December throughout the term of the loan. In addition, the
remaining non-current bank borrowings amounted to
HK$517,648,000 as at 31 December 2022 are subject to
certain financial covenants. The Group has complied with
these covenants at 31 December 2022.

REERER(E)

LR E TR ENMERENEEE
FE S BEERANA=ZTART-_A=1+—
BET R - v RZZEZ—F+=
A=+ — B HE&IFERIRITEX
517,648,000 L /BB ST 525 - AEE
MNZBE-—F+-_A=+—HOETIZ%E
B2 o

31. LEASE LIABILITIES 31. #HEA®R
2022 2021
—_E__ —E - —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEAE
Within one year —FR 94,507 143,652
Within a period of more than one year —FRERMEAN
but not more than two years 43,777 103,360
Within a period of more than two years MEBEREFA
but not more than five years 8,995 53,149
147,279 300,161
Less: Amount due for settlement with B mBaEm AR T ZEAR
twelve months shown under 2 R FRTE
current liabilities (94,507) (143,652)
Amount due for settlement after twelve  JEREBIB &A@ AH%E
months shown under non-current E 2 R FR0E
liabilities 52,772 156,509

The Group's weighted average incremental borrowing rate for
lease liabilities is 7.13% (2021: 7.12%) per annum.
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32. BONDS PAYABLE 32. EftEE

2022 AOVA

=== —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

Classified under current liabilities HaRBAaE - 371,996
In July 2016, EFIABEROER DT (“ERHERD ", the RZZ—RFLA  ARRBEE2EWNBAF
“Issuer”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, ERHERDERAB(ERXERGD] -
issued a tranche of domestic corporate bonds (the “Bonds”) [BTADBTHASEBBAEARE
with an aggregate principal amount of RMB750,000,000. The 750,000,000 TLHR AR EIEH ([EH]) °
Bonds bear fixed interest at 5.8% per annum and the interest BEH 2 FHERETAL8% @ BFIRE—IX e
is payable annually. The effective interest rate of the Bonds ERESFZERFFNERR6% NEITES
payable is 6% per annum. At the end of the third year after =FRBOANERZLAGESFE MR
issuance, the Issuer has an option to adjust upward the T FR-E-—F+=-A=+—8"

interest rate of the Bonds and bondholders can exercise BEHFEFBARAIITE RS EERE -

retractable option as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

On 29 July 2019, following the exercise of the retractable RZE-NFLAZT+NB EXZEESH
option by the majority of the bondholders, the Issuer BBEANTEREEEER  BOABLA:
repurchased the Bonds with principal amount of A R 712,405,700 7T 2 (&5 B B
RMB712,405,700 and paid the relevant interests. The FE - AT REHABREETE R EEERE
remaining Bonds with principal amount of RMB37,594,300 N&E A AR 37,694,300 7T 2 BEHEIRR
without exercising the retractable option by the relevant A ZFRES8% KHEAEE T ——
investors would be held until maturity in July 2021 with the FHARBALE -

unadjusted coupon rate at 5.8% per annum.

On 10 September 2019, the Issuer issued a tranche of Bonds RZZE—NFNLATH  BITAZIT IR
with an aggregate principal amount of RMB300,000,000. The S A AR 300,000,000 ES - &
Bonds bear fixed interest at 5.2% per annum and is payable HFZFENEEE RS 2%  BFRE—IK o
annually each year. The effective interest rate of the Bonds EREHRZERFMNERDLLS% - EHEE
payable is 5.5% per annum. The Bonds have matured and HER B _FNABEES -

were fully settled in September 2022.

The Bonds were listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. BHERRINBEFR ST LT °
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33. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 33. RERARE AR
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for T 23N S JIEERIBASROTOT -

financial reporting purposes:

2022 AOVA
—E-= —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Deferred tax liabilities FREHIEEE 156,203 149,457
Deferred tax assets EEFRIAA = (62,176) (56,543)
94,027 92,914
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) CEARFERBTFEANRRNEZRELERIE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and aE(EE) REZFHOT
prior years:
Loss
available Undistributed
for offsetting Accelerated Allowance profits
against future tax for of the PRC
taxable profit  depreciation inventories  subsidiaries
Al AR 88
RRIERB F BB A A
BHZER  MERERE FEREG AR BRI ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT THT 7 TH7
|
At 1 January 2021 RZZZ—%—H—H - 8,702 (56,519) 82,590 34,773
Charge (credit) to profitor  PNEEBZP X
loss for the year (H%) - 25,009 (24) 33,156 58,141
Acquisition of a subsidiary  YzB—FEH B A7) (154,654) 154,654 - - -
At 31 December 2021 RZE-—F
+-A=+—H (154,654) 188,365 (56,543) 115,746 92,914
Charge (credit) to profitor  PNEEBZET X
loss for the year (%) (26,136) 15,908 (5,633) 16,974 1,113
At 31 December 2022 —E--
+-A=+-H (180,790) 204,273 (62,176) 132,720 94,027
At 31 December 2022, the Group has unused tax losses R-ZE-—F+-A=+—8 £REERF
arising in Hong Kong amounting to HK$414,347,000 (2021: BEEZAEABISER A414,347,000 78
HK$469,564,000) available indefinitely for offsetting against (= ZT = —4£ : 469,564,000/ C) » 7] f&
future profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No FBEAFAEI Y B IR BB AT Z A HOHEF) o
deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of these R_E-_—_FhN_E-_—F+_A=+—
tax losses arising in Hong Kong due to unpredictability of H: G SEgESEANZERIEEIEERE
future profit streams as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. ERIBBEE - RERAKRKGZMN B0 FEA -
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33. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)

At 31 December 2022, the Group has unused tax losses
arising in the PRC of HK$3,925,356,000 (2021:
HK$3,644,856,000) and such tax losses can be carried
forward for a period of five years or ten years which are
available for offsetting future profits. At 31 December 2022,
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$1,205,267,000 (2021: HK$1,031,026,000) of such tax
losses in the PRC. No deferred tax assets has been
recognised in respect of the remaining tax losses of
HK$2,720,089,000 (2021: HK$2,613,830,000) due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unrecognised tax losses arising in the PRC are losses of
HK$315,156,000 (2021: HK$22,153,000) that will gradually
expire until 2027 (2021: expire until 2026) and
HK$2,404,933,000 (2021: HK$2,591,677,000) that will
gradually expire until 2032 (2021: expire until 2031).

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. At 31 December
2022, deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to HK$2,991,786,000 (2021:
HK$3,914,438,000) as the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

33.

BERRRE AR

R-E-—F+-A=+—H K"EERF
Bl EE A 2 R B) A3 B 1A B 48 & 3,925,356,000
BT (T = — 4 :3,644,856,000/8 L) -
mABRHIBEEE4 §£¢i+$ R
EREARGEN RZTE-_—_F+=A
=+—8" E&Jc;Zi%Ri‘%EﬂaEqﬂﬁEwE
T TR TE & E1,205,267,0008 T( T = —
£ :1,031,026,0008 ) B ER TR IE
/&5 182,720,089,000/% ;o ( = & — — & :
2,613,830,00078 7T ) 37 aﬁuﬂlﬁéﬁ R
.ﬁ*x/ﬁﬁﬂmugz_—f?ﬁ/ﬂu E':F'FEE’]
AERREEBEEER -_ZE - +FRES
B (2 ——F R ER2E) W
&5 $8315,156,000/8 w( = & = — F:
22,153,000/ 7T ) & 2,404,933, ooo;‘%ﬁ(:
T — — 4 :2,591,677,0008 L) HEN - =
ZFRERSHBE( == —E-K_E
=—FpEE) -

BREFRBECEMEHRE BT N\F— A
— Rt RPEWERQ RSN E IR
R B BBMTENT - R —_F+=A
=+—0  EHREVHHRES  WERPH
MBARZERBEFNNE BN ZH
2,991,786,000% ( = & = — 4F:
3,914,438,000 8 7T) fEHIRE R IE B - R
B B 2N 5 B 75 AL 77 128 i) 485 (0] B B = RE A0 B
- INE ATRE NG 1E A] R R SR B ol By g 2258 o

149



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn e M B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ_—ZT__H+_A=+—ALLFE

34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. B&=&

Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 per share

BREE0.02;8 T BB

Number of
shares

R BE

Amount

o

HK$'000
THAT

Authorised: VERE ¢
Balance at 1 January 2021, 73’\_§_—¢ A—8 -
31 December 2021 and —E-—F+ZA=+—8K
31 December 2022 —E__F+-A=+—H
2R 5,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BT MR
Balance at 1 January 2021 and Eﬁ_;?:—i A—HXK
31 December 2021 —T-—F+=ZA=+—H
2 EER 3,289,229,398 65,785
Shares repurchased and cancelled Rl Kt i AR D (128,124,000) (2,563)
Balance at 31 December 2022 W—E-_—%+-A=+—A~
2 HEER 3,161,105,398 63,222

All the shares issued or repurchased by the Company rank
pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares in all
respects.

AARCHETREBNMA KR T H
EREANEBRZARFUHA -

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
repurchased 128,124,000 of its own shares through the Stock
Exchange. The above shares were cancelled upon repurchase
and the total amount paid to acquire these cancelled shares
of HK$187,441,000 was deducted from equity holder’s

HE-_ZE-_—_F+-A=+—HIEFE &K
A R)E B EE R AT (O B8 128,124,000 A & #Y
B fm o AR AR BERE Wy - phukEE
ZEEIR D B 42%8 187,441,000 LB
HESFEANERSTHR -

equity.
Number of
ordinary Price per share
Month of repurchase shares BRER Aggregate
and cancelled E i & F8E A 17 repurchased Highest Lowest price paid
EI:
ZEREE B B®I& [EERECE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BIT ABIT T4
May 2022 —E-—FHA 5,944,000 2.24 1.95 12,859
June 2022 —EZ_FXA 5,276,000 2.54 2.20 12,873
July 2022 —E__F+A8 5,768,000 1.90 1.84 10,771
August 2022 —E-—FN\A 5,894,000 1.75 1.74 10,263
September 2022 —E-—FAHA 46,124,000 1.70 1.19 64,079
October 2022 —ET-—%+A 9,122,000 1.30 1.26 11,638
November 2022 —T-—_F+—A 49,996,000 1.40 1.11 64,958
Total 5 128,124,000 187,441
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35. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 35. WiE—RIPHE 2T

On 29 November 2021, the Group entered into a sales and
purchase agreement to acquire approximately 16.77%
interest in Truly HZ at a cash consideration of
RMB450,000,000 in which RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$61,150,000) has been settled in 2021 and
the remaining RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$464,000,000) have been settled in two instalments during
2022. As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of the
consideration payable approximately HK$472,318,000 was
determined by using an effective interest rate of 4% on the
unpaid consideration approximately HK$489,200,000. Truly
HZ is principally engaged in development and production of
active-matrix organic light-emitting diode and LCD products
and was acquired with the objective of improving the Group's
LCD products segment. The acquisition has been accounted
for as acquisition of business using the acquisition method.
The acquisition was completed in early December 2021.

RZEZ—F+—A=Z+NB xEEEFTL
HELEEHE NWESFEMY
16.77%#E = B a2 RN E B ARKEK
450,000,0007¢ + H# A R ¥ 50,000,000 7T
(FHERR 461,150,000 L) ER T =—%F
455 - MR T~ AR 400,000,000 7T (ABE 7
#]464,000,0008 ) ER—_E-—"FRA D
MBS - RZE=—F+=ZA=1+—H"
EMRENRQFEEL472,318,0005 7T )5
e R R (B 49 489,200,000 78 T K B BE Al &
A%ET - EAEMNETEREBRERE K
BHBRERRBEETRSEMORERE
EWEENERREAEENRREA RS
Emo - WEEEEREE A EZARAK
B - WEEN=_ZE=—F+=A¥5K -

HK$'000
TAT

Consideration transferred EEERHE

Cash Be 61,150
Consideration payable FERTRAE 472,318
Total FEE 533,468

Acquisition-related costs were insignificant and have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and recognised
as an expense in the current year, within the “administrative
expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

WIBHRBER AL TEX - MERDBEERE
ERAFERA/RAER RIS
RITHRER]EBEANFHEX
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35. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 35. lE—FMBLTE (&)

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the RBBEHFRBNEERBEIANEE
date of acquisition

HK$'000
FHET

Property, plant and equipment L EN =Y 4,529,636
Right-of-use assets ERAREE 217,694
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, FUEEME - BERBEBEZHET2
plant and equipment 22,036
Inventories FE 640,400
Other receivables E b B W FRIE 517,218
Amount due from the Group PR A 52 B 5RT8 68,488
Cash and cash equivalents HekIREEFBEIEE 22,546
Restricted bank balances SRR HIRITEERR 27,395
Amount due to the Group FEfR AR B FRIE (2,578,511)
Trade and other payables JE A5 BRIE I ELAth FE < 5R1E (1,073,431)
Contract liabilities aHaE (139,094)
Bank borrowings RITIER (974,704)
Total #Et 1,279,673
Other receivables include prepaid other taxes of HMWEKZTEBS R ENE # B 18
HK$462,496,000 and other receivables of HK$54,722,000. 462,496,000/ Tt & E f E W 3 B
The fair value of the other receivables acquired at the date of 54,722,000 7T o FAUKEE B BRI S A E &
acquisition approximated to their gross contractual amounts. WHIEH A BEEESLEERE -
Non-controlling interests FEERER
The non-controlling interests (23.5%) in Truly HZ recognised RUEE B B RE R A {5 F) = FE AR A =
at the acquisition date was measured by reference to the (235%) W2 BEMEINFEECHRELE
proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets of BBl 8RS - 49/8301,107,000 87T ©

Truly HZ and amounted to approximately of HK$301,107,000.

HK$'000
TAT

Goodwill arising on acquisition: WEEENEE
Consideration transferred BEEAE 533,468
Plus: non-controlling interests (23.5% in Truly HZ) i : JE# &S (FME M E) 23.5% ) 301,107
Plus: previously held equity interest N SRR AR (AMEFIEINEN59.7%)

(59.7% in Truly HZ) 1,114,657
Less: recognised amounts of net assets acquired & : B RIS FEESEE (1,279,673)
Goodwiill arising on acquisition RAUWBEENHE 669,559
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35. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued) 35. lE—FMBLTE (&)

Non-controlling interests (Continued)

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of Truly HZ because the
Group is the major customer of Truly HZ, which could
potentially bring positive synergy effect on cost saving and
profit generation to the Group. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not
meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on these acquisitions is expected
to be deductible for tax purposes.

The details of the impairment assessment of the goodwill is
disclosed in note 19.

The fair value of the previously held equity interest in Truly
HZ at the date of acquisition is HK$1,114,657,000, which is
determined based on the valuation under income approach
performed by an independent valuer. The remeasurement
gain of interest in Truly HZ amounting to HK$323,248,000,
which is the difference between the fair value and its carrying
amount at the date of acquisition, was recognised in the
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Truly HZ

iR AR (F)

WEEEMEMELHEIHRAEERER
BNMERER - AT R AREEE KA
R BIERN RS RARR A 7 R BUE - A& E
MR A AR BB E R RER M
Itb I 4 L P ) A RE SR ©

BEEL A RENEERY R ENB AR -

BEBER BRI 194K

S RTRME RN i RO AR A Ui A B
NF(BEA1,114,657,0008 7 ZE 5T
ER—Z B A EMFEARAKETEE
EE - RMEFEMNEEmET 2]
RE RSN A TFEERERmMERNZ5)
323,248,000 8 tEREEZE T -—F+—=
AZ+—BIFERIBHER -

WORE RN BV IR &7 R

HK$'000
TAT

Cash consideration paid BRRERE 61,150
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances acquired ¥ : DU EEIR & NI & ZSEIER 456 (22,546)
38,604
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35.

36.

154

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)
Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

As the date of acquisition of Truly HZ is close to the year end,
the revenue and profit of Truly HZ contributed to the Group
after the completion of acquisition is not significant to the
Group in 2021.

Had the acquisition of Truly HZ been completed on 1 January
2021, revenue for the year of the Group would have been
HK$23,203,356,000, and profit for the year would have been
HK$1,497,839,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of operations of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been
completed on 1 January 2021, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

In determining the 'pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the
Group had Truly HZ been acquired at the beginning of the
current year, the directors of the Company calculated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets based on the recognised amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets at the date of the
acquisition.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the borrowings, lease liabilities and bonds payable
disclosed in notes 30, 31 and 32 respectively, net of cash and
cash equivalents, and equity comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. The
Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates
with the capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues of the
Company and share buy-backs as well as raising of bank
borrowings.

The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the
prior year.
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35.

36.

iR —FRIR BT (&)
WEE R EEEENE

B UERE AN B BB K - B iR
ST 1R 7N 5= [ FE A5 15 M ZRM Ay Wiz et e gt 10
—EC-EHAREYTEK -

HMEENENER —_E-—F—A—8%x
R REBEARFE WA 23,203,356,000
BT NEEEFINEA1,497,839,0007 7T
HEERHEMHA  ARORERZZEZ—F
—A—HBERMEENEEERERES 2
W RS EEREE - MTRERRER 2
FEA -

HAKEERAFEIRBENEMN - NE
EAKRER [HE | Wt Fos M - ARA
EERENKEBHNCEAYE BER
REUNREREEESETEDE BER
REARERREENTE -

BREERER

AEBETEANERNRERAEEANER
RERTERE  REBRERRERTE

BETTRAEAT =

AR R A K [l g

AEEMNEAEEAERFHE(RENT
303N ENDFFEE,ER - HEEBER
EfES SHRRERREEEEE) R
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37. @MTIR

a. Categories of financial instruments a. SRMIASE

2022 2021
—=E=-= —E-—1F

HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi87 T

Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at amortised cost WEHEN AR 2 S REE 4,960,177 5,864,335
Financial assets at FVTOCI PE 2 E W ES AR FEEER
ZEREE 990,645 534,847
Financial assets at FVTPL RIBEUAAFEEIEZEHEE 3,689 4,533
Derivative financial instruments ESBIA 1,894 -
5,956,405 6,403,715
Financial liabilities THEE
Amortised cost B R 14,700,409 16,232,420
Derivative financial instruments AR T A 1,030 584

14,701,439 16,233,004

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments include
restricted bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents ,
trade and other receivables, trade and bills receivables
at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings, amount due from/
to an associate, bonds payable, lease liabilities and
derivative financial instruments. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.

TREREERRREEK

AEEZITZSRITABEXREIR
TEX REMBEFEEE  BE
FRIE N H A A RIE - REM R E W
mIA R FEED IR Z B U ARTA &
SE - RESUATFEEIRZE®
BE BNERBEREMEMSTE R
TREMER BN —HEEBER
AR ENES HERENRKLT
AEMTR -RFERMTAZHBR
BIEM LR -

BT eMITAZRARKEREZS
REROBREN T - BEEEEE
RERZERR UNHEREEARE
MBS
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b.

156

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

The Group's activities expose primarily to the financial
risks of changes in interest rates, foreign currency
exchange rates and change in prices (see below).

(i)  Foreign currency risk
The Group undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies which are
different from US$ and RMB, the functional
currency of the respective group entities.

The carrying amount of the Group’s monetary
assets, monetary liabilities and inter-group
receivables and payables denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of
the relevant group entities at the reporting date
are as follows:

37. €T H &)
b.

CREMEERBRRBEE)

T 5 BB

AEE 2 EBF BRI TR RIMNERE
REHELRARARERES AR
(RT3 -

(i) SMEEE B

REBZETRHANNEHE
ZEINESHEEEERER
BEXTRAREAINEE -

MR|EH - UEESEEERIE
EMAINEBHEZAEEEY
BE B¥aBErEEAQFMN
JE WK I8 % 8 A5 R 2 BRTEE AR
T

Liabilities Assets

&fE aE

2021 2022 2021
—E-—F Z—ZE__ —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TERT TATT

865,278 124,516 119,845
177,073 12,594 6,679

- 5,694 268,052
948,634 246,395 278,102

2022
—s=-=
HK$'000
FET
The Group AEH

HKS BT 2,600,554
JPY H 80,546
RMB AR -
usD ETT 452,920

Inter-company AT B

balances

HKS T 4,515,205
RMB AR 41,278
UsSD ET 225,039

5,948,701 5,733,923 7,031,303
90,313 1,095,002 4,259,608
874,911 194,701 286,106

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M EHRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ—_ZT__H+_A=+—HAILFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

37. €T H &)
b. £RERSEEEREEE)

Market risk (Continued) i R (&)

(i)  Foreign currency risk (Continued) (i) ShEsERE (&)
Sensitivity analysis HEE ST
The following table indicates the approximate TRETHREBBEEERZY
change in the Group's profit after tax for the year fEEE (BT ARE) LK
in response to reasonably possible change in the ’%lﬁ’\iﬁﬁ‘: AEEEKNRRE 28
functional currency of the relevant group entities e eI AEES o m

i.e. US$ or RMB to the relevant currencies which
the Group has significant exposure at the
reporting date. Since HK$ are pegged to US$
under the Linked Exchange Rate System, the
management does not expect significant foreign
currency exposure in relation to the exchange rate
fluctuation between HK$ and US$. The Group
mainly exposes to foreign currency risks other

%ﬁ$%@$$ﬁﬂ&ﬁﬂ%@
EZBAOES - AR RBHEE
KH|EATET TS EEE
BT e HREMBITEETE
KRE 2 EAINERR - KEH
ERARERTTAININE Z B

than US$.
2022 AOVA

—E_— - —F
US$/RMB Increase  US$/RMB Increase
strengthens (decrease) strengthens  (decrease)
(weakens) in profit (weakens) in profit

Ern/ Erx/

AR gl AREE il
HFE(RE) ®|MOHED) AEEZE) BNCHDS)
HK$°000 HK$'000
THxT T
JPY H 8% 4,582 3% 4,308
(8%) (4,582) (3%) (4,308)
RMB AR 8% (71,430) 3% (112,194)
(8%) 71,430 (3%) 112,194
usD = 8% 15,970 3% 31,839
(8%) (15,970) (3%) (31,839)

As set out in note 25, at the end of the reporting
period, the Group had foreign currency forwards
and cross currency swap contract which also
expose the Group to currency fluctuation risks.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

FRINH EE 25 PTEL - MEEHIR -
AEEFBINEERIRZIXRER
=H - BURSEE S INE R B
|§ﬁ: o

EEEBRR  BRFERZARRK

ERBRANFAZER  SREED
4 B A SMNE R R N BRI -
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
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b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank deposits, fixed-
rate bank borrowing, lease liabilities, consideration
payable (note 20) and bonds payable. The Group is
also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk due to
the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest
rate on bank balances and variable-rate bank and
other borrowings (see notes 27 and 30 for details).
The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR and
LIBOR arising from the Group’'s HK$ and USD
denominated borrowings and the fluctuation of
Benchmark Loan Rate arising from the Group's
RMB denominated borrowings. The management
considers the exposure to interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances is insignificant due to the
low interest rate. The Group currently does not
use any derivative contract to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. However, the management of
the Company will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise. The
Group will negotiate with the banks of the relevant
bank loans and closely monitor if there are any
significant modification gains or losses should the
interest rate benchmark for these loans change
resulting from the reform on application of the
amendments.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate
benchmarks has been undertaken globally to
replace some interbank offered rates (“IBORs")
with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details of
the impacts on the Group’s risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark
reform and the progress towards implementation
of alternative benchmark interest rates are set out
under “interest rate benchmark reform” in this
note.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. @MIR @)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2MEMRETEEERBEK(E)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) Wiz A (&)
(ii)  Interest rate risk (Continued) (i) FIEER(E)
Sensitivity analysis HEE ST

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
liability outstanding at the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis point
(2021: 100 basis point) increase or decrease is
used which represents management’'s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2021:
100 basis point) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2022
would decrease/increase by HK$52,864,000
(2021: HK$35,009,000).

Other price risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from investments in listed equity securities
measured at FVTPL.

Price risk sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risks at the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 15% (2021: 15%) higher/
lower, the post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2022 would increase/decrease by
HK442,000 (2021: HK$573,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL.

AN BURE 24T DR F BERTT
BRZF KRR MET ° 22T
IBRERRERE2F 2 EERE
HWARWEMHER - NAF]TyER
1008 F(ZF=—%F : 100841)
2B REERELF
KA pe IR AEEBEDL 25
fly o

s ¥ & EF T #1008 F (=
T—F 1002%T) MATEE
hEEREFTE  KXEEREE
R HF+ZRA=t+—HILF
& 2 Bt 1& % Fl i " 4 1 i
52,864,000 47T (=T = —4 -
35,009,000/ 7T) °

H ft B4 AR
ARERERERIARNATFE
i B2 ETRABSEL LR
AEEER °

Bt RRE T
AT SREDH TR BER R E B
ZBAERERMETE

AR AEBE EF THK15% (=
T-—F:15%) AIEE_-F
——E+-—A=t+—RIEEZ
RERFERARBRARAFEE
IR eRMEEZ AFEEED
i 1% 0,35 4> 442,000 T (=
T~ —4 : 573,000/87C) °
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
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b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to perform an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group had concentration of credit risk as 9% (2021:
7%) of total trade receivables was due from the Group's
largest trade debtor, which is a company located in the
PRC.

In order to minimise credit risk, the management of the
Group promptly monitors determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other reviewing procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation.

With respect of credit risk arising from other
receivables, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL individually for significant and
credit-impaired balances and collectively for the
remaining balances. For the collective assessment, the
balances are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to the Group’s internal
credit ratings. The Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection
with payments, and concluded that credit risk inherent
in the Group’s remaining outstanding other receivables
that are not credit-impaired is insignificant. In addition,
other receivables consist of a large number of
counterparties which do not give rise to significant
concentration of credit risk.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

R EETR
Group A

AR

Group B

B#

Group C

cH

Group D

D&

Group E

Ef8

Description

The counterparty has a low risk of default based
on historical repayment record and has a good
reputation

REBEENGSE  HFHFZENRRRE
BEARUEE

The counterparty has higher creditability but
sometime repays after due dates

HFHARRREE  HEASBRHER

The counterparty usually settles after due date
with a higher risk of default
HFHRFTRIMBRETEE 2N

uu}

E

53

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

AEBBTAELREERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
ARBRTEBAGRENBRE -

i 28 & (B 78 BRI K AT B Ui )

—=EF-

37. €T H &)

b. LHREAREEBEEREE#E)

EEERRRERTE(E)
AEB AR EERRFATHEERE

AR

Trade receivables

FE W fRIE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

EHEHEREL -
BEERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
PHATRHEREREX -
EEERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
FHIREEREX -
EEERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
FHIREIGEREL -
BEERE

Amount is written off

MIEERETER

Other financial
assets/other item

HitteEE
Htd g

12m ECL -
not credit-impaired

2B AEHERER -
BEERE

12m ECL -
not credit-impaired
12 AFEEEREL -
EEERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
FHIREEREX -
EEERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
FHRBEREX -
BEERE

Amount is written off

MIHBHEETER
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. £MIRAE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TEREM A EBBEETRBEH
Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL BEIEZeREEMAS ZZER
assessment: fax

External Internal Gross carrying
Notes credit rating  credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
W HHEETR AREETR 2@AREHAEBRERARL FHAE
2022 2021
—B-CfF ZT-F

-

HK$'000 HK$'000
8% TER

Financial assets at FVTOCI
REMZEREALTEER

ZEREE
Trade receivables 24 N/A (Note i) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 255,865 294,458
JEMERTE TR i) PHEACREL (BEER)
Bills receivables 24 Al-Bal N/A 12m ECL 734,780 240,389
EREE oyl REAEREREX
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBERATEZEREE
Restricted bank deposits 27 A2-Baal N/A 12m ECL 844,894 444,847
RBHRITER oyl REAEREREX
Bank balances 27  A2-Bal N/A 12m ECL 858,397 1,207,667
BRI TER NEARHERER
Amount due from an associate 26 NA Group A 12m ECL 15,154 -
JEM & A RIFIE NER A REAEREREX
Trade receivables 23 NA (Note i) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 3,168,095 4,140,161
JEMERTE TR i) PHEACREL (BEER)
Group D Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 19,230 642,533
D PHBEHERBL(EERNE)
Other receivables 23 NA (Note i) 12m ECL 103,369 107,633
bR TEm GiED) NEARHERER
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. @MIR @)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes:

i For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. Except for debtors which are credit-impaired,
the Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by debtors’
aging.

ii. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for
its customers because these customers consist of a
large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision
matrix as at 31 December 2022 within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). As at 31 December 2022, the debtors
with credit-impaired amounted to HK$19,230,000 (2021:
HK$642,533,000) are assessed individually, and the rest
of debtors amounted to HK$3,168,095,000 (2021:
HK$4,140,161,000) are assessed under a provision
matrix based on internal credit rating.

FFEH o FANERARIA

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)

EEERRBETE(E)
B3 -

EYFRETE  NEBCRAEEME
BERRE IR EOER2HEME
REKRTEEEEE - RHERERRE
ZREWERFRSN - AN BRI AR
ZIREBRDBZBBEMEEZFRELZ
EHERBEX -

i. RABEERBERMS  AREEA
BEER T HERRR B TS HERIAR
BEREEM -

EAAEEFERREEESY R
REEFBEWERZRRIHES
FZRE BRAZSEEFTEZA
EBFHERARARBEZNHERS  MiZ
B FHRRREPRIEA LIEREEH
NRzeen o THRIRHEEBREWKRE
EZZEERBRER  ZEERTR
BERAT-_—_F+_-_A=+—HHA
HERERABX (B EERE) 2 &
BEEmETHGE R T - —F+ =
A=+—08 " %&%19,230,000 7T (=
T~ —4 :642,533,0008 7T) & H IR
ZERE 2 FE R BR FR T (@ Bl i 3 17 7T
i MHE % A%3,168,095,000%E 7T(—
T~ — 14 :4,140,161,00078 7T ) 2 JE
IR BR R B E R A EBE B AR R IR B E
AEFE TR ©
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. @MIR @)
CREMEERBRRBEE)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b.
policies (Continued)

EEERRRERTE(E)
ARETAAE

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Gross carrying amount

2022

—E_C
Average Trade Loss Average Loss
lossrate  receivables  allowance loss rate allowance

THERE  RURE  BEAE

FOERR  BURE  BRBR
HK$'000  HK$'000
TRT TRT

Current (not past due) BN (R ) 0.65% 2,611,248 16,973 068% 3,741,424 25,442
1-60 days past due BRH1Z60A 0.72% 399,203 2,874 0.82% 287,171 2,355
61-90 days past due BRH61E908 4,64% 33,131 1,537 342% 37,874 1,295
More than 90 days past due  E#E904 | 7.00% 124513 8,710 9.88% 73,692 7,282

3,168,095 30,094 4,140,161 36,374

164

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

In the opinion of the Directors, the trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period which have been past
due over 90 days are not considered as in default based
on good repayment records for those customers and
continuous business relationship with the Group.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. @MIR @)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2MEMRETEEERBEK(E)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)
Gross carrying amount (Continued) REEE (&)
Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade JE U BRIE R (B 1 2 B

receivables

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2 HITEH ZHITEH
EREBEX SREX
(BEERE) (FEEHEE) #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET
As at 1 January 2021 RZE-_—F—AF—H 46,166 600,037 646,203
Changes due to financial R-EBE-_—F—H—H
instruments recognised EREMIAS|IE
as at 1 January 2021: pd-LE
— Transfer to credit- —EREEERE
impaired (4,228) 4,228 -
— Impairment losses — EERREBE
recognised 686 55,561 56,247
— Impairment losses — ERLEREREE
reversed (39,656) - (39,656)
New financial assets originated #7144 & E 32,848 - 32,848
Written off b6z - (18,661) (18,661)
Exchange realignment bE W = 558 1,368 1,926
As at 31 December 2021 RZE-—F
+=—A=+—H 36,374 642,533 678,907
Changes due to financial RZEBE-_—_F—H—H
instruments recognised RS T BB
as at 1 January 2022: 2
— Transfer to credit- —EREEERE
impaired (3) 3 -
— Impairment losses — BHRREEE
recognised 878 152 1,030
— Impairment losses — BEBERESRE
reversed (32,789) (30,708) (63,497)
New financial assets originated $71% & gt & & 26,727 - 26,727
Written off b6t - (588,640) (588,640)
Exchange realignment FE % (1,093) (4,110) (5,203)
As at 31 December 2022 A= =
+=-A=+—8 30,094 19,230 49,324
T FFR o FAEBRERAR 165
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables (Continued)

Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are
mainly due to:

37. €T H &)
b. £RERSEEEREEE)

EEERRRERTE(E)
RREAEME ()
R R (B 5 2 B8 (48)

FEYSRREIRBREES T EMR

2022 2021

—E_C “E-—fF
(Decrease) increase (Decrease) increase
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
ZHREGERABACEL) BN 2HBHEREXCAL)EN

Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-

impaired impaired impaired impaired
EEEHE BEEHE BEERE BEERE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

&7 FE7 T T

Trade receivables with gross ~ BREI#E{E/479,000/5 T2
carrying amount of HK$79,000  EUMBER (=T = —4 :
(2021: HK$59,789,000) 59,789,000 /%7T)
defaulted and transferred RAREEEEERE
to credit-impaired

New trade receivables with FEBEs

gross carrying amount of 2,899,086,000/% 7T

HK$2,899,086,000 (ZE=—F

(2021: HK$4,136,148,000) 4,136,148,0007 1)
TR

Settlement of trade receivables & EBEEAEA
with gross carrying amount of 30,708,000 7T
HK$30,708,000 (2021: Nil) (ZZE-—-F /)1
JE AR 3R

(3) 3 (4,228) 4,228

26,727 - 32,848 -

(30,708) - -

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is
information indicating that there is no realistic prospect
of recovery or when the trade receivables are long
overdue.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. £MIRAE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)
Gross carrying amount (Continued) ERmEaE (i2)
Movement in the allowance for impairment of other H 1t JE Y 0T (B e E)

receivables

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)

2 HITEHA 2 HITEH
EREBEX SREX

(B=ERE) (EEERE) Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&IT FH&TT F&IT
As at 1 January 2021 RZE-—F—H—H - 286,080 286,080
Changes due to financial RZZE-_—F—AH—H
instruments recognised REMITESIE
as at 1 January 2021: 2 EE
— Written-off — J8H - (286,080) (286,080)
As at 31 December 2021 RZE-—FK
and 2022 —E-F
+=A=+—~ - - -
Changes in the loss allowance for other receivables is Hi B EREBSEBEHEEAR

mainly due to:

2022 2021
—E-CE —E-—F
Increase (decrease) Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
ZHREBEREAEMAL) 2HEBEHERAEXENCRD

Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credn—
impaired impaired \mpa\red impaired
EEEHE BERERE BEEER BEERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' OOO HK$'000
TERT TERT THT BT

No other receivables written-off —Z = — i JmE M E

in 2022 (2021: other B (ZE—F:

receivables with carrying FEEEAR

amount of HK$286,080,000 286,080,000 8 L&)

written-off as defaulted) H A FEUGEOR R RS - - - (281,901)
The Group writes off another receivable when there is ERERBRER EETREWEHE
information indicating that there is no realistic prospect e IE@HHERHT 7K £ [E i 5
of recovery or when the other receivables are long H b JfE WA
overdue.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

168

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$4,753
million. Having taken into account the factors set out in
note 3, the Directors consider the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to meet in full its financial
obligations as and when they fall due for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Group's liquidity position is monitored closely by
the management of the Company.

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
its current and expected liquidity requirements regularly
and ensuring sufficient liquid cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from reputable financial
institutions to meet the Group's liquidity requirements
in the short and long term. The management of the
Company also monitors the forecast and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents adequate to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flow. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rates, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. £MIRAE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEEER(E)
In addition, the following table details the Group's AN TRHAEBEBETES T
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial liabilities. The BEMEZRDEESDT - TRIIIR
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted BHENBBEEE ZOTET A2 AR
gross inflows and outflows on those derivatives that MARTRLAEMRRE - AEBEITE
require gross settlement. The liquidity analysis for the SHTEZARBESDMIIBEASYL
Group's derivative financial instruments are prepared FEHHGR  LIYERNEEERAES
based on the contractual maturities as the management HEBEHENEBEITETAERSRE
considers that the contractual maturities are essential ZHRHEETDEE -
for an understanding of the timing of the cash flows of
derivatives.

On Total Carrying

Weighted  demand or undiscounted amount
average 0to3 46 112 Over cash at
interest rate months months months 3 years flows 31 December

i

5233 8B t-B=1-R
NEYHWE  §5=@R DEAER tEt=@A  -Ecf  CESf MAsF  RESE  JKEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TER TER FERL AR

2022 kSt -3
Non-derivative instruments HTEIR
Trade and other payables ENEAREMERTE 6,243,429 - - 42,986 2540 208 6291008 6291008
Consideration payable ERRE 330 - - 635,559 - - - 635,559 615,256
Amounts due to an associate ERBENAZE 528,618 - - - - - 528,618 528,618
Fived interest rate bank borowings & 83R{73 407 385,791 124,639 42331 49233 65,169 - 667,169 646,782
Variable interest rate bank and FERMERRABER
other borrowings 4.26 2,252,768 1,470,998 1,312,818 654,944 1,321,240 - 7,072,768 6,618,745
Lease liabilities HEsE 112 28944 21,951 45,558 46,994 9,605 34 159,092 147219
9,439,550 1,623,594 2,096,272 794,157 1,398,554 2,081 15,354,214 14,847,688
Derivative — gross settlement 74 — BELE
Forsign currency forward MNERS
—inflow —RA - 51,625 - - - - 51,625 51,894
—outflow — i - (50,000) - - - - (50,000) (50,000)
- 1,625 - - - - 1,625 1,894
Cross currency swap RNEHES
—inflow —EA - 50,331 - - - - 50,331 50,594
—outflow — ik = (51,624) - = o = (51,624) (51,624)
o (1,293) - = o = (1,293) (1,030)

T FFR o FERNEBERAE 169



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

fn e M B R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 « BZ—Z__F+_-_A=+—HALFE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. @MIR @)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEEER(E)

On Total Carrying

Weighted demand or undiscounted amount
average 0to3 486 7-12 3 Over at
interest rate months months months ear 3years 31 December

170

Uil I g e it 2 4 f
HK$'000 HK$1000 (s 500
T T AT L TATL Thr
2021 —E--&
Non-derivative instruments FETR
Trade and other payables ENBERAERE 8,602,084 - - 88,208 179 - 8,592,085 8,692,085
Consideration payable ERKE 400 - 183450 305,750 - - - 489,200 472318
Amounts due to associates EHBEAREE 679,515 - - - - - 679,515 679,515
Fived Interest rate bank EERTER
bortowings 450 682,058 606,279 633,974 52250 51,125 - 205686 1962608
Variable interest rate bank and SARFREMER
other bortowings 37 2598276 614,204 153189 37,04 213846 - 42653 4153898
Bonds payable FEftfE% 527 - 9,520 370,108 - - - 379,628 371,99
Lease labilties BEaE 712 1085 030 78590 112511 49850 9887 334,035 30,161
12502788 1455795 1841611 619,993 316,614 9887 16746688 16532581
Derivative — gross settlement fie—#BEE
Foreign currency forward SERE
—inflow —&A 9,569 - - - - - 9,569 9429
—outfow — 96,013) . - - - - 96,013) (96,013)
(44 . - - - - {144) (584)
Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause is ERREREEGRRZBITERGA
included in the “on demand or 0 to 3 months” time J:L_leﬁﬁ AT Hﬁngzjz%r\ & A
band in the above maturity analysis. The aggregate RN - ZERTERZEERES
carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted to 616,014,000 7T ( - F - — F:
HK$616,014,000 (2021: HK$959,990,000). Taking into 959,990,000/ 7T ) ° %J’%é%%ﬁzf

account the Group's financial position, the Directors do
not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The Directors believe that such bank loans
will be repaid within six months (2021: three months)
after the end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the table
below:
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. @MIR @)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEEER(E)

Maturity Analysis — Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled repayments
A% - REFRERAARERRERTZEAER
Total
Over3 undiscounted
years cash outflows
ARRE
iht e
HK$'000 HK$'000

0to3 46 1-12 1-2 23
months months months years years

Carrying
amount

22=fiA
HK$'000

BEAER tEt=fiA
HKS000  HKS'000

-EmE
HK$'000

B8=F
Hh$ 000

A AL AL TERL BT P TEL TRL

31 December 2022 “E2-CE+-B=t-H 528,652

98,954

627,606 616,014

31 December 2021 CEC-E+CfSt-H 964,731

964,731 959,990

Interest rate henchmark reform

As listed in note 30, several of the Group’s HIBOR/
LIBOR bank loans may be subject to the interest rate
benchmark reform. The Group is closely monitoring the
market and managing the transition to new benchmark
interest rates, including announcements made by the
relevant IBOR regulators.

LIBOR

As at 31 December 2022, all LIBOR settings have been
either ceased to be provided by any administrator or no
longer be representative, except for US dollar settings
(other than the 1-week and 2-month settings) which will
be ceased immediately after 30 June 2023.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
(“HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The
multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong,
whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group’s
bank loans linked to HIBOR will continue till maturity
and hence, not subject to transition.

FlREEYE

NP EEB0FTY  AEEME TEAR
TRZEFEBBERITRER BRI
ERAIRERELETMERELERE - K
SEIEZYBETISL EE RMELE
MEEE  BREABRITRARFR
KEERBEMAENAE -

M RITRIE#H S

R-EBE-_—_F+-_A=+—8 A
BERTEAEFETEETHHEM
EIEEREXTHAEAERRME  H#E
TEB(—ARMEREBRIN HRH

BT -_—FNA=Z+HETER
,f/\o
FHRITREHRE

HARBILRRFIEB(ABITERF
BEH) ERBEEARBERBERT
RSB - B ESBI& EFBIRT
RAERE - BEFRBEZNELA &
BIRITRZESR BEB TR R FIHEE
AT - AEBEFBRITRERE
Bz RITEFTREEREREIN
R ZRNIBIE
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

172

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Interest rate henchmark reform (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Risks arising from the interest rate benchmark reform
Interest rate basis risk

Interest rate basis risk may arise if a non-derivative
instrument and the derivative instrument held to
manage the interest risk on the non-derivative
instrument transition to alternative benchmark
rates at different times. This risk may also arise
where back-to-back derivatives transition at
different times. The Group will monitor this risk
and transact basis interest rate risk if required.

Progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates

As part of the Group's risk management for
transition, new contracts entered into by the
Group are linked to interest rates which are not
subject to reform to the extent feasible.
Otherwise, the Group ensured the relevant
contracts include detailed fallback clauses clearly
referencing the alternative benchmark rate and
the specific triggering event on which the clause
is activated.

The following table shows the total amounts of
outstanding contracts and the progress in
completing the transition to alternative benchmark
rates. The amounts of financial liabilities are
shown at their carrying amounts.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Interest rate henchmark reform (Continued)
(ii)  Progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022

Financial instruments
prior to transition

BEANEMIA

Non-derivative financial
liabilities

FTEERER

Bank loans linked to
USD LIBOR
BETRABITRAERBEM
HRITER

Bank loans linked to HIBOR
BEBRITRERE
BRBRTER

As at 31 December 2021

Financial instruments
prior to transition
BEANEEIA

Non-derivative financial
liabilities

FTEERER

Bank loans linked to
USD LIBOR
BETRABITAER A
HRITER

Bank loans linked to HIBOR
BEBRITRERSH K
BITER

Carrying
amounts/
notional
amounts

BHE 2&%2HE
HK$'000

TR

Maturing in

HAEH

2023 153,940
—E-=F
2023-2025 2,490,325
—E-=EZ

—ECRE

Carrying

amounts/

notional

Maturing in amounts

BHED

REE/ 2508

HK$'000
FHT

2022 1,682,040
—E-F
2022 817,410
—E-CF

b.

37. €T H &)
ctREREEEERBE(EZ)

FIREEYE(E)

(ii)

Hedge
accounting

A BEF|EMTHER ()

R-EBE-ZH+-A=+—8H

Transition progress for
financial instruments

HHEHEE SRMIANBEER

N/A

TER

N/A
TEH

Hedge
accounting

LIBOR will continue till June 2023
and expect to transit afterwards

BHELRARABTEERS  EE
“EC=FAAUEHEABE

HIBOR will continue till maturity
BELRBBRTEERS
BEI8m

RZE-—F+-_A=+—H

Transition progress for
financial instruments

HREHEE SRIANBILR

N/A

@R

N/A
Tam

LIBOR will continue till maturity

BERRRIBTRERE
E2HR

HIBOR will continue till maturity
BELRBEBRTRAERE
e
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. &#MIAE)
c¢. Fair value measurements of financial c. STERMIEZAFEETE

instruments

This note provides information about how the Group IR ABAEENOMETE TE

determines fair values of various financial assets and PREERSHMARCZATEBCE

financial liabilities. ¥ e

(i) Fairvalue of the Group's financial assets and financial (i) BREEEEUQAFEEFNEZAX
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring EEsHMEEREHABZAT
basis EE
The Group's financial assets at FVTPL, trade and MRERERKR - KREEBZRIBE
bills receivables at FVTOCI and derivative financial NATFEEIRZEREE - K
instruments are measured at fair value at the end HEm2mEb AR EEMEZ
of each reporting period. The following table gives FEURBRTE K B ZHE A ROTA &
information about how the fair values of these BT ADEAFEBEE - TK
financial assets and financial liabilities are BERNNETHESMEEN
determined. TRBECATEEZER -

Financial assets/ Fair value Valuation techniques and

financial liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs
SREE/SRERE RUATEHZATLER AVEEBREE HEFERIERAYE
31 December 31 December

2022 2021
T

—_—

+=A=t-H +-A=1t—H

Financial assets at FVTPL — listed Assets - Assets - Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
equity shares in Hong Kong HK$3,689,000 HK$4,533,000 active market
RERNATEEIR REE BE- BE- BI1R REETSH BE
—REELT ERERS 3,689,000/ 7T 4,533,000 7T
Trade and bills receivables Assets - Assets - Level 2 Discounted cash flow method
at FVTOCI HK$990,645,000 HK$534,847,000
The key input is market
interest rate.
REMZERGENATEER BE- BE- Ffg ReRENHRE
bl LGN ES 990,645,000 534,847,000 T
FEHAHBATIZNE o
Foreign currency forwards (Note) Assets - Liabilities—  Level 2 Discounted cash flow method
HK$1,894,000 HK$584,000
The key inputs are foreign
exchange spot rates and
forward rates and interest
rate curves.
SNERE (P3T) BE- BE- F2B BemERRE
1,894,000 ¢ 584,000 &L
FEHARBRMNERE RiR
I o T | R
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value measurements of financial c.
instruments (Continued)

(i)  Fairvalue of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

Financial assets/
financial liabilities

SHEE/SHAR

Fair value as at
RUAT BBz AFEE
31 December 31 December
2021
—E-F
+-A=t+-H

2022

—F——

———

t=A=t-H

Cross currency swap (Note) Liabilities - N/A
HK$1,030,000

QXA () Bf- TR
1,030,000 7

Note: The discounted cash flow method uses only
observable market inputs.

There is no transfer between different levels of
the fair value hierarchy for the current year.

—=— —

=

37. €T H &)

EMITAZAVEESEE)

BREFEEUATEEFEZEX
SEEMEEREMERZAT
BE(E)

(i)

Fair value Valuation techniques and
hierarchy key inputs
ALEEBALE REFERIZAALE

Level 2 Discounted cash flow method

The key inputs are foreign
exchange spot rates and
forward rates and interest
rate curves.

£ RemEniE

FEHGABBAIMERE RE

HAR A o I £ o

fid: MRRERSEEEMUTEE
mSEARE -

RAFERFEEBRGEEZT
BIEPNEEZ:S= Y2
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

(i)  Fairvalue of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 and 2021

C.

37. €T H &)

EMITAZAVEESEE)

(i) EEEEREUNFEEFEZAR
SELHMEERERMBEZAT
BE )
RIE_—FR-_F-_—#+=
BE+—HZATFEEEREE

2022
—g-—
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
14 B2 ERE a%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT TET TR
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL ~ WMEZARA FBETIHR
JERBE 3,689 - - 3,689
Trade and bills receivables P EH 2 E AL F
at FVTOCI BEFIR 2 EUIRIR
REWEE - 990,645 - 990,645
Derivative financial THESBMTIA
instruments - 1,894 - 1,894
3,689 992,539 - 996,228
Financial liabilities SRAE
Derivative financial fTHESRIA
instruments - 1,030 - -

Level 1

F1R
HK$'000
THET

2021

— i —
=T —
=

Level 2
F248
HK$'000
T

Level 3 Total
ERE Gl

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT TR

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL  RMBzS LA A T (BIETIEE
LEREE 4,533 - - 4,533
Trade and bills receivables  REMZEUWEIARTF
at FVTOCI B8Rz EREEE
REWEE - 534,847 - 534,847
4,533 534,847 - 539,380
Financial liabilities tREE
Derivative financial TEERTHE
instruments - 584 - 584
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required)

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors consider
that the carrying amounts of all the financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

As at 31 December 2021, except for bonds
payable with a fair value of HK$374,329,000
based on quoted market price that is categorised
into Level 1 fair value hierarchy, the Directors
consider that the carrying amounts of the other
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

38. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessor

Rental income with fixed monthly rentals earned from
property during the year amounted to HK$17,820,000 (2021:
HK$13,581,000).

Certain properties held for rental purposes have committed
leases for the next five years.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

37. €T H &)
c. SRIAECZAFEENEE)

(i) LIIERERELEUQNFEEE
ZAEELRHEERERERZ
ATEEMEAEEE A TFEEE
&)
R-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—8"
EERENEE U RRIZEH
AR 2 FIBESRLE EREH
BEZEMERALAFEERE
2o

WZE-Z—F+=-A=+—H"
B A F{E & /374,329,000 7T
BREMSHRESAZIRRFE
BEEXZENESRI  EEREB
RERE ISR RIR S S A A5 BR
TEMEMEERSMBEZR
AEAEAFEERS -

38. EEWIRKIE
FEBESHBA

AEERBRZWERAREBEABS R A
17,820,000/8 7t ( =& = — 4 : 13,581,000
BT e

ETHRHELREREZMERKRAFHHNED
A ZHEE -

AT RS &EERHEENK :

2022 2021
=== —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET T
Within one year —FER 8,203 9,447
In the second year REZF 5,608 7,745
In the third year RE=F 5,225 5,620
In the fourth year REMF 5,192 6,841
In the fifth year RERF 251 1,860
24,479 31,513
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39.

40.

41.

178

COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for but not

39.

*iE

2022

2021
—E - —F
HK$'000
FETT

HK$"000
FTET

B R - BE RRED T

provided in the consolidated financial BREGEV AT EEL

statements in respect of acquisition BARYH

of property, plant and equipment 199,383 308,121
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 40. B TEFIFHE

All of the Group’'s Hong Kong employees are required to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. The Group is
required to contribute 5%, while the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their salaries to the scheme to the
maximum of HK$1,500 (2021: HK$1,500) per month for each
employee.

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the salaries of their employees to the state-
managed retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme. Total
expense recognised in profit or loss are disclosed in note 11.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At the end of the reporting period, government grants of
HK$13,545,000 (2021: HK$15,475,000) were included in
trade and other payables, to subsidise the acquisition of
property, plant and machinery for scientific research
development. The amount has been treated as deferred
income and will be transferred to profit or loss over the useful
lives of the relevant assets. This policy resulted in a credit to
profit or loss in the current year of HK$2,552,000 (2021:
HK$2,770,000).

Incentive subsidies of HK$163,538,000 (2021:
HK$110,657,000) have been received in the current year to
encourage the operations of the PRC subsidiaries for the
development on advance technology and export sales. The
subsidiaries have complied with application rules of the
incentives and, therefore, the Group recognised the grants in
profit or loss.
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41.

REFZ2BEAREBHBLIEHIERTE
LETE c REBMAELS% K MEE TN
BEZTEWER EFMo% 25K §4E
BB AHZESA16008T(Z T - —
F:1,500/87T) °

RETEAREELAM - FEIMERRA
AE B R MR INEME EELAE RN EE
BHME T BO L 2R - NREEBLEKE
NEtEIpT B 2 BEE R R AT EIVEL AR
Ko MIBER P HER AL STEM FE 11 3R EE -

By T 3R Rb

RBREHKR - REERELHKEDE - K
ERh#EULFAREMTER Z KT ZB
13,545,000 7T ( — Z — — 4 : 15,475,000
PETC) B A FE A BR TE K EL At A< FRIE o XL
HEWRBELTW AL IZBBEEE 2 A1 F A
FHIERZIEE - WRRBRAFET AR
28 A25520008 T(ZF - —4:
2,770,000;87T) o

AEFWRBT BB R WE QA RELE
Rt RINEER 5 ERERME DO E)R
A£163,638,000% Jt( = & = — #F:
110,657,000/87T) - Z LM BRI EETH
BEE 2 FERAR - At - AEBERIERHE
RAEZER -
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42. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash

flows as cash flows from financing activities.

42. MREDMEEARZHIR

TRANAEERELDAELAE LR
B BREASKIFRESED - MELTPAE
FREDRSRECHARRESRESNA
SEREARERERDPERMETDEL L
RERE e

Bank
and other Lease Bonds Dividend Interest
borrowings liabilities PEVEL( PEVEL]( PEVEL]( Total
RITR

iR HESE Eft &S Ef RS EfFIE CH

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THL THL THL THL THL THL

30) (note 32)

At 1 January 2021 w-Z-—-%-F—-H 5,512,049 391,752 400,596 1,258 28,889 6,334,544
Financing cash flows HERSNE (3,964,389) (161,643) (65,658) (164,461) (298,956)  (4,655,107)
Currency realignment CEES 97,586 8,691 15,650 - 346) 121,581
Interest expenses FEFEY - 25,956 21,408 - 293,891 341,255
Acquisition of subsidiary WK BAR 974,704 - - - - 974,704
Dividend declared BERRE - - - 164,461 - 164,461
Non-cash transactions (note 43)  3E384 % 5 (f343) 3,496,556 35,405 - - - 353191
At 31 December 2021 WZE--F5+-A=+t—-H 6116506 300,161 371,9% 1,258 23,478 6,813,399
Financing cash flows HERSRE (1787,084)  (152752)  (366,096)  (328,073)  (323203)  (2,957,208)
Currency realignment ERRR (301,691) (19,621) (19,163) - 4,125 (336,350)
Interest expenses MERZ - 15,938 13,263 - 309,345 338,546
Dividend declared BEREE - - - 328,073 - 328,073
Non-cash transactions (note 43) 3k 4% 5 (i 43) 3,237,796 3,553 - - - 3241349
At 31 December 2022 WZE--F+-A=+-H 7265527 147,279 - 1,258 13,745 7,427,809

43. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, short-term
borrowings on bills discounted with recourse of

43. EXEBREXH

HE-_T-—_F+-_A=t+—HULHEE A
BERNEZ BhIR N 2 S EIE E 68,489,000 8

HK$68,489,000 (2021: HK$23,551,000) have been settled TT(=—ZFE=——4% : 23,551,000 7C) B F BBL

through bills receivables discounted to the relevant financial

institutions.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, bank borrowings
as trust receipt loans of HK$3,306,285,000 (2021:
HK$3,520,107,000) represent the payments to the suppliers

by the relevant banks directly.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, right-of-use assets
for new lease agreements entered into by the Group for land
and buildings and plant and machinery with a total amount of

AREEREARRSRMEESS -

BHE-_ZT-_—_F+-_A=+—HILFEE ' 1E
A=t W IE B SRR 17 & 5% 3,306,285,000
Bt (=&~ —4 :3,520,107,0007% 7t ) 5
ERRITEERAHEREL MR -

HE-_ZT-_—_F+ZA=+—HLEFE &K
SEBAT L E R 2 T3 RIEFIA KR
BN %23 R 4218 /3,553,000 L (=F

HK$3,553,000 (2021: HK$35,405,000) and the same amount — —4% : 35,405,000 70) 2 {EAEEER

of lease liabilities were recognised.

HRsEZHERE -
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. REALTRS
Other than as disclosed in note 26 in these consolidated B A M BEHRMA 20T IREEI - AE
financial statements, the Group has following transactions EHEREEATEITUTRS -

with related parties.

(i) During the year, the Group entered into the following i) FA-RANEBHEBEQFFILATR
transactions with associates. 5 o
Associate Nature of transaction 2022 2021
N REME —=—= —E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Truly HZ Sales N/A R3E A 5,005*%
EF M HE
Purchase N/A 7EH 933,545*
RS
Interest income N/A & A 33,610%
FBUA
Expenses relating to short-term leases N/A 3E A 1,905*
EREHEE
Truly RS Sales 120,808 1,115
BEFCE HE
Purchase 1,415,069 1,686,151
Utility expenses 21,757 11,845
KEEB
Expenses relating to short-term leases 4,231 3,325
FREHEE W
* They represented the transactions for the period from 1 * HEEg-T-—F—A—BREKEE
January 2021 to date of acquisition of Truly HZ as disclosed FMEMZBIEHENRS - RHFE35
in note 35. WEE -
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STATEMENTS

44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(ii)

The remuneration of Directors and other members of
key management during the year were as follows:

44, REANTZ S (&)
iy AFEEEMHMFTEEEERKEZ
HEmT

2022

HK$°000
FERT

HK$'000
TAET

Short-term benefits PSEEE R 23,222 20,172
Post-employment benefits BB 2R A 99 97
23,321 20,269

The remuneration of Directors and key executives are
determined by the remuneration committee having
regard to the performance of individuals and market
trends.

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

(a)

General information of subsidiaries

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set
out below:

Nominal value of
issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
ERTRMEEER
BA/ZAMEREE

Place of
incorporation/
registration/

Name of subsidiary operation

aEfft

WEAREE

Truly Electronics Hong Kong HK$1,000,010
EHEF Bk 1,000,010 7T
Truly Instrument Limited Hong Kong HK$100
EHESERAF EE 100%7T
Truly Semiconductors Ltd Hong Kong HK$1,000
EH+EEERAF 0 1,00057
Truly Opto-electronics Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000
("Truly Opto ") (Note)
ERXEERAR(EFXED) EE 1,000,000/ 7
ik
Truly Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$872,894
EHIZERAR EE 872,894/ T

EERTBITHABZHMT i B
ZEE2EEARREMEZBERE
'_‘E_" o

=

=

45. FRFREEMBLFRH

MEARZ—REHR

RBERRARRERLEERFEZ
MBARZFHBWT

(a)

Proportion
ownership interest
held by the Company
LGt
PR

Principal activities

FREK

Trading of electronic calculators and
electronic components

EFHERRETIHES

100% 100% Trading of electric tooth brush and
health care products

BYTRIREARRERE S

100%

100% Trading of LCD products

REBEREEMES
98.9% 98.9% Trading of compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules and
touch panel
WRREEAE « BEGHRIEER
BRRES
100%

100% Trading of electronic components

EFIHES
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a)

182

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARERE

Place of
incorporation/
registration/
operation

BREEBY

Truly (USA) Inc. United States
of America
EFZARE
EHEFERAR* The PRC
EHEFERAR* ol
ERFEEERAR* The PRC
R+ EEERAR Lol
EHERCLE)BRAR* The PRC
EHESECLE)BBRAR* Lol
R ERL (Note) The PRC
R ER (PE) el
EHIZCLE)RABRAR* The PRC
EHIZCLE)RABERAR* el
EIXERRAR The PRC
ELTRERRAT FE
Truly HZ The PRC
ERIEM H
* wholly foreign owned enterprise

Nominal value of
issued and fully
paid ordinary
share capital/
registered capital
BERTRBREER
BRE/EREAEE

US$20,000
20,000%7T
US$137,500,000
137,500,000 7

US$498,300,000
498,300,000 7

US$1,000,000
1,000,000 7T

RMB368,769,402

AR 368,769,402 L

RMB290,000,000
AR 290,000,000 ¢

RMB200,000,000
AR 200,000,000 7

RMB2,682,641,157

AR2,682,641,157 7T

The legal forms of the above subsidiaries are all limited

liability companies.
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45. XLFERMBLARREH (&)

(a) KMBLTZ—RER(E)

Proportion
ownership interest
held by the Company
LGt
Fia R LAl
2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
98.9% 98.9%
100% 100%
98.9% 98.9%
76.5% 76.5%

Principal activities

TREK

Marketing of electronic calculators
BT ERTISEE

Manufacture of electronic calculators and
electronic components
SEBTHERRE TN

Manufacture of LCD products
SERRRETRRER

Manufacture of electric toothbrush and
health care products

SERHTRIREARRER

Manufacture of compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules and
touch panel

SUEMABIEA  BEHRIRER
B

Manufacture of electronic component
SESTRLI

Manufacture of electronic component
BBER LI

Development and production of active
matrix organic light emitting diode and
LCD product

REREERRERAREL_BER
REBETEEM

* SMNETEE

ERMBRARNEREAERBERE

ERA] -
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. XAFIEEMBLATEH &)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued) (a) MBLATRZ—HRER(E)

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
acquired 20.1% additional equity interest in Truly Opto from
other shareholders at a cash consideration of
RMB606,461,000 (equivalent to HK$752,125,000). The
effective interest of the Group in Truly Opto increased from
78.8% to 98.9%. An amount of HK$1,089,333,000 (being
the proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net
assets of Truly Opto) has been transferred to other reserves.
The difference of HK$337,208,000 between the
consideration paid by the Group and decrease in the non-
controlling interests, and the re-attribution of the relevant
reserves (including retained profits of HK$534,396,000 and
exchange reserve of HK$5,912,000) has been debited to
other reserves.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the result or assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Except for Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited and
Truly (USA) Inc., all other subsidiaries are indirectly held
by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities at the
end of both years except for{z F % & & {7 which has
issued bonds payable with an aggregate principal
amount of RMB300,000,000 as at 31 December 2021,
in which the Group has no interests.

Wit BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HLHF
B AEBEREMBREKEETRE
20.1% EEINEHE - MEREBAARKE
606,461,000 7t ( 18 & 7 752,125,000
BIL)- AEEBREMNAE 2
T B R78.8%1% £98.9% °
1,089,333,000 & 7T (AMEF K BE E
BRELFEZ IR Ao (higas) B8R
ZHEHMEE AREAIHZRER
I 4% A% 4 &5 0L 18 2 #= %8.337,208,000
BILTARBHARE(RERE T
534,396,000/ Jt K& Hh [E # &
5,912,000 70) BEE T AHMERE -

ERINMEZTRAT B EAREXELE
EZARRBMBAR - EER AT E MM
BRI ZFHBEHSFRERAER -

MA=FIEF AR QA K& Truly (USA) Inc.oh
FrEEMHMB AT EARAMERS -

BREMELBRNMVR-_Z-_—F+A=+—
H A& 4% A K% 300,000,000 7T 2 B 317
EMEZFMARBERE T I EERID - W
EFEEREMBARMEEAEEES
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

45. XLFERMBLARREH (&)

(b) EEEAFZREHZZFZENE
DA ZFHE

TREJNABEAERBER AL
EPFR2EMB AR ZFHIE

Name of subsidiary

HELARER

Place of
incorporation
and principal
place of business
SR LR
TEEXENY

Proportion of ownership
interests and voting
rights held by non-
controlling interests
MEEREREEZ
FERRERREELA
2022 2021
e : ,

—

(Loss)/profit
attributable to non-
controlling interests

FERRRHEE (BR)/2H
2022 2021

—E-C —E--F

HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TAL

Accumulated non-
controlling interests

Rt FERER
2022 2021
—E-C —E--F
HK$'000 HK$'000

47 Bt

ERXERR The PRC 1.1% 1.1% (3.869) 37,371 52,469 60,332
X ERR e
Truly HZ The PRC 235% 235% 4,837 15,285 298,749 316,794
EHEM e

968 52,656 351,218 377,126

Summarised financial information in respect of the
above subsidiary that has material non-controlling

B LK B A AR ERIEERRE
BZHMBEERBENT - THMBKE

interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

P EREEARRFELH 28R
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. XAFIEEMBLATEH &)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEERFEZERERZHZENE
have material non-controlling interests NEIZFHE (E)
(Continued)
Truly HZ and its subsidiaries BERAEMNEEMB AR
2022 2021
—E-= == 4=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Current assets A E 662,984 984,120
Non-current assets FErEEE 4,006,243 4,729,006
Current liabilities mHaE 3,399,565 4,121,229
Non-current liabilities FErEaE - 245,552
Equity attributable to owners PA/NSIE RS DNy - o
of the Company 970,913 1,029,551
Non-controlling interests of Truly HZ EFEM 2 e = 298,749 316,794
Revenue Wz 1,627,957 307,216*
Expenses X 1,607,400 242,255%
Profit for the period 7 HA R e 20,557 64,9671*
* They represented the amounts for the period from the date * HEEaWBEENENzERE S =—
of acquisition of Truly HZ to 31 December 2021. FHZA=+—HILHANESE -
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. XAFIEEMBLATEH &)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEERFEZERERZHZENE
have material non-controlling interests NEIZFHE (E)
(Continued)
Truly HZ and its subsidiaries (Continued) BREMNEEMBAR (&)
2022 2021
—E-= == 4=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Profit attributable to owners RRBEE AERRT
of the Company 15,720 49,676*
Profit attributable to the non-controlling {Z T FE 452 A% 2 25 R 1 325 |
interests of Truly HZ 4,837 15,285%
Profit for the year/period RNFE /AN EA R F) 20,557 64,961*
Other comprehensive income attributable  ZRA T #EHB A JE(L EAth
to owners of the Company 2EE 74,361 1,309*
Other comprehensive income attributable = FI| 21 E12 B 25 FE 4G
to the non-controlling interests Hip 2w
of Truly HZ 22,881 403*
Other comprehensive income REE REAREE A 2w IES
for the year/period 97,242 1,712*
Total comprehensive income attributable AN F#EA AEIE R E
to owners of the Company W e 42 5R 90,081 50,985*
Total comprehensive income attributable {5 FI M FEFE AR AEE S (Y
to the non-controlling interests A= BE
of Truly HZ 27,718 15,688*
Total comprehensive income AEE/ AHME2EREEEE
for the year/period 117,799 66,673*
Net cash inflow from operating activities & & ¥ R AJEEE 717,649 35,863*
Net cash outflow from investing activities & & EENIR & imHIF5E (62,146) (1,809)*
Net cash outflow from financing activities gE& G ENIR & HF5E (682,528) (37,610)*
Net cash outflow REMHEFEE (27,025) (3,556)*
* They represented the amounts for the period from the date * HEEBUWRENENZBRE-T Z—
of acquisition of Truly HZ to 31 December 2021. FHZA=+—HILHEANESE -
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45. XAFIEEMBLATEH &)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEERFEZERERZHZENE
have material non-controlling interests DR ZFHE(E)
(Continued)
EF KBRS and its subsidiaries BERXERH REHE L
2022 2021
—E-= == 4=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Current assets mENEE 5,458,224 9,093,116
Non-current assets FEREEE 5,506,958 4,964,907
Current liabilities mEaE 6,001,838 8,088,413
Non-current liabilities FEREEE 109,402 347,678
Equity attributable to owners RAEIHEE ANEIE#ER
of the Company 4,801,473 5,561,600
Non-controlling interests of ERERD 2 TR =
ERYeERMD 52,469 60,332
Revenue Wz 13,263,847 16,632,315
Expenses B 13,613,261 16,317,201
(Loss) profit for the year REE (EE)HF (349,414) 315,114
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45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 45,
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

FLAFEERBARNEH ()

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEERFEZERERZHZENE
have material non-controlling interests NEIZFHE (E)
(Continued)

ERIFE R and its subsidiaries (Continued) BERHAERMREMB AR (&)

2022 2021
—E-= == 4=
HK$'000

T

HK$°000
FTET

188

(Loss) profit attributable to owners

RABEA NI (ER) S

of the Company (345,545) 277,743
(Loss) profit attributable to the ER e E RN IR =

non-controlling interests of FEML (B548) 5% 7

B ERD (3,869) 37,371
(Loss) profit for the year REEZ (BE) T (349,414) 315,114
Other comprehensive (expenses) AKARHAE AEGEEMEZER

income attributable to owners () Wz

of the Company (257,356) 85,150
Other comprehensive (expenses) BRI BAR D IR 2 PG

income attributable to the Emam (AR ke

non-controlling interests of

BRI ERD (3,995) 8,792
Other comprehensive (expenses) REZHMEME () W=

income for the year (261,351) 93,942
Total comprehensive (expense) AKARHEEAEEZE(FAXR)

income attributable to owners Wi #azEa

of the Company (602,901) 362,893
Total comprehensive (expense) income {=FI|3¢ B I 15 FEIEARAE S

attributable to the non-controlling EiRem () WEkEsa

interests of (E XYL EAL D (7,864) 46,163
Total comprehensive income REEEEWEBRE

for the year (610,765) 409,056
Net cash inflow from operating KEEKIBSRAFE

activities 1,863,922 961,848
Net cash outflow from investing KEEHIRS R F5E

activities (461,370) (5620,461)
Net cash outflow from financing ME TSRS R FE

activities (1,763,590) (409,853)
Net cash (outflow) inflow e (R RAFEE (361,038) 31,5634
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46. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group's borrowings had been secured by the pledge of
the Group’'s assets and the carrying amounts of the
respective assets are as follows:

REHH

AEBEHEREUAEENEEE AR
S AENEEEDT -

2022 2021

—E-= =EE = —4=

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET T

Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMEE 536,959 598,356
Bills receivables at FVTOCI REMEAEWEIAAFEETE

2 EWERE - 68,489

536,959 666,345

Restrictions on assets

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$147,279,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$331,023,000 as at 31st
December, 2022 (2021: lease liabilities of HK$300,161,000
and related right-of-use assets of HK$409,492,000). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes. Furthermore, bills issued by
third parties endorsed with recourse for settlement of
payables for suppliers of the Group is disclosed in note 24.

BERS

o RZEZZF+ZA=+—H " %R
THEBE147,279,000 T - BEAEHES
331,023,000 T (ZE-—%F : HEAE
300,161,000/ 7t = 18 B (£ A # & &
409,492,000 7T) - RIHBAARBENHESE
EPRERERIN - AE WS T E
Ry BEREEEEETSEREERE
Reotoh HEZFBEITEEEEBREN
EEAREEMHERENFIENZBES M
24 %57 o
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47. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 47. BERSMEE
NTREAEER_BE__FR-_T-_—F

The following were the Group's bills receivables as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 that were either discounted to T A=+ HERTREMEBREEIIR
banks on a full recourse basis or endorsed to suppliers for NEEFHEFUNGEEZE SENITEZEW

settlement of trade payables. E o

2022 2021
—E-- —E-—F

—

HK$'000
THAT

HK$°000
FET

BRI RE Z REE (1)

Carrying amount of discounted bills

receivables (note 1) - 68,489
Carrying amount of endorsed bills EEERKEE 2 REE (MEE2)
receivables (note 2) 519,544 -
519,544 68,489
Carrying amount of associated liabilities HEAaEZERE (519,544) (68,489)
Net position FAR = -
Notes: BisE

190

The Group transferred bills receivables to banks by discounting
those receivables on a full recourse basis. As the Group has not
transferred the significant risks and rewards relating to these
receivables, it continues to recognise the full carrying amount of
the receivables and has recognised the cash received on the
transfer as discounted bills (see note 30). These financial assets
were carried at FVTOCI in the Group's consolidated statement of
financial position.

Certain bills receivables were endorsed to suppliers for settlement
of trade payables. As the Group has not transferred the significant
risks and rewards relating to these receivables, it continues to
recognise the full carrying amount of the receivables and the
corresponding trade payables were not derecognised. These
financial assets were carried at FVTOCI in the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022

AEEREMEREEBRREERZHIRITHE
# o ANAREYBEBZFRUTRS k2
BEARREBRREE - SEERERERTIRZ 28
REE - WHREERKZ 2R ER RS
ZHE(RHH30) - ZEeMEENAEEZ
FEMBEIARZN A2 mEE AR FEE
FIBRAETTIIER

ETRERBESETHER  ANGEEES
JERN A - AR B BB B2 EWR
Wz BRER R ER - ARSI OR
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 48. FRTF)|Z MG R K iR
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the MNBEHREEAA RIS AR ZEEE
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: ¥

2022

HK$°000
TET

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FH&T

Non-current Assets FEREBERE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB AR Z®’E 499,033 499,033
Amount due from a subsidiary A ENEIE ] 1,159,233 1,624,025
1,658,266 2,123,058
Current Assets REBEE
Other receivables H b pE U I8 489 443
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEFEEE 5,174 2,378
5,663 2,821
Current Liability REBEE
Other payables H At FET IR 2,088 1,987
Net Current Assets RBEEFE 3,575 834
Net Assets EEFEE 1,661,841 2,123,892
Capital and Reserves ERRFEE
Share capital i 63,222 65,785
Reserves 18 1,598,619 2,058,107
Total Equity A 1,661,841 2,123,892

—=— —

=
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 48. ELFIZMBERARR IR (&)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement of the Company’s reserves ERARNREEE
Capital
Share Special redemption Retained
premium* reserve* reserve profits Total
R0 R 1E * BAlE BEXRBEHE R BEF a%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TEx TAx TAT THBT
At 1 January 2021 RZZE-—F—HF—H 1,395,441 17,410 867 266,182 1,679,900
Profit and other AEERENREM
comprehensive income  2EE
for the year - - - 542,668 542,668
Dividend declared BEERRE - - - (164,461) (164,461)
At 31 December 2021 R-ZE-—F
+ZA=+—-AH 1,395,441 17,410 867 644,389 2,058,107
Profit and other REFEMNREM
comprehensive income  £EME
for the year - - - 53,463 53,463
Share repurchase R (184,878) - - - (184,878)
Dividend declared EEREE - - - (328,073) (328,073)
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-—F
+-A=+-H 1,210,563 17,410 867 369,779 1,598,619
* Under the applicable laws of Cayman Islands, the share premium * BERESHS ZBEREN KRR ZRHEE
of the Company is available for distributions or paying dividends to AR IR AR A AR KA S AR Rl 2 ST R IR ER VR
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum or AR AIRE - R EREEL SRS
Articles of Association and provided that immediately following the RE%E - ARBIEANASEBBREPZFE
distribution or paying dividend the Company is able to pay its debts HfEIE -

as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

# The special reserve of the Company represents the difference # AR R 2 R B T8 R AN 1 B U5 EL P B
between the net book values of the underlying assets of the RNAIZRMNE BZERWEARZBEEER
Company's subsidiaries acquired at the date on which the shares EFERARRRBRTFERBEMEITZ AR
of these companies were acquired by the Company, and the AIRRD EE M A B Z58 o

nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisitions in prior years.
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